UC Berkeley UC Berkeley Previously Published Works

Title

One-loop matching and running with covariant derivative expansion

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/7q69w40v

Journal Journal of High Energy Physics, 2018(1)

ISSN 1126-6708

Authors

Henning, Brian Lu, Xiaochuan Murayama, Hitoshi

Publication Date 2018

DOI 10.1007/jhep01(2018)123

Peer reviewed

Published for SISSA by 🖉 Springer

RECEIVED: July 7, 2017 REVISED: December 22, 2017 ACCEPTED: January 11, 2018 PUBLISHED: January 24, 2018

One-loop matching and running with covariant derivative expansion

Brian Henning,^a Xiaochuan Lu^b and Hitoshi Murayama^{c,d,e,f}

^aDepartment of Physics, Yale University, New Haven, Connecticut 06511, U.S.A.

^bDepartment of Physics, University of California, Davis, California 95616, U.S.A.

^cDepartment of Physics, University of California, Berkeley, California 94720, U.S.A.

- ^d Theoretical Physics Group, Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Berkeley, California 94720, U.S.A.
- ^eKavli Institute for the Physics and Mathematics of the Universe (WPI), Todai Institutes for Advanced Study, University of Tokyo, Kashiwa 277-8583, Japan
- ^f Center for Japanese Studies, University of California, Berkeley, CA 94720, U.S.A.

E-mail: brian.henning@yale.edu, xclu@ucdavis.edu, hitoshi@berkeley.edu

ABSTRACT: We develop tools for performing effective field theory (EFT) calculations in a manifestly gauge-covariant fashion. We clarify how functional methods account for oneloop diagrams resulting from the exchange of both heavy and light fields, as some confusion has recently arisen in the literature. To efficiently evaluate functional traces containing these "mixed" one-loop terms, we develop a new covariant derivative expansion (CDE) technique that is capable of evaluating a much wider class of traces than previous methods. The technique is detailed in an appendix, so that it can be read independently from the rest of this work. We review the well-known matching procedure to one-loop order with functional methods. What we add to this story is showing how to isolate one-loop terms coming from diagrams involving only heavy propagators from diagrams with mixed heavy and light propagators. This is done using a non-local effective action, which physically connects to the notion of "integrating out" heavy fields. Lastly, we show how to use a CDE to do running analyses in EFTs, i.e. to obtain the anomalous dimension matrix. We demonstrate the methodologies by several explicit example calculations.

KEYWORDS: Effective Field Theories, Gauge Symmetry, Renormalization Group

ARXIV EPRINT: 1604.01019



Contents

1	Introduction	1	
	1.1 Review of matching to one-loop order	1	
	1.2 Nature of $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$	3	
	1.3 Outline and summary of results	6	
2	Matching by functional methods	8	
	2.1 Basic review on functional methods	8	
	2.1.1 Equivalence between functional methods and Feynman diagram	ns 8	
	2.1.2 Functional methods to one-loop order	9	
	2.1.3 Utility of functional methods compared to Feynman diagrams	10	
	2.2 What is a "covariant derivative expansion"?	12	
	2.2.1 Universal results for $\log \det[D^2 + m^2 + U(x)]$	13	
	2.3 "Traditional" matching with functional methods	15	
3	Direct computation of $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$ and a new CDE technique	17	
	3.1 General formalism for a direct computation of $c_{i \text{ mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$	17	
	3.1.1 Integrating out the heavy field Φ	17	
	3.1.2 Resolved matching results	18	
	3.1.3 Trace evaluation	21	
	3.2 Demonstrating example: a toy scalar model	22	
	3.3 Example: the Standard Model with a heavy electroweak triplet scalar	24	
4	Full example for matching: Yukawa theory with a heavy scalar	29	
	4.1 Computing the 1LPI effective actions	29	
	4.1.1 Tree-level	29	
	4.1.2 One-loop in the UV theory	30	
	4.1.3 One-loop in the EFT	34	
	4.2 Matching (1)	36	
	4.3 Directly computing $c_{S,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$	36	
5	RG running by functional methods	37	
	5.1 One-loop running with functional methods	38	
	5.2 Toy scalar model	39	
	5.3 Yukawa model	40	
	5.4 Electroweak triplet scalar model	42	
6	Summary of results		
\mathbf{A}	Functional trace evaluation with a CDE	44	
	A.1 Variations on a theme	47	
	A.2 Example trace evaluations	48	
	A.2.1 Trace evaluation example 1: T	48	

	A.2.2	Trace evaluation example 2: T_0	49
	A.2.3	Trace evaluation example 3: T_1	50
в	Derivation	a of the resolved functional determinant, eq. (3.2)	51
С	Local vs.	non-local difference and the Wilsonian effective action	52
D	Details ab	out the triplet scalar model	55

1 Introduction

The purpose of this paper primarily concerns the process of matching an ultraviolet (UV) theory onto an effective field theory (EFT). We review the proper matching procedure and present techniques for computing the Wilson coefficients up to one-loop level in a gauge-covariant fashion with functional methods, i.e. using a covariant derivative expansion (CDE). As a byproduct, we also show how to use CDE to do running analyses in an EFT, namely to compute the anomalous dimension matrix of the Wilson coefficients.

1.1 Review of matching to one-loop order

Consider a theory, which we will call the UV theory, containing a heavy field Φ of mass M, and light fields denoted collectively by ϕ . At low-energy scales, E < M, the only physically accessible degrees of freedom are those of the light fields ϕ . So instead of working with the UV theory of both Φ and ϕ , one can equivalently work with an EFT containing only ϕ by averaging over the short-distance physics.

Using Lagrangian language, one can split the UV Lagrangian into two parts: \mathcal{L}_{ϕ} that consists of only the light fields ϕ , and \mathcal{L}_{Φ} that involves the heavy field Φ :

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm UV}\left(\phi,\Phi\right) = \mathcal{L}_{\phi}\left(\phi\right) + \mathcal{L}_{\Phi}\left(\phi,\Phi\right). \tag{1.1}$$

At low energies, the EFT of ϕ is obtained essentially by replacing \mathcal{L}_{Φ} by a set of local effective operators $\mathcal{O}_i(\phi)$,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{EFT}}(\phi) = \mathcal{L}_{\phi}(\phi) + \sum_{i} c_{i}(\mu) \mathcal{O}_{i}(\phi), \qquad (1.2)$$

with the Wilson coefficients $c_i(\mu)$ to be determined. The EFT is required to reproduce the physics predictions of the UV theory at low energy scales E < M. As physical observables are built from correlation functions, this is achieved by requiring that the one-light-particle irreducible (1LPI) diagrams computed from \mathcal{L}_{EFT} and those computed from \mathcal{L}_{UV} agree at the renormalization group (RG) scale $\mu = M$. Equivalently, in the functional approach we require that the 1LPI effective action $\Gamma_{\text{L}}[\phi]$ —the generating functional for 1LPI correlation functions — of each theory coincide at $\mu = M$. This is the well-known "matching" criterion, e.g. [1, 2]. For weakly coupled theories, the matching of 1LPI diagrams between the EFT and the UV theory is done order-by-order in perturbation theory. For many practical applications, it is sufficient to perform the matching up to one-loop order. Restricting our attention to this case, the Wilson coefficients at $\mu = M$ can in general be decomposed into three parts:

$$c_i(M) = c_i^{(0)}(M) + c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M) + c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M).$$
(1.3)

Here the superscript denotes the loop order of the corresponding 1LPI diagrams in the UV theory. Specifically, $c_i^{(0)}(M)$ is tree-level, while $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}$ and $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$ are one-loop size. In general there are two types of one-loop 1LPI diagrams in the UV theory: (1) those with only heavy field as propagators, and (2) those with mixed propagators of both light and heavy fields. $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}$ and $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$ correspond to these two types of contributions, respectively.

Let us summarize the origin of the components in eq. (1.3) and the relative ease in computing them:

 $c_i^{(0)}(M)$. Tree-level terms arise when the UV Lagrangian has a term linear in the heavy field Φ , $\mathcal{L}_{\rm UV} \supset \Phi B(\phi)$, with $B(\phi)$ built from light fields only. $c_i^{(0)}(M)$ is simply obtained by first solving the equation of motion of Φ ,

$$\frac{\delta S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi,\Phi\right]}{\delta\Phi}\Big|_{\Phi_c[\phi]} = 0, \tag{1.4}$$

where $S_{\rm UV} = \int d^4x \mathcal{L}_{\rm UV}$ is the action of the UV theory, and then inserting the solution $\Phi = \Phi_c [\phi]$ back into the UV Lagrangian in eq. (1.1)

$$\sum_{i} c_{i}^{(0)}(M) \mathcal{O}_{i}(\phi) = \mathcal{L}_{\Phi}(\phi, \Phi_{c}[\phi]).$$
(1.5)

 $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M)$. One-loop contributions from 1LPI diagrams with only heavy fields as the propagators can always be computed by evaluating a functional determinant of the elliptic operator $D^2 + M^2 + U(x)$

$$\int d^4x \sum_i c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M) \mathcal{O}_i(\phi) \propto \log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\text{UV}}}{\delta \Phi^2}\right) \propto \log \det \left[D^2 + M^2 + U(x)\right],$$
(1.6)

where D_{μ} is the covariant derivative and U(x) depends only on the light fields ϕ . In [3], building on techniques introduced in [4, 5], we showed how to evaluate such functional determinants in a manifestly gauge-covariant fashion, termed the covariant derivative expansion (CDE). Because of the simplicity of expressions gained through using the CDE, it was clear that universal results could be obtained in evaluating the functional determinant. The universal results of [3], and their generalization in [6], tremendously ease the computation of $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M)$. These results have been successfully employed for a variety of matching analyses in the Standard Model (SM) EFT, e.g. [3, 6–11]. $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$. One-loop contributions from 1LPI diagrams with mixed heavy and light propagators only arise when there is a non-zero tree-level piece, i.e. if a certain $c_j^{(0)}(M) \neq 0$. The calculation of these terms is generically fairly involved. A good portion of the present work is devoted to showing how to do this calculation in a relatively easier way, using functionals and evaluating them in a manifestly gauge-covariant fashion.

A recent work [12] raised the importance of the mixed heavy-light contribution to matching analyses. The authors of [12] pointed out that the functional determinant in eq. (1.6) does not account for $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$, and opted to proceed with traditional diagramatic techniques. In this paper, we show how to use functional methods to compute $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$. The functional traces encountered in this calculation are generally not of the form in eq. (1.6), so the CDE results of [3–6] do not immediately apply. However, we present a new way of performing a covariant derivative expansion to evaluate a wide class of functional traces, which provides a way to use a CDE to directly extract $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$. Although we currently have no universal formula for $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$ analogous to the formulas for $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M)$ of [3, 6], the method we present is as systematic as Feynman diagram calculations, with the additional advantage of being manifestly gauge-covariant.

Note added. During the preparation of this manuscript the work [13] appeared, which partially addresses the use of functional methods in matching analyses. While there is some conceptual overlap in [13] with the present work, the main purposes and computational techniques are quite different.

Some time lapsed between our posting a preprint to the arXiv and submitting this manuscript for peer review. In this interim period, several additional works have appeared that address the one-loop, mixed heavy-light contribution [14–17]. These works offer additional techniques to compute this term, as well as provide further insight into its nature. An excellent review of covariant matching techniques, as well as other EFT matters, can be found in [18].

1.2 Nature of $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$

Even with the new CDE technique, the computation of $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$ is generically fairly involved. Therefore, before diving into its calculation steps, we briefly review the physical meaning of this term, as well as discuss its relative size within the context of present and future experimental resolution. In particular, we highlight when this term dominates.

Physical meaning. By definition, $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$ is a one-loop sized piece of the renormalized coupling $c_i(M)$. This immediately implies that it generically would not have a physical meaning on its own, because it is not renormalization scheme independent — choosing a renormalization scheme defines the one-loop finite piece of the counterterm $\delta c_i(M)$, and consequently affects $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$. The only exception to this is when a symmetry protects $c_i(M)$ (or some combination of the $c_i(M)$) from getting renormalized. Barring this, in generic situations this scheme dependence implies that $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$ is not physical.¹

To see this concretely, let us suppose that we map² our Wilson coefficients, up to one-loop order, onto a low energy physical observable T_i that directly corresponds to the effective operator \mathcal{O}_i . The generic expression of T_i is

$$T_{i} = c_{i}(v) + \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{2}} \sum_{j} \lambda_{ij} c_{j}(v), \qquad (1.7)$$

where $c_i(v)$ is the Wilson coefficient c_i at the weak scale $\mu = v$ (see eq. (1.8) below for its constituents), and the second piece is the one-loop order calculation of T_i in terms of $c_i(v)$ ("mapping"), with λ_{ij} denoting certain functions of the low energy couplings contained in $\mathcal{L}_{\phi}(\phi)$. If $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M) \neq 0$, this implies a certain $c_j^{(0)}(M) \neq 0$ (with either j = i or $j \neq i$). If this happens, however, the corresponding λ_{ij} in eq. (1.7) must also be nonzero; namely, the second piece in eq. (1.7) has a one-to-one correspondence with the contributions to $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M) \neq 0$. Now it is easy to see that a change in renormalization scheme will result in a change of both $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M) \neq 0$ and the one-loop mapping term in a consistent way such that T_i is unchanged.

We see that if one does not intend to perform one-loop level mapping — i.e. one chooses to omit the second piece in eq. (1.7)—then there is no need to compute (actually, it is not consistent to include) the piece $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$ in $c_i(v)$.³ Nevertheless, as experimental sensitivity increases, next-to-leading order mapping analyses may be important (e.g. [19–28]), which makes it necessary to include the corresponding piece $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$ in the matching step.⁴ In this paper, we will show how to compute this piece with a CDE technique.

Leading and sub-leading contributions. Let us now discuss how the various pieces of the Wilson coefficients at the matching scale feed into low-energy observables. Accounting for RG evolution, we identify general scenarios where any one of the terms in eq. (1.3) gives the dominant contribution. Consider the Wilson coefficients $c_i(\mu)$ at a scale $\mu < M$ where physical observations are made. This requires RG evolving the Wilson coefficients from Mto μ using the anomalous dimension matrix γ_{ij} , which is a function of marginal couplings

¹Renormalization scheme dependence under dimensional regularization is just one manifestation of its unphysicalness. If we regulate the effective action with a hard cut off, this term will be absent, i.e. it vanishes — see footnote 11 and appendix C for further elaboration.

²We adopt the language of [3] where "mapping" refers to determining physical observables as functions of the EFT parameters.

³One may wonder if the scheme dependence issue also exists for the other one-loop piece $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}$. The answer is yes. Generically, $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}$ is not scheme independent either. But in a large class of models without tree-level Wilson coefficients, i.e. all $c_i^{(0)} = 0$, $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}$ is scheme independent since it is the leading order piece, and the counterterm δc_i starts from two-loop order.

⁴To be very explicit, we work under the reasonable assumption that next-to-leading order mapping analyses are done in the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ scheme. In order to consistently use such results, the matching process needs to use the same scheme. Hence, we adopt $\overline{\text{MS}}$ scheme throughout this work.

in $\mathcal{L}_{\phi}(\phi)$ (e.g. gauge, Yukawa, and the Higgs quartic couplings in the case of the SM):

$$c_{i}(\mu) = c_{i}(M) + \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{2}} \sum_{j} \gamma_{ij} c_{j}(M) \log \frac{\mu}{M}$$

= $c_{i}^{(0)}(M) + c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M) + c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M) + \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{2}} \sum_{j} \gamma_{ij} c_{j}^{(0)}(M) \log \frac{\mu}{M}.$ (1.8)

Asking which term dominates, there are four general cases to consider:

- 1. There are no tree-level effects, i.e. all $c_i^{(0)}(M) = 0$. In this case, $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$ vanishes. The only term to survive in eq. (1.8) is $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M)$, which is very straightforward to compute through eq. (1.6) and the universal results of evaluating the elliptic operator presented in [3, 6].
- 2. There is a certain tree-level effect $c_j^{(0)}(M) \neq 0$ that results in a non-vanishing $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$, but the tree-level piece of $c_i(M)$ also exists, i.e. $c_i^{(0)}(M) \neq 0$. In this case, obviously the dominant contribution to eq. (1.8) is $c_i^{(0)}(M)$, which can be easily computed through eq. (1.5).
- 3. A certain tree-level effect $c_j^{(0)}(M) \neq 0$ yields a non-vanishing $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$ while the tree-level piece $c_i^{(0)}(M) = 0$, but the matching scale is much higher than the observation scale, i.e. $M \gg \mu$. In this case, the RG running term dominates eq. (1.8). As the anomalous dimension matrix γ_{ij} is inherent to the EFT and has nothing to do with the UV theory we start with, it can be computed separately once and for all and applied to any UV matching/running analysis. For example, in the case of the SM EFT, γ_{ij} for dimension-six operators is known [29–35]. Once γ_{ij} is given, the RG running term in eq. (1.8) is straightforward to compute.
- 4. A certain tree-level effect $c_j^{(0)}(M) \neq 0$ yields a non-vanishing $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$, the tree-level piece $c_i^{(0)}(M) = 0$, and the matching scale is not much higher than the observation scale. In this case, $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$ could dominate eq. (1.8).

The above scenarios only address the leading contribution; of course, an experiment may have sensitivity to multiple or all of the terms in eq. (1.8). Moreover, next order terms may not be all that subdominant — notice, especially, the diffence between scenarios 3 and 4 is only a logarithmic running factor. In the context of the SM, present and near future precision Higgs and electroweak measurements may achieve sensitivity at the per mille level — enough to probe one-loop effects. Existing measurements currently constrain deviations from SM processes to be relatively small; in other words, the $c_i(\mu = v)$ in the SM EFT do not lead to $\mathcal{O}(1)$ deviations. Should precision experiments find evidence that some $c_i(v)$ is non-zero due to new physics then, broadly speaking, it will be difficult — but by no means impossible — to resolve subleading contributions. It is therefore important to go beyond estimation and develop efficient methods to both isolate and explicitly compute all contributions — a goal taken up as the primary subject of this paper.

1.3 Outline and summary of results

For whatever reason, functional methods seem less commonly used in the EFT community in comparison to diagrammatic calculations. Moreover, while techniques for functional evaluation exist in the literature, they (unfortunately) are not standard material. The basic hurdle is sort of obvious: many textbooks explain how to evaluate functionals with constant field configurations (usually to obtain the Coleman-Weinberg effective potential), but do not cover the case of arbitrary field configurations. This latter situation is necessary if one wishes to compute, for example, Wilson coefficients of operators involving derivatives.

With this in mind, we provide many computational details in the spirit of pedagogy. While we hope this approach is helpful, it has contributed to the considerable length of this paper. Because of this length, here we provide an extended outline of the main ideas and results of this paper. We note that a "short path" through this paper, which hits the main and new ideas, is to read this introduction, sections 2.3, 3.1, and 5.1, and appendix A.

As evaluation of functionals — in particular, functional determinants — pervades this work, let us first address this topic. A major contribution of the present work is showing how to evaluate a wide class of functional traces in a manifestly gauge-covariant fashion with a covariant derivative expansion. There seems to be some confusion in the literature as to what exactly is meant by a CDE, which we try to clear up in section 2.2. Essentially, a "covariant derivative expansion" is exactly what the name implies: if we can expand a function of the covariant derivative in a power series of D without breaking D_{μ} into its individual components, then this is a CDE by definition. In [4], a specific transformation was introduced that enabled functional determinants of the elliptic operator $D^2 + m^2 + U(x)$ to be evaluated in a covariant derivative expansion. The two steps of the transformation plus the expansion has gained the single name "the CDE" in the literature. In many cases, the transformation introduced in [4] is not needed to develop a CDE. To avoid confusion, we will refer to covariant derivative expansions with the article "a" and not "the".

The ability to use a covariant derivative expansion to evaluate functionals tremendously improves calculations. In appendix A we develop a method to evaluate arbitrary functional traces with a CDE. We separate this result into an appendix so that it stands alone and can be read separately from the rest of this work. The manipulations and techniques explained in this appendix are used over and over throughout this paper, and we encourage the interested reader to study it carefully.

Let us move onto the physics ideas contained in this work concerning EFT matching and running analyses. Section 2 begins with a basic review of functional methods. The material here is standard, but we include it to set the tone as well as clarify the equivalence between functional methods and Feynman diagrams, as some spurious claims have recently arisen in the literature.

We next move onto matching, the practical conclusion of which, e.g. [1, 2], is that the one-light-particle-irreducible (1LPI) effective actions, $\Gamma_{\rm L}[\phi]$, of the UV theory and the EFT

are equated at the matching scale.⁵ In equations the matching condition reads,

$$\Gamma_{\mathrm{L,UV}}[\phi](\lambda,\mu=M) - \Gamma_{\mathrm{L,EFT}}[\phi](c,\mu=M) = 0, \qquad (1.9)$$

where λ and c represent parameters of the UV theory and EFT, respectively, with the parameters of the EFT adjusted to solve the above equation. This equation is solved order-by-order in perturbation theory, i.e. by first equating the tree-level components, $\Gamma_{L,UV}^{(0)} = \Gamma_{L,EFT}^{(0)}$, then the one-loop-level terms, $\Gamma_{L,UV}^{(1)} = \Gamma_{L,EFT}^{(1)}$, etc.

The 1LPI correlation functions may be computed either with Feynman diagrams or with functional methods; in this work, we take the latter approach. The "traditional" solution through one-loop order is detailed in subsection 2.3. Here, "traditional" refers to the concept of first computing $\Gamma_{L,UV}$ and $\Gamma_{L,EFT}$ separately and then equating them as in eq. (1.9); this terminology is adopted as it is conceptually the most straightforward procedure for matching and is precisely how it is done when matching with Feynman diagrams.

However, the traditional procedure in the functional approach has the conceptual disadvantage that the origin of $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M)$ and $c_{i,\text{light}}^{(1)}(M)$ are entangled, see eq. (2.37). Clearly, it would be advantageous if we could isolate these terms individually. This is the task taken up in section 3, with the answer given in eqs. (3.9) and (3.10). The physical idea to arrive at these results is to understand what it means to integrate out Φ from the UV theory using the path integral. To one-loop order this produces a *non-local* effective action $S_{\text{eff}}[\phi] = S_{\text{UV}}[\phi, \Phi_c[\phi]] + \frac{i}{2} \log \det(-\delta^2 S_{\text{UV}}[\phi, \Phi]/\delta \Phi^2|_{\Phi_c[\phi]})$, obtained by evaluating $e^{iS_{\text{eff}}[\phi]} = \int \mathcal{D}\Phi e^{iS_{\text{UV}}[\phi,\Phi]}$ in the saddle-point approximation. If we tried to match this non-local action onto $\Gamma_{\text{L,EFT}}[\phi]$ by expanding $S_{\text{eff}}[\phi]$ in a series of local operators we would get spurious results for the Wilson coefficients: $c_i^{(0)}(M)$ and $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M)$ would be correctly identified but $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$ would be missed. This is not surprising: $S_{\text{eff}}[\phi]$ is *not* the same functional as $\Gamma_{\text{L,UV}}[\phi]$.

The crucial idea derived in section 3 is: we can use the non-local $S_{\text{eff}}[\phi]$ to compute $\Gamma_{\text{L,UV}}[\phi]$. To one-loop order, it is clear that the UV 1LPI effective action contains $S_{\text{eff}}[\phi]$ as well as the one-loop terms built from the tree-level terms in $S_{\text{eff}}[\phi]$:

$$\Gamma_{\rm L,UV}[\phi] = S_{\rm eff}[\phi] + \frac{i}{2}\log\det\left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}[\phi, \Phi_c[\phi]]}{\delta\phi^2}\right).$$
(1.10)

The $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$ "missing" from $S_{\text{eff}}[\phi]$ obviously must originate from the second term in the above equation.

Using the non-local action to isolate $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$ in the matching not only provides a better conceptual understanding, but also a route to an improved method for directly computing $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$. In particular, it provides a clear way to perform the matching step in eq. (1.9) before computing both functionals individually. This computational technique is explained in the rest of section 3. We highlight this technique by example in two different theories: the first is a simple toy theory of two scalars, the second is the more phenomenologically relevant (and more complicated) case of a heavy electroweak triplet scalar added to the SM.

⁵As a reminder, the 1LPI effective action diagrammatically consists of diagrams with only light fields as external legs that are one-particle-irreducible with respect to cutting *light* field propagators. We use the subscript L to distinguish the 1LPI effective action $\Gamma_{\rm L}$ from the 1PI effective action Γ .

In section 4 we demonstrate all aspects of matching in a toy Yukawa model with a heavy scalar. Specifically, we obtain the one-loop Wilson coefficients using both the "traditional" procedure of section 2.3 as well as the "direct" procedure of section 3.

Section 5 concerns the process of renormalization group running in the EFT. We show how functional methods easily allow us to derive the RG equation for the Wilson coefficients. Since the relevant functional can be evaluated with a CDE, this provides an improved computational technique for obtaining the anomalous dimension matrix of an EFT.

We conclude in section 6. Some detailed computations are relegated to appendices.

2 Matching by functional methods

The purpose of this section is to explain how to perform a matching analysis using functional methods, with an emphasis on computing the piece $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$. For this purpose, several preparations are needed. We first review some basics about functional methods in section 2.1, to unambigously clarify that functional methods and Feynman diagrams are equivalent. We then discuss in section 2.2 what the essence of a "covariant derivative expansion" is and what role it plays in evaluating functionals. With these preparations, we explain in section 2.3 how to compute $c_i^{(0)}(M)$, $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M)$, and $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$ using functional methods. The preparation sections 2.1 and 2.2 are basic reviews of the relevant subjects — readers familiar with them may wish to skip to section 2.3.

2.1 Basic review on functional methods

2.1.1 Equivalence between functional methods and Feynman diagrams

Feynman diagrams are a widely used technique in perturbative calculations of quantum field theory (QFT). The physical quantities the diagrams calculate for us, such as cross sections, decay rates, etc., can essentially be attributed to the calculation of the quantum correlation functions $\langle \phi(x_1) \cdots \phi(x_n) \rangle$ (and its LSZ reduction, i.e. amplitudes). As is well known, Feynman diagram techniques originate from the functional integral formalism (a.k.a. path integral formalism) of the correlation functions,

$$\langle \phi(x_1) \cdots \phi(x_n) \rangle = \frac{\int \mathcal{D}\phi e^{iS[\phi]} \phi(x_1) \cdots \phi(x_n)}{\int \mathcal{D}\phi e^{iS[\phi]}}.$$
(2.1)

Therefore, one expects that there exists a functional method that is completely equivalent to diagrammatic techniques. Such a functional method is encoded in the well known "one-particle-irreducible (1PI) effective action", $\Gamma[\phi]$, which is a generating functional of all 1PI correlation functions:⁶

$$\langle \phi(x_1) \cdots \phi(x_n) \rangle_{1\text{PI}} = i \frac{\delta^n \Gamma[\phi]}{\delta \phi(x_1) \cdots \delta \phi(x_n)}.$$
 (2.3)

$$\left\langle \phi\left(x_{1}\right)\phi\left(x_{2}\right)\right\rangle_{1\mathrm{PI}}^{\mathrm{loop}}=i\frac{\delta^{2}\Gamma^{\mathrm{loop}}\left[\phi\right]}{\delta\phi\left(x_{1}\right)\delta\phi\left(x_{2}\right)}.$$
(2.2)

⁶There is a small caveat of this formula at n = 2, where instead of generating the 1PI correlation function, the right hand side gives the inverse of the full two-point correlation function. This is due to the special role that the tree-level kinetic term plays — there is no 1PI two-point function for the tree-level kinetic term. Apart from the tree-level, eq. (2.3) holds for n = 2 as well, namely that

Since the full correlation function $\langle \phi(x_1) \cdots \phi(x_n) \rangle$ is built from 1PI correlation functions $\langle \phi(x_1) \cdots \phi(x_n) \rangle_{1\text{PI}}$, we see that any quantity calculated with Feynman diagrams is equivalently obtained through computing $\Gamma[\phi]$ and its functional derivatives. Therefore, diagrammatic methods and functional methods are just two sides of the same coin; the only matter is which one is simpler to use.

2.1.2 Functional methods to one-loop order

Computing the 1PI generating functional $\Gamma[\phi]$ is generically not an easy task. Fortunately, however, it is simple enough up to one-loop order. For a weakly interacting QFT characterized by the Lagrangian

$$S[\phi] = \int d^4 x \mathcal{L}(\phi), \qquad (2.4)$$

the 1PI effective action to one-loop order is in general given by⁷

$$\Gamma[\phi] = S[\phi] + \frac{i}{2}\log\det\left(-\frac{\delta^2 S[\phi]}{\delta\phi^2}\right).$$
(2.5)

Here we have used ϕ to collectively denote all the fields in the given QFT. We see that the tree-level piece $\Gamma^{(0)}[\phi]$ is trivially just the action of the theory S, while the one-loop piece $\Gamma^{(1)}[\phi]$ is obtained by evaluating a single functional determinant. For simplicity of the expression we have put i/2 as the pre-factor of the functional determinant term above; however, it is understood that this pre-factor needs to be tailored for each individual field in ϕ , according to its statistics.

In order to demonstrate our argument in section 2.1.1 concretely, as well as to gain some experience on the typical procedure of using functional methods, let us work out an explicit example of using eq. (2.5) to compute a physical quantity. To demonstrate in the simplest context, we consider the standard ϕ^4 theory,

$$\mathcal{L}(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}\phi \left(-\partial^2 - m^2\right)\phi - \frac{1}{4!}\lambda\phi^4, \qquad (2.6)$$

and compute the physical pole mass m_p^2 in terms of the renormalized mass parameter m^2 and λ defined in $\overline{\rm MS}$ scheme.

At tree-level, the pole mass m_p^2 is just the renormalized mass parameter $m_p^2 = m^2$. We are interested in the one-loop order correction to this. This information is encoded in the one-loop two-point 1PI correlation function $\langle \phi(x_1) \phi(x_2) \rangle_{1\rm PI}^{1-\rm loop}$. In a Feynman diagram calculation, this means we should look for all one-loop two-point 1PI diagrams (there is only one for this simple case). In the functional approach, this corresponds to extracting only the ϕ^2 piece in $\Gamma^{(1)}[\phi]$, as implied by eq. (2.3) (see also the discussion around eq. (2.2)).

⁷In computing the 1PI effective action there is an intermediate step where external sources J_{ϕ} are linearly coupled to the fields. The path integral is then a functional of the sources, $Z[J_{\phi}] = e^{iE[J_{\phi}]} = \int D\phi e^{i\int \mathcal{L}[\phi]+J_{\phi}\phi}$. $\Gamma[\phi]$ is then obtained as a Legendre transform of $E[J_{\phi}]$. To one-loop order, the end result $\Gamma^{(1)}[\phi] \propto \log \det[-\delta^2 S/\delta\phi^2]$ is simple enough because there is no explicit dependence on $J_{\phi}[\phi]$. At higher loop-order, this is no longer true and more care is needed. See, for example, [36].

To compute $\Gamma^{(1)}[\phi]$, we first take the second functional derivative of the action $S[\phi]$:

$$-\frac{\delta^2 S\left[\phi\right]}{\delta\phi^2} = \partial^2 + m^2 + \frac{1}{2}\lambda\phi^2.$$
(2.7)

Then according to eq. (2.5), we have

$$\Gamma^{(1)}\left[\phi\right] = \frac{i}{2}\log\det\left(\partial^2 + m^2 + \frac{1}{2}\lambda\phi^2\right) = \frac{i}{2}\operatorname{Tr}\log\left(\partial^2 + m^2 + \frac{1}{2}\lambda\phi^2\right)$$
$$\supset \frac{i}{2}\operatorname{Tr}\log\left(1 - \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2}\frac{1}{2}\lambda\phi^2\right) \supset \frac{i}{2}\operatorname{Tr}\left(-\frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2}\frac{1}{2}\lambda\phi^2\right). \tag{2.8}$$

In the second line above, we have expanded the logarithm and kept only the ϕ^2 piece. The last step is to evaluate this functional trace:

$$\Gamma^{(1)}[\phi] = -\frac{i\lambda}{4} \int d^4x \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \langle k | \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2} | x \rangle \langle x | \phi^2 | k \rangle$$

= $-\frac{i\lambda}{4} \int d^4x \, \phi^2(x) \int \frac{d^4k}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{k^2 - m^2}$
= $\int d^4x \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{\lambda}{4} m^2 \left(\log \frac{\mu^2}{m^2} + 1 \right) \phi^2.$ (2.9)

The first line of the above is just the definition of the functional trace, with a further insertion of unity, $1 = \int d^4x |x\rangle \langle x|$. Here $|k\rangle$ denotes the eigenstate of the derivative operator ∂ in the functional space, i.e. $\langle k| i \partial_{\mu} = k_{\mu} \langle k|$, while $|x\rangle$ denotes the eigenstate of local operators, e.g. $\langle x| \phi^2 = \phi^2(x) \langle x|$. They have the inner product $\langle x|k\rangle = e^{-ikx}$. We have made use of these to get the second line. The third line of eq. (2.9) is obtained by evaluating the k-integral (the "loop" integral) in $\overline{\text{MS}}$ scheme.

Now using eq. (2.3), we take functional derivative of $\Gamma^{(1)}[\phi]$ to get the two-point 1PI function $-i\Sigma(p^2)$:

$$-i\Sigma(p^{2}) = \int d^{4}x e^{ip(x_{1}-x_{2})} i \frac{\delta^{2}\Gamma^{(1)}[\phi]}{\delta\phi(x_{1})\,\delta\phi(x_{2})} = \frac{i}{(4\pi)^{2}} \frac{\lambda}{2} m^{2} \left(\log\frac{\mu^{2}}{m^{2}}+1\right).$$
(2.10)

This is the exact same result as one would get by Feynman diagram calculation. The pole mass follows from $\Sigma(p^2)$ as

$$m_p^2 = m^2 + \Sigma \left(p^2 = m^2 \right) = m^2 - \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{\lambda}{2} m^2 \left(\log \frac{\mu^2}{m^2} + 1 \right).$$
(2.11)

2.1.3 Utility of functional methods compared to Feynman diagrams

With the help of the demonstrating example above, let us now make a detailed comparison between functional methods and diagrammatic methods. Overall, we see that the functional procedure is the same as the Feynman diagram calculation. Both start with identifying the relevant pieces for the correlation functions under concern, and then proceed with evaluating these pieces, during which the same loop integral shows up, and hence the same techniques for dealing with it (Feynman parameters, dimensional regularization, \overline{MS} scheme, *etc.*) get utilized. This is not surprising at all: since Feynman diagrams originate from the functional formalism, they are essentially just a diagrammatic representation of the functional method. However, despite computing the same quantities, the two differ in appearance, which results in a few advantages in using functional methods:

• To compute a specific correlation function with Feynman diagrams, one needs to manually enumerate all diagrams interfering with each other, i.e. having the same external legs but different internal structures. This enumeration can be exhausting if one deals with a theory of complicated interactions. What makes things worse is that these interfering diagrams sometimes have tricky minus signs relative to each other, e.g. when there are identical external fermion legs. So it is easy to make a mistake in this step by either missing a diagram or messing up the interference sign.

On the other hand, in the functional approach this enumeration step corresponds to expanding the logarithm of the functional determinant (e.g. the second line of eq. (2.8)) and collecting the same terms (ϕ^2 terms in our demonstrating example). In a theory with complicated interactions, the functional derivative matrix is big, so expanding the logarithm is also tedious. But the point is a Taylor expansion is more systematic and mindless compared with a diagram enumeration. In addition, the correct interference sign will come out of the Taylor expansion automatically.

- In the diagrammatic approach, once the diagrams are enumerated, one composes various Feynman rules to obtain a "diagram expression". These include the rules on vertices, propagators, external legs, loop momentum integrals, symmetry factors, and so on. These rules come from breaking down the Taylor expanded functional expression (eq. (2.1)) into components, such that we can have a diagrammatic representation of the calculation. We then compose these components back together to get the diagram expression. With functional methods, this composition step is avoided. The "diagram expression" comes out as a whole from the definition of the functional trace, e.g. see the second line of eq. (2.9). Therefore, with functional methods, one need not remember or figure out any Feynman rules from a given Lagrangian.
- In Feynman diagram calculations, different correlation functions are computed by different sets of diagrams separately. On the other hand, Γ [φ] is a generating functional for all 1PI correlation functions. Thus, functional methods provides us with a framework for dealing with different correlation functions together. This is especially important for gauge theories. Consider the SM as an example, where the six different correlation functions, (H^{†2}H²), (WH^{†2}H²), (W²H^{†2}H²), (BH^{†2}H²), (B²H^{†2}H²), and (WBH^{†2}H²) all originate from the gauge-invariant effective operator O_{HD} = |H[†]DH|². This situation might be easily recognized in the functional expression of Γ [φ], but would be very hard to see through individual sets of Feynman diagrams.

Let us be clear that we believe Feynman diagrams to be incredibly useful, especially for conceptual understanding. Moreover, when the desired correlation function is simple enough, Feynman diagrams frequently provide a quicker route to the answer. However, when the underlying theory is complicated or one is interested in many correlation functions, functional methods can organize and ease the evaluation in a way that is very difficult to see or do with diagrams.

2.2 What is a "covariant derivative expansion"?

Let us explain what is meant by a "covariant derivative expansion", as lately there has been some confusion about this term in the community.

In a gauge theory, the Lagrangian is built up by fields and the covariant derivative $D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - igA_{\mu}$. The essence of a "covariant derivative expansion" is really as straightforward as its name suggests:

For an expression that involves the covariant derivative D_{μ} , if one expands the expression in a power series of D while keeping D_{μ} intact (as opposed to splitting it into the partial derivative ∂_{μ} and the gauge fields A_{μ}), then this expansion is called a "covariant derivative expansion" (CDE).

For example, consider the gauge-promoted propagator $(-D^2 - m^2)^{-1}$. The expansion

$$\frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} = \frac{1}{-m^2} + \frac{D^2}{m^4} + \cdots, \qquad (2.12)$$

qualifies as being called a CDE. Here is a practical example of using eq. (2.12). Suppose that the tree-level 1PI effective action contains a piece

$$\Gamma^{(0)}[H] \supset H^{\dagger} \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} H,$$
 (2.13)

then one can use eq. (2.12) to Taylor expand the above into gauge-invariant local operators:

$$\Gamma^{(0)}[H] \supset H^{\dagger} \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} H = \frac{1}{-m^2} H^{\dagger} H + \frac{1}{m^4} H^{\dagger} D^2 H + \cdots .$$
(2.14)

In contrast to a CDE, sometimes in manipulating an expression, one might first split D_{μ} into $\partial_{\mu} - igA_{\mu}$ and then expand out the two pieces differently. For example, instead of using eq. (2.12), one could also expand the gauge-promoted propagator as

$$\frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} = \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2 + igA^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} + ig\partial_{\mu}A^{\mu} + g^2A^2}$$
$$= \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2} - \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2} \left(igA^{\mu}\partial_{\mu} + ig\partial_{\mu}A^{\mu} + g^2A^2\right) \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2} + \cdots$$
(2.15)

This expansion is clearly not a CDE.

One may wonder why someone would ever use eq. (2.15) instead of eq. (2.12). To answer this question, let us consider calculating the 1PI effective action for a model with two Higgs doublets, H and ϕ :

$$\mathcal{L} \supset \phi^{\dagger} \left(-D^2 - m^2 \right) \phi - \lambda \left(\phi^{\dagger} H \right) \left(H^{\dagger} \phi \right).$$
(2.16)

From eq. (2.5), we know that the one-loop piece of the effective action would contain a piece like following

$$\Gamma^{(1)}[H] \supset i \log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S[H,\phi]}{\delta \phi^{\dagger} \delta \phi} \right) = i \log \det \left(D^2 + m^2 + \lambda H H^{\dagger} \right)$$
$$\supset -i \operatorname{Tr} \left(\frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} \lambda H H^{\dagger} \right).$$
(2.17)

To evaluate this functional trace, one would wish to follow the procedure in eq. (2.9). However, there is a problem $-|k\rangle$ is not an eigenstate of D:

$$\langle k \left| \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} \neq \frac{1}{k^2 - m^2} \langle k \right|.$$
 (2.18)

The most straightforward work around to this problem is to expand the gauge-promoted propagator as in eq. (2.15). This breaks down the functional trace of eq. (2.17) into many pieces, each of which then can be evaluated following the procedure in eq. (2.9). In contrast to a CDE, we refer to this way of evaluating functional traces (or functional determinants) as a "partial derivative expansion" (PDE).

We want to emphasize that the PDE method works totally fine to evaluate any functional determinant. It is even more straightforward to use compared with a CDE. Its only drawback is that it is cumbersome. One can see that many terms are generated once we plug eq. (2.15) into eq. (2.17), each of which would require multiple functional state insertions to evaluate.⁸ On the other hand, since the functional trace we are computing in eq. (2.17) is a gauge singlet, we know in the end we must arrive at a gauge-invariant expression, by recombining the ∂_{μ} 's and the A_{μ} 's. Therefore, this splitting of D_{μ} in a PDE is obviously a detour. A CDE method throughout which D_{μ} is kept intact is obviously preferable.

2.2.1 Universal results for $\log \det[D^2 + m^2 + U(x)]$

While it is always straightforward to apply the PDE method to evaluate any particular functional determinant or trace, it is often not immediately clear whether or not a CDE method is available. In the next section and appendix A we show how a CDE can be done on a wide class of functional traces. However, here we wish to include a few comments on the special (but, frequently encountered) case of the elliptic operator

$$D^2 + m^2 + U(x). (2.19)$$

The functional determinant of this operator can always be evaluated using a CDE method. In [3], we showed how to do so, building on techniques introduced in [4, 5]. Due to the advantage of CDE, we managed to obtain a universal result for $\log \det[D^2 + m^2 + U(x)]$

⁸These terms are actually in one-to-one correspondence with the relevant correlation functions that one would have to compute separately in a Feynman diagram method.

up to dimension-six level, which we reproduce here for later reference:

$$\begin{split} \log \det \left[D^2 + m^2 + U(x) \right] &= \int d^4 x \frac{-i}{(4\pi)^2} \operatorname{tr} \left\{ m^4 \left[-\frac{1}{2} \left(\ln \frac{m^2}{\mu^2} - \frac{3}{2} \right) \right] \\ &+ m^2 \left[- \left(\ln \frac{m^2}{\mu^2} - 1 \right) U \right] \\ &+ m^0 \left[-\frac{1}{2} \ln \frac{m^2}{\mu^2} U^2 - \frac{1}{12} \left(\ln \frac{m^2}{\mu^2} - 1 \right) G'^2_{\mu\nu} \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{m^2} \left[-\frac{1}{6} U^3 + \frac{1}{12} (DU)^2 - \frac{1}{12} U G'^2_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{60} (D^{\mu} G'_{\mu\nu})^2 - \frac{1}{90} G'^{\nu}_{\mu} G'^{\rho}_{\rho} G'^{\mu}_{\rho} \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{m^4} \left[\frac{1}{24} U^4 - \frac{1}{12} U (DU)^2 + \frac{1}{120} (D^2 U)^2 + \frac{1}{60} (D^{\mu} U) (D^{\nu} U) G'_{\mu\nu} \\ &+ \frac{1}{40} U^2 G'^2_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{60} (U G'_{\mu\nu})^2 \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{m^6} \left[-\frac{1}{60} U^5 + \frac{1}{20} U^2 (DU)^2 + \frac{1}{30} (U DU)^2 \right] \\ &+ \frac{1}{m^8} \left[\frac{1}{120} U^6 \right] \bigg\}, \end{split}$$

$$(2.20)$$

where $G'_{\mu\nu} \equiv [D_{\mu}, D_{\nu}]$. The above universal result assumes a single degenerate mass scale m. A generalization to accommodate multiple mass scales is given in [6].

The reason the above is so useful is because of the ubiquity of such determinants in one-loop calculations: the argument of $\log \det(-\delta^2 S/\delta\Phi^2)$ picks out quadratic terms in the action, which are of the form $D^2 + m^2 + U(x)$. Note that this is also true for fermions; this is explained in [3], but we reproduce it here for future reference. While taking the functional derivative with respect to fermionic fields, one typically obtains an operator of the following form

$$-i\not\!\!\!D + m + F(x), \qquad (2.21)$$

where $D \equiv \gamma^{\mu} D_{\mu}$. As the determinant is invariant under flipping the sign of the γ^{μ} matrices, we may write

$$\log \det \left[-i\not D + m + F(x)\right] = \log \det \left[i\not D + m + F(x)\right]$$
$$= \frac{1}{2}\log \det \left\{ \left[-i\not D + m + F(x)\right] \left[i\not D + m + F(x)\right] \right\}. \quad (2.22)$$

The product gives

$$(-i\not\!\!D + m + F)(i\not\!\!D + m + F) = \not\!\!D^2 + m^2 - i\not\!\!D F + \{m, F\} + F^2$$
$$= D^2 + m^2 - \frac{i}{2}\sigma^{\mu\nu}G'_{\mu\nu} - i\not\!\!D F + \{m, F\} + F^2, \quad (2.23)$$

where, by definition, $\not{D}F \equiv [\not{D}, F]$, and we have used $\not{D}^2 = D^2 - \frac{i}{2}\sigma^{\mu\nu}G'_{\mu\nu}$, with $\sigma^{\mu\nu} \equiv \frac{i}{2}[\gamma^{\mu}, \gamma^{\nu}]$ defined as usual. We see that this is now clearly in the form of eq. (2.19) with

2.3 "Traditional" matching with functional methods

Matching a UV theory onto an EFT is done by equating the 1LPI effective actions of the two theories at the matching scale, eq. (1.9). In this subsection, we give explicit formulas for carrying out the general procedure of [1, 2] through one-loop order using functional methods. We refer to this procedure as "traditional" matching, and show how it allows us to compute $c_i^{(0)}(M)$, $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M)$, and $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$. As we will see, the contributions to $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}$ and $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$ are entangled in this approach; in the next section, we develop a new procedure to isolate these components.

Following the notations in section 1.1, we consider a UV theory and an EFT

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm UV}\left(\phi,\Phi\right) = \mathcal{L}_{\phi}\left(\phi\right) + \mathcal{L}_{\Phi}\left(\phi,\Phi\right),\tag{2.25}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{EFT}}(\phi) = \mathcal{L}_{\phi}(\phi) + \sum_{i} c_{i}(\mu) \mathcal{O}_{i}(\phi), \qquad (2.26)$$

with the corresponding actions $S_{\rm UV} = \int d^4x \, \mathcal{L}_{\rm UV}$ and $S_{\rm EFT} = \int d^4x \, \mathcal{L}_{\rm EFT}$. The matching criterion is requiring the 1LPI effective actions computed from the EFT and the UV theory agree at RG scale $\mu = M$:

$$\Gamma_{\mathrm{L,EFT}}\left[\phi\right]\left(\mu=M\right) = \Gamma_{\mathrm{L,UV}}\left[\phi\right]\left(\mu=M\right). \tag{2.27}$$

Since matching can be done order-by-order in perturbation theory, eq. (2.27) implies that

$$\Gamma_{\rm L,EFT}^{(0)} \left[\phi\right] (\mu = M) = \Gamma_{\rm L,UV}^{(0)} \left[\phi\right] (\mu = M), \qquad (2.28a)$$

$$\Gamma_{\rm L,EFT}^{(1)} \left[\phi\right] (\mu = M) = \Gamma_{\rm L,UV}^{(1)} \left[\phi\right] (\mu = M).$$
(2.28b)

Our task then is to solve eqs. (2.28a) and (2.28b).

Let us first look at the UV side. In section 2.1.2, we explained how to compute the 1PI effective action Γ to one-loop order. For the UV theory, this quantity is a functional of both the light fields ϕ and the heavy field Φ : $\Gamma_{\rm UV}[\phi, \Phi]$. According to eq. (2.5), the tree-level piece and the one-loop level piece are respectively

$$\Gamma_{\rm UV}^{(0)}[\phi,\Phi] = S_{\rm UV}[\phi,\Phi], \qquad (2.29)$$

$$\Gamma_{\rm UV}^{(1)}\left[\phi,\Phi\right] = \frac{i}{2}\log\det\left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi,\Phi\right]}{\delta(\phi,\Phi)^2}\right).$$
(2.30)

The only subtlety on the UV side is that the 1LPI effective action $\Gamma_{L,UV}$, which is a functional of the light fields ϕ only, is not the same as the 1PI effective action Γ_{UV} , which depends on both ϕ and Φ . However, it is very easy to get $\Gamma_{L,UV}$ from Γ_{UV} — simply plug in the solution of the equations of motion of $\Phi_c [\phi]$:⁹

$$\Gamma_{\rm L,UV}\left[\phi\right] = \Gamma_{\rm UV}\left[\phi, \Phi_c\left[\phi\right]\right]. \tag{2.31}$$

⁹Here, eq. (2.31) is a bit sloppy, to quickly convey the idea. The exact expression for the one-loop piece, as we will see in the next few equations, is to plug in $\Phi_c [\phi]$ after taking the functional derivative but before evaluating the functional determinant.

We therefore obtain

$$\Gamma_{\mathrm{L,UV}}^{(0)}\left[\phi\right] = S_{\mathrm{UV}}\left[\phi, \Phi_{c}\left[\phi\right]\right] = \int d^{4}x \left[\mathcal{L}_{\phi}\left(\phi\right) + \mathcal{L}_{\Phi}\left(\phi, \Phi_{c}\left[\phi\right]\right)\right], \qquad (2.32a)$$

$$\Gamma_{\mathrm{L,UV}}^{(1)}\left[\phi\right] = \frac{i}{2}\log\det\left(\left.-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\mathrm{UV}}\left[\phi,\Phi\right]}{\delta(\phi,\Phi)^2}\right|_{\Phi=\Phi_c\left[\phi\right]}\right).$$
(2.32b)

Now let us move on to the EFT side. For the EFT, the 1LPI effective action *is* the 1PI effective action, $\Gamma_{\text{L,EFT}}[\phi] = \Gamma_{\text{EFT}}[\phi]$, as there is no heavy field. However, the loop order counting is a bit subtle for the EFT side, as the Lagrangian contains one-loop sized Wilson coefficients,¹⁰ i.e. $S_{\text{EFT}}[\phi] = S_{\text{EFT}}^{(0)}[\phi] + S_{\text{EFT}}^{(1)}[\phi]$, with

$$S_{\rm EFT}^{(0)}[\phi] = \int d^4x \left[\mathcal{L}_{\phi}(\phi) + \sum_{i} c_i^{(0)}(M) \mathcal{O}_i(\phi) \right],$$
(2.33)

$$S_{\rm EFT}^{(1)}[\phi] = \int d^4x \left\{ \sum_{i} \left[c_{i,\rm heavy}^{(1)}(M) + c_{i,\rm mixed}^{(1)}(M) \right] \mathcal{O}_i(\phi) \right\}.$$
 (2.34)

After rearranging pieces according to the UV loop-order counting, we get

$$\Gamma_{\rm L,EFT}^{(0)}[\phi] = S_{\rm EFT}^{(0)}[\phi] = \int d^4x \left[\mathcal{L}_{\phi}(\phi) + \sum_i c_i^{(0)}(M) \mathcal{O}_i(\phi) \right], \qquad (2.35a)$$

$$\Gamma_{\rm L,EFT}^{(1)}[\phi] = S_{\rm EFT}^{(1)}[\phi] + \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm EFT}^{(0)}[\phi]}{\delta \phi^2} \right) \\
= \int d^4x \left\{ \sum_i \left[c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M) + c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M) \right] \mathcal{O}_i(\phi) \right\} + \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm EFT}^{(0)}[\phi]}{\delta \phi^2} \right). \qquad (2.35b)$$

Using eqs. (2.32) and (2.35) in eq. (2.28), we arrive at the matching results:

$$\sum_{i} c_{i}^{(0)}(M) \mathcal{O}_{i}(\phi) = \mathcal{L}_{\Phi}(\phi, \Phi_{c}[\phi]), \qquad (2.36)$$

$$\int d^{4}x \left\{ \sum_{i} \left[c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M) + c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M) \right] \mathcal{O}_{i}(\phi) \right\}$$

$$= \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^{2} S_{\text{UV}}[\phi, \Phi]}{\delta(\phi, \Phi)^{2}} \Big|_{\Phi = \Phi_{c}[\phi]} \right) - \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^{2} S_{\text{EFT}}^{(0)}[\phi]}{\delta\phi^{2}} \right). \qquad (2.37)$$

The tree-level matching result eq. (2.36) is very easy to calculate for any given UV theory. The one-loop result eq. (2.37) looks a bit complicated, but it is actually very intuitive to understand: after determining $c_i^{(0)}(M)$ (and hence $S_{\text{EFT}}^{(0)}[\phi]$) by tree-level matching, if one were to calculate the one-loop 1LPI using $S_{\text{EFT}}^{(0)}[\phi]$, it does not fully agree with the 1LPI calculated using the UV action S_{UV} . The mismatch between the two dictates the need of $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M)$ and $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$.

¹⁰The loop order counting is defined in terms of the couplings of the UV theory.

3 Direct computation of $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$ and a new CDE technique

In the previous section we showed how to perform the matching analysis through oneloop order with functional methods. However, the one-loop matching result in eq. (2.37) is somewhat unsatisfactory because the results for $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M)$ and $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$ are entangled; namely, one has to compute them together. Ideally, we could obtain a disentangled result for each separate piece of $c_i^{(1)}(M)$. Upon isolating $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M)$ and $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$, it is additionally desirable that the functional determinants involved can be evaluated with a CDE.

This section is devoted to the above tasks. In section 3.1 we first derive the disentangled results for $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M)$ and $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$. Then we show how to systematically evaluate the functional determinants involved by a new CDE technique. This new CDE technique is capable of evaluating functional determinants of a much wider class of operators beyond the elliptic operators that [3–6] are limited to. We show how to use these techniques in practice by considering two examples: a toy model with a heavy and a light singlet scalar in section 3.2, and a more phenomenological example in section 3.3 — the Standard Model with a heavy electroweak triplet scalar.

3.1 General formalism for a direct computation of $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$

3.1.1 Integrating out the heavy field Φ

In order to resolve $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M)$ and $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$ in the one-loop matching result eq. (2.37), let us take a closer look at the first functional determinant:

$$\log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV} \left[\phi, \Phi\right]}{\delta(\phi, \Phi)^2} \Big|_{\Phi = \Phi_c[\phi]} \right). \tag{3.1}$$

The problem with this determinant is that it involves functional derivatives with respect to both ϕ and Φ . This makes the boundary between contributions to $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M)$ and $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$ unclear. However, we can cast the above determinant into a resolved form where there are no "mixed" functional derivatives:

$$\log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}[\phi, \Phi]}{\delta(\phi, \Phi)^2} \Big|_{\Phi_c} \right) = \log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}[\phi, \Phi]}{\delta \Phi^2} \Big|_{\Phi_c} \right) + \log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}[\phi, \Phi_c[\phi]]}{\delta \phi^2} \right).$$
(3.2)

A derivation of this formula is given in appendix B. Note the difference in the functional dependence of $S_{\rm UV}$ in the two determinants above. As in eq. (3.1), in the first we vary the UV action with respect to Φ and then evaluate on the classical solution $\Phi_c[\phi]$. In the second determinant we first plug in the classical solution $\Phi_c[\phi]$ (which is a non-local functional of ϕ) and then vary with respect to ϕ .

Eq. (3.2) looks a bit abstract, but it actually has a very intuitive physical understanding: integrating out the heavy field Φ . To see this, let us recall from eq. (2.32) that the UV 1LPI effective action $\Gamma_{L,UV}[\phi]$ is given by

$$\Gamma_{\rm L,UV}\left[\phi\right] = S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi, \Phi_c\left[\phi\right]\right] + \frac{i}{2}\log\det\left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi, \Phi\right]}{\delta(\phi, \Phi)^2}\Big|_{\Phi_c}\right).$$
(3.3)

Using eq. (3.2) in this expression, we get

$$\Gamma_{\rm L,UV}[\phi] = S_{\rm UV}[\phi, \Phi_c[\phi]] + \frac{i}{2}\log\det\left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}[\phi, \Phi_c[\phi]]}{\delta\phi^2}\right) + \frac{i}{2}\log\det\left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}[\phi, \Phi]}{\delta\Phi^2}\Big|_{\Phi_c}\right).$$
(3.4)

To recognize what this result implies, let us imagine integrating out the heavy field Φ in the path integral,

$$e^{iS_{\text{eff}}[\phi]} = \int D\Phi e^{iS_{\text{UV}}[\phi,\Phi]}.$$
(3.5)

The above serves as a definition of $S_{\text{eff}}[\phi]$. It is an inherently non-local object. To one-loop order, $S_{\text{eff}}[\phi]$ is obtained by a saddle-point approximation of the path integral,

$$S_{\text{eff}}\left[\phi\right] = S_{\text{UV}}\left[\phi, \Phi_c\left[\phi\right]\right] + \frac{i}{2}\log\det\left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\text{UV}}\left[\phi, \Phi\right]}{\delta\Phi^2}\Big|_{\Phi_c}\right).$$
(3.6)

If we use this $S_{\text{eff}}[\phi]$ to compute the corresponding 1PI effective action $\Gamma_{\text{eff}}[\phi]$, following the general prescription in eq. (2.5), we obtain exactly the same expression as in eq. (3.4), namely that

$$\Gamma_{\rm L,UV}\left[\phi\right] = \Gamma_{\rm eff}\left[\phi\right]. \tag{3.7}$$

Physically, eq. (3.7) means that the theory $S_{\text{eff}}[\phi]$ as defined in eq. (3.5) is equivalent to the UV theory $S_{\text{UV}}[\phi, \Phi]$ with regard to the physics of the light fields ϕ . This is a well-known statement (e.g. [1, 2, 37]). In the path integral formalism, eq. (2.1), this statement is almost trivially true by the definition of $S_{\text{eff}}[\phi]$:

$$\langle \phi(x_1) \cdots \phi(x_n) \rangle_{\text{UV}} = \frac{\int \mathcal{D}\phi \mathcal{D}\Phi e^{iS_{\text{UV}}[\phi,\Phi]} \phi(x_1) \cdots \phi(x_n)}{\int \mathcal{D}\phi \mathcal{D}\Phi e^{iS_{\text{UV}}[\phi,\Phi]}}$$
$$= \frac{\int \mathcal{D}\phi e^{iS_{\text{eff}}[\phi]} \phi(x_1) \cdots \phi(x_n)}{\int \mathcal{D}\phi e^{iS_{\text{eff}}[\phi]}} = \langle \phi(x_1) \cdots \phi(x_n) \rangle_{\text{eff}}.$$
(3.8)

With the help of this integrating out picture, it is hopefully easier to understand and remember eq. (3.2).

3.1.2 Resolved matching results

With the functional derivatives with respect to ϕ and Φ disentangled, it is easy to separately identify the pieces $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M)$ and $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$. Combining eqs. (2.37) and (3.2), we arrive at our resolved matching results:

$$\int d^4x \sum_i c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M) \mathcal{O}_i(\phi) = \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\text{UV}}[\phi, \Phi]}{\delta \Phi^2} \Big|_{\Phi_c} \right), \tag{3.9}$$

$$\int d^4x \sum_i c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M) \mathcal{O}_i(\phi) = \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\text{UV}}[\phi, \Phi_c[\phi]]}{\delta \phi^2} \right) - \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\text{EFT}}^{(0)}[\phi]}{\delta \phi^2} \right). \tag{3.10}$$

We see that our matching result for $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M)$ has reproduced eq. (1.6). The functional derivative matrix in eq. (3.9) is always of the form $D^2 + M^2 + U(x)$, so the universal results of [3, 6] are immediately available. As the piece $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M)$ has been intensively studied in [3, 6], our focus in this paper will be on the other one, $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$.

One might wonder why eq. (3.10) does not vanish, since the tree-level matching result (eq. (2.36)) states that $\mathcal{L}_{EFT}^{(0)}(\phi) = \mathcal{L}_{UV}(\phi, \Phi_c[\phi])$. The answer is that these two Lagrangians are actually different. $\mathcal{L}_{UV}(\phi, \Phi_c[\phi])$ is an inherently *non-local* object, because of the non-local nature of $\Phi_c[\phi]$. On the other hand, $\mathcal{L}_{EFT}^{(0)}(\phi)$ is by definition a sum of *local* operators. Therefore, the true meaning of the tree-level matching result in eq. (2.36) is that $\mathcal{L}_{EFT}^{(0)}(\phi)$ should be a local expansion of the non-local $\mathcal{L}_{UV}(\phi, \Phi_c[\phi])$.

In fact, it is exactly this local vs. non-local difference between $\mathcal{L}_{\text{EFT}}^{(0)}(\phi)$ and $\mathcal{L}_{\text{UV}}(\phi, \Phi_c[\phi])$ that leads to nonzero $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$. Using the local $\mathcal{L}_{\text{EFT}}^{(0)}(\phi)$ in the functional determinant will give a result that mismatches with that obtained using the non-local $\mathcal{L}_{\text{UV}}(\phi, \Phi_c[\phi])$ [38, 39], and hence dictates the need for $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$.¹¹ The fact that the origin of $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$ being from this local vs. non-local difference is also elaborated in [37].

Let us see a concrete example of this local vs. non-local difference. Consider a UV theory with a heavy complex scalar field Φ :

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm UV}\left(\phi,\Phi\right) \supset \Phi^{\dagger}\left[-D^2 - M^2 - U\left(\phi\right)\right]\Phi + \left[\Phi^{\dagger}B\left(\phi\right) + c.c.\right].$$
(3.12)

The solution to the equation of motion of Φ is

$$\Phi_{c}[\phi] = -\frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2} - U(\phi)}B(\phi).$$
(3.13)

We see that $\Phi_c[\phi]$ is NOT a local operator that only depends on the spacetime coordinate x, because the covariant derivative D shows up in the denominator. Plugging this $\Phi_c[\phi]$ back into the UV Lagrangian, we get

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm UV}(\phi, \Phi_c[\phi]) = -B^{\dagger}(\phi) \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2 - U(\phi)} B(\phi), \qquad (3.14)$$

which is also non-local. On the other hand, when matching the above UV theory with an EFT at tree-level, we solve the Wilson coefficients according to the matching equation

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm EFT}^{(0)}\left(\phi\right) = \sum_{i} c_{i}^{(0)}\left(M\right) \mathcal{O}_{i}\left(\phi\right) = \mathcal{L}_{\rm UV}\left(\phi, \Phi_{c}\left[\phi\right]\right).$$
(3.15)

$$\int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{-M^2} \left(1 + \frac{p^2}{M^2} + \frac{p^4}{M^4} + \cdots \right) \neq \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{p^2 - M^2}.$$
(3.11)

In dimensional regularization, the result of the right hand side (the UV theory) generically has a fractional power of M^2 . However, the left hand side (the EFT) clearly can only yield integer powers of M^2 , as M^2 , M^4 , etc. participate only as overall factors of the integrals. This mismatch can be avoided by using other regularization scheme, such as a sharp cutoff of the momentum integral. In that case $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)} = 0$. This is consistent with our understanding that $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$ is not physical by itself. More details on using a different regularization scheme are explained in appendix C.

¹¹Mathematically, this mismatch is due to the illegitimate expansion of propagator inside the momentum integral under dimensional regularization:

This solving step amounts to an inverse mass expansion of eq. (3.14) into a sum of local operators:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm EFT}^{(0)}(\phi) = -B^{\dagger} \frac{1}{M^2} B - B^{\dagger} \frac{1}{M^2} \left(-D^2 - U\right) \frac{1}{M^2} B + \cdots .$$
(3.16)

We see that $\mathcal{L}_{\text{EFT}}^{(0)}(\phi)$ is local.¹²

Now we understand that the two functional determinants in eq. (3.10) are very close to each other — they only differ by this local vs. non-local difference. This actually provides us a way of using this formula more efficiently. In particular, the second term in eq. (3.10) is always *contained* in the first term. As we are only interested in their difference, instead of computing both terms separately and subtracting them in the end, one can compute only the first term and then *drop* the pieces corresponding to the second term. This procedure is kind of similar with the usual loop diagram calculation in renormalized perturbation theory under $\overline{\text{MS}}$ scheme, where in principle one has contributions from both the renormalized coupling and the counterterm, but in practice one just computes the renormalized coupling part and then drops the $1/\epsilon - \gamma + \log(4\pi)$.¹³

So, in actual calculations, we will only compute the first term in eq. (3.10), coming from the non-local Lagrangian $\mathcal{L}_{\text{UV}}(\phi, \Phi_c[\phi])$, and then we drop its "local counterpart" coming from the local Lagrangian $\mathcal{L}_{\text{EFT}}^{(0)}[\phi]$ that was matched with $\mathcal{L}_{\text{UV}}(\phi, \Phi_c[\phi])$. With this strategy, we abbreviate eq. (3.10) as

$$\int d^4x \sum_{i} c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M) \mathcal{O}_i(\phi) = \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\text{UV}}\left[\phi, \Phi_c\left[\phi\right]\right]}{\delta \phi^2}\right)_{\text{d}}, \quad (3.17)$$

where the subscript "d" is short for "drop" which reminds us to drop the "local counterpart".

To identify which pieces are the "local counterparts" to drop, we make the crucial observation that going from $\mathcal{L}_{\text{UV}}(\phi, \Phi_c[\phi])$ (e.g. eq. (3.14)) to $\mathcal{L}_{\text{EFT}}^{(0)}(\phi)$ (e.g. eq. (3.16)), one just *truncates* the inverse mass expansion of the heavy propagator:

$$\frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} = -\frac{1}{M^2} - \frac{-D^2}{M^4} + \dots = \left(\frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2}\right)_{\text{truncated}} + \left(\frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2}\right)_{\text{rest}}.$$
 (3.18)

For example, if the expansion is truncated at $-1/M^2$, then we rewrite the propagator as

$$\frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} = -\frac{1}{M^2} + \frac{1}{M^2} \frac{-D^2}{-D^2 - M^2},$$

and identify the first and second pieces with $(-D^2 - M^2)^{-1}_{\text{truncated}}$ and $(-D^2 - M^2)^{-1}_{\text{rest}}$, respectively.

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm UV}(\phi, \Phi_c[\phi]) = B^{\dagger}(\phi) \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} B(\phi) + B^{\dagger}(\phi) \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} U(\phi) \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} B(\phi) + \cdots$$

 13 This analogy is not purely mathematical, as the subtraction in eq. (3.10) does have the physical meaning of removing IR divergences.

¹²It is worth noting that the non-local character of $\mathcal{L}_{UV}(\phi, \Phi_c[\phi])$ is due to the derivatives being in the denominator. As long as one does not expand out these derivatives, this character is not changed. For example, while using eq. (3.14) in eq. (3.10), it is legitimate to do the expansion

If one splits the heavy propagator into the "truncated piece" and the "rest piece", then term where *all* heavy propagators in eq. (3.17) take the truncated piece must correspond to the second term in eq. (3.10). Hence, these are the "local counterparts" to drop. So the main task is just to identify the "truncated piece" $\left(\frac{1}{-D^2-M^2}\right)_{\text{truncated}}$ by examining how we went from $\mathcal{L}_{\text{UV}}(\phi, \Phi_c[\phi])$ to $\mathcal{L}_{\text{EFT}}^{(0)}(\phi)$. After posting this preprint, we became aware that this method — splitting the propagator and identifying the first piece as the contribution from $S_{\text{EFT}}^{(0)}$ — was actually utilized long ago [37]. The work [37] illustrates the same physical concept, although it was not proposed as a general technique¹⁴ and it was only used in a diagrammatic approach of computing $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$.

3.1.3 Trace evaluation

Eq. (3.17) is our master formula in this paper, with which one can calculate the piece $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$ directly. To evaluate the functional determinant in eq. (3.17) one can, of course, use the PDE method described in section 2.2. However, it would be desirable to have a CDE method, which makes the evaluation more efficient.

As explained in section 2.2.1, the functional determinant of the elliptic operator can be evaluated by a CDE method. The method is intensively discussed in [3–6], with a universal result of degenerate mass case represented in eq. (2.20). Unfortunately, the functional derivative matrix in eq. (3.17) is typically not an elliptic operator, due to the non-local nature of $\mathcal{L}_{UV}(\phi, \Phi_c[\phi])$. Instead, its typical form is (as we shall see later in the examples)

$$-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\text{UV}}[\phi, \Phi_c[\phi]]}{\delta \phi^2} = D^2 + m^2 + \sum_n A_{n1}(x) \left[\prod_{i=2}^n \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} A_{ni}(x) \right]$$

$$= D^2 + m^2 + \left\{ A_{11}(x) + A_{21}(x) \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} A_{22}(x) + A_{31}(x) \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} A_{32}(x) \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} A_{33}(x) + \cdots \right\},$$
(3.19)

where m^2 is an IR scale, typically the mass of the light field ϕ .¹⁵ Therefore, we cannot make use of the universal result in eq. (2.20). Nevertheless, this kind of functional determinants can still be evaluated by a CDE method. The first step is to expand out the logarithm and convert it into a sum of functional traces

$$\log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\text{UV}}\left[\phi, \Phi_c\left[\phi\right]\right]}{\delta \phi^2}\right) = \operatorname{Tr} \log \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\text{UV}}\left[\phi, \Phi_c\left[\phi\right]\right]}{\delta \phi^2}\right)$$
(3.20)
$$= \operatorname{Tr} \log \left[D^2 + m^2 + A_{11}\left(x\right) + A_{21}\left(x\right) \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} A_{22}\left(x\right) + \cdots\right]$$
$$\supseteq \operatorname{Tr} \log \left[1 - \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} A_{11}\left(x\right) - \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} A_{21}\left(x\right) \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} A_{22}\left(x\right) + \cdots\right]$$
$$= -\sum_{n=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ \left[\frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} A_{11}\left(x\right) - \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} A_{21}\left(x\right) \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} A_{22}\left(x\right) + \cdots\right]^n \right\}.$$

¹⁴In [37], this splitting was only used for terms involving just one heavy propagator.

¹⁵If the light field ϕ is massless, m^2 can be viewed as an IR regulator introduced for the calculation, and can be taken to zero in the end, as the end result is always free of IR divergence.

The next step is to evaluate each of the functional traces in the last line above. These functional traces can be all captured by the following general form:

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\frac{\left(-D^{2}\right)^{k_{1}}}{-D^{2}-m_{1}^{2}}A_{1}\left(x\right)\frac{\left(-D^{2}\right)^{k_{2}}}{-D^{2}-m_{2}^{2}}A_{2}\left(x\right)\cdots\frac{\left(-D^{2}\right)^{k_{3}}}{-D^{2}-m_{n}^{2}}A_{n}\left(x\right)\right],$$
(3.21)

where k_i are integers. In appendix A, we present a systematic CDE method, which allows one to evaluate any functional trace of this form.¹⁶

3.2 Demonstrating example: a toy scalar model

In order to demonstrate the methodology described in section 3.1 in the simplest context, let us consider a toy model with a light real scalar field ϕ and a heavy real scalar field Φ , both of which are gauge singlets. The UV Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm UV}\left(\phi,\Phi\right) = \frac{1}{2}\Phi\left(-\partial^2 - M^2\right)\Phi - \frac{\lambda}{3!}\Phi\phi^3 + \frac{1}{2}\phi\left(-\partial^2 - m^2\right)\phi - \frac{\kappa}{4!}\phi^4.$$
 (3.22)

For clarity of discussion, we ignore possible self-interactions of the heavy field Φ . We would like to match this theory on an EFT of ϕ alone, $\mathcal{L}_{\text{EFT}}(\phi)$.

Let us focus on the dimension-four operator $\mathcal{O}_4 \equiv \phi^4$ and the dimension-six operator $\mathcal{O}_6 \equiv \phi^6$ with the Wilson coefficients c_4 , c_6 normalized as $\mathcal{L}_{\text{EFT}}(\phi) \supset c_4 \phi^4 + c_6 \phi^6$. Specifically, we want to compute the piece $c_{4,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$ and $c_{6,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$, the contribution to which should involve the UV coupling λ .

Following the procedure described in section 3.1, we first compute the non-local Lagrangian $\mathcal{L}_{UV}(\phi, \Phi_c[\phi])$:

$$\Phi_c\left[\phi\right] = \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \frac{\lambda}{6} \phi^3,\tag{3.23}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm UV}(\phi, \Phi_c[\phi]) = \frac{1}{2}\phi \left(-\partial^2 - m^2\right)\phi - \frac{\kappa}{4!}\phi^4 - \frac{\lambda^2}{72}\phi^3 \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2}\phi^3.$$
 (3.24)

Then we take its second variation with respect to the light field ϕ

$$-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi, \Phi_c\left[\phi\right]\right]}{\delta\phi^2} = \partial^2 + m^2 + \frac{\kappa}{2}\phi^2 + \frac{\lambda^2}{36} \left[9\phi^2 \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2}\phi^2 + 6\phi \left(\frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2}\phi^3\right)_x\right]. \quad (3.25)$$

Note that here we have used a subscript "x" to mark a "local" term, i.e. the state $|x\rangle$ in the functional space is an eigenstate of the expression inside the parentheses:

$$\left(\frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2}\phi^3\right)_x |x\rangle = |x\rangle \left(\frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2}\phi^3\right)$$
$$= |x\rangle \left[-\frac{1}{M^2}\phi^3 + \frac{1}{M^4}\partial^2\left(\phi^3\right) - \frac{1}{M^6}\partial^4\left(\phi^3\right) + \cdots\right].$$
(3.26)

¹⁶Note that in the third line of deriving eq. (3.20), we have dropped a term $\text{Tr} \log (D^2 + m^2)$. This piece is not of our interest for the current scope, as it will always get dropped as the "local counterpart" later anyway, and hence does not contribute to $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$. However, if one actually wants to evaluate this piece, one can use the universal formula of eq. (2.20) with U = 0. This is also discussed in appendix A.

The practical understanding of the notation $(...)_x$ is that derivatives act only within the parentheses. Now using eq. (3.17), we get

$$S_{\text{EFT,mixed}}^{(1)} \left[\phi\right] = \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\text{UV}} \left[\phi, \Phi_c \left[\phi\right]\right]}{\delta \phi^2}\right)_{\text{d}}$$

$$\supset \frac{i}{2} \text{Tr} \log \left\{1 - \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2} \left\{\frac{\kappa}{2} \phi^2 + \frac{\lambda^2}{36} \left[9\phi^2 \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \phi^2 + 6\phi \left(\frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \phi^3\right)_x\right]\right\}_{\text{d}}$$

$$\supset -\frac{i}{144} \text{Tr} \left\{\frac{2\lambda^2 \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2} \left[9\phi^2 \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \phi^2 + 6\phi \left(\frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \phi^3\right)_x\right]}{+\lambda^2 \kappa \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2} \phi^2 \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2} \left[9\phi^2 \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \phi^2 + 6\phi \left(\frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \phi^3\right)_x\right]}{\theta}\right\}_{\text{d}}, \qquad (3.27)$$

where we have expanded the log and kept only the pieces that contain ϕ^4 , ϕ^6 and involve λ .¹⁷

Our next step is to identify and drop the "local counterpart". We see from eq. (3.24) that if one were to compute $\mathcal{L}_{\text{EFT}}^{(0)}(\phi)$ up to mass dimension six, one would have arrived at

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm EFT}^{(0)}\left(\phi\right) \supset \frac{\lambda^2}{72M^2}\phi^6,\tag{3.28}$$

which amounts to taking

$$\left(\frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2}\right)_{\text{truncated}} = -\frac{1}{M^2}.$$
(3.29)

Therefore, we should split the heavy propagators in eq. (3.27) as

$$\frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2} = \left(\frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2}\right)_{\text{truncated}} + \frac{1}{M^2} \frac{-\partial^2}{-\partial^2 - M^2},\tag{3.30}$$

and then drop the term with *all* heavy propagators taking the first piece in the above. For example, for the first term in eq. (3.27), the procedure is as following

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left\{\frac{1}{-\partial^{2}-m^{2}}9\phi^{2}\frac{1}{-\partial^{2}-M^{2}}\phi^{2}\right\}_{d}$$

$$=\operatorname{Tr}\left\{\frac{1}{-\partial^{2}-m^{2}}9\phi^{2}\left[\left(\frac{1}{-\partial^{2}-M^{2}}\right)_{\text{truncated}}+\frac{1}{M^{2}}\frac{-\partial^{2}}{-\partial^{2}-M^{2}}\right]\phi^{2}\right\}_{d}$$

$$=\operatorname{Tr}\left\{\frac{1}{-\partial^{2}-m^{2}}9\phi^{2}\left[\frac{1}{M^{2}}\frac{-\partial^{2}}{-\partial^{2}-M^{2}}\right]\phi^{2}\right\},$$
(3.31)

where in the second line we have split the heavy propagator according to eqs. (3.29) and (3.30), and in the third line we have dropped its truncated piece. We reiterate that we need to drop the term with *all* (instead of *any*) heavy propagators taking the truncated piece.

After dropping all the "local counterparts", we get

$$S_{\text{EFT,mixed}}^{(1)}\left[\phi\right] = -\frac{i}{144} \text{Tr} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \frac{2\lambda^2}{M^2} \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2} \left[9\phi^2 \frac{-\partial^2}{-\partial^2 - M^2}\phi^2 + 6\phi\left(\frac{-\partial^2}{-\partial^2 - M^2}\phi^3\right)_x\right] \\ +\frac{\lambda^2\kappa}{M^2} \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2}\phi^2 \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2} \left[9\phi^2 \frac{-\partial^2}{-\partial^2 - M^2}\phi^2 + 6\phi\left(\frac{-\partial^2}{-\partial^2 - M^2}\phi^3\right)_x\right] \right\} \\ \supset -\frac{i}{16} \text{Tr} \left\{ \begin{array}{l} \frac{2\lambda^2}{M^2} \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2}\phi^2 \frac{-\partial^2}{-\partial^2 - M^2}\phi^2 \\ +\frac{\lambda^2\kappa}{M^2} \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2}\phi^2 \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2}\phi^2 \frac{-\partial^2}{-\partial^2 - M^2}\phi^2 \right\}, \tag{3.32}$$

¹⁷The pieces that do not involve UV couplings will always be cancelled by the "local counterparts".

where in the second line we have dropped the "x" pieces, because they start with two derivatives on ϕ^3 (the "x" piece is evaluated similar to eq. (3.26)), which would not contribute to $\mathcal{O}_4 = \phi^4$ or $\mathcal{O}_6 = \phi^6$ in $S_{\text{EFT,mixed}}^{(1)}[\phi]$.

The rest of the calculation is just to evaluate the functional traces in eq. (3.32), which can be done by a CDE method, as we explain in appendix A. The end results are

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2}\phi^2 \frac{-\partial^2}{-\partial^2 - M^2}\phi^2\right) \supset \frac{i}{(4\pi)^2} \int d^4x M^2 \phi^4 \qquad (3.33)$$

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2}\phi^2 \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2}\phi^2 \frac{-\partial^2}{-\partial^2 - M^2}\phi^2\right) \supset \frac{i}{(4\pi)^2} \int d^4x \,\phi^6. \tag{3.34}$$

Therefore we get the one-loop mixed piece of the Wilson coefficient as

$$S_{\rm EFT,mixed}^{(1)} \left[\phi\right] \supset \int d^4x \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \left(\frac{\lambda^2}{8}\phi^4 + \frac{\lambda^2\kappa}{16M^2}\phi^6\right),\tag{3.35}$$

$$c_{4,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(\mu = M) = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{\lambda^2}{8},$$
(3.36)

$$c_{6,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}\left(\mu=M\right) = \frac{1}{\left(4\pi\right)^2} \frac{\lambda^2 \kappa}{16M^2}.$$
 (3.37)

3.3 Example: the Standard Model with a heavy electroweak triplet scalar

Now let us work out a model that is of some phenomenological relevance — the Standard Model with a heavy electroweak triplet scalar Φ^a . The UV Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm UV} = \mathcal{L}_{\rm SM}(\phi) + \frac{1}{2} \Phi^a \left(-D^2 - M^2 \right) \Phi^a + 2\kappa H^{\dagger} t^a H \Phi^a - \eta |H|^2 \Phi^a \Phi^a,$$
(3.38)

where $t^a = \sigma^a/2$ is the SU(2)_W generator in the fundamental representation, and we have used " ϕ " to collectively denote all the SM fields. As in the previous example, we ignore the self-interactions of the heavy field Φ^a for simplicity. The Higgs sector of the SM is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm SM}\left(\phi\right) \supset H^{\dagger}\left(-D^2 - m^2\right)H - \frac{\lambda}{4}|H|^4, \qquad (3.39)$$

where m^2 is just an IR regulator. We will take $m^2 \to 0$ at the end of the calculation. We are interested in the dimension-six operators $\mathcal{O}_H \equiv \frac{1}{2} \left(D_\mu |H|^2 \right)^2$, $\mathcal{O}_{HD} \equiv |H^{\dagger}DH|^2$, and $\mathcal{O}_R \equiv |H|^2 |D_\mu H|^2$, with their Wilson coefficients c_H , c_{HD} , and c_R normalized as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{EFT}}(\phi) \supset c_H \mathcal{O}_H + c_{HD} \mathcal{O}_{HD} + c_R \mathcal{O}_R.$$
(3.40)

These effective operators all have four powers of the Higgs field and two powers of the covariant derivative. We are specifically interested in the one-loop mixed pieces $c_{H,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$, $c_{HD,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$, and $c_{R,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$.¹⁸

¹⁸The $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M)$ can be obtained with the universal formula (2.20); this example is shown explicitly in [3].

Again following the procedure described in section 3.1, we first compute the non-local Lagrangian $\mathcal{L}_{\text{UV}}(\phi, \Phi_c^a[\phi])$

$$\Phi_{c}^{a}[\phi] = -\frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2} - 2\eta |H|^{2}} 2\kappa H^{\dagger} t^{a} H, \qquad (3.41)$$

$$\mathcal{L}_{UV}(\phi, \Phi_{c}^{a}[\phi]) = \mathcal{L}_{SM}(\phi) - 2\kappa^{2} H^{\dagger} t^{a} H \frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}} - 2\eta |H|^{2} H^{\dagger} t^{a} H$$

$$= \begin{bmatrix} \mathcal{L}_{SM}(\phi) - 2\kappa^{2} H^{\dagger} t^{a} H \frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}} H^{\dagger} t^{a} H \\ -4\kappa^{2} \eta H^{\dagger} t^{a} H \frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}} |H|^{2} \frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}} H^{\dagger} t^{a} H \end{bmatrix} + \mathcal{O}(H^{8}). \qquad (3.42)$$

Here we have thrown away the terms with more than six powers in H, because upon second variation, such terms would give effective operators with more than four powers in H, which cannot contribute to \mathcal{O}_H , \mathcal{O}_{HD} , or \mathcal{O}_R . It is easy to work out the tree-level Wilson coefficients from here. They are given by expanding $\mathcal{L}_{\text{UV}}(\phi, \Phi_c^a[\phi])$ into local operators:

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm UV}(\phi, \Phi_c^a[\phi]) \supset -2\kappa^2 H^{\dagger} t^a H \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} H^{\dagger} t^a H \supset -2\kappa^2 H^{\dagger} t^a H \left(-\frac{1}{M^2} - \frac{-D^2}{M^4} \right) H^{\dagger} t^a H \supset \frac{2\kappa^2}{M^4} H^{\dagger} t^a H (-D^2) H^{\dagger} t^a H = \frac{2\kappa^2}{M^4} \left[D \left(H^{\dagger} t^a H \right) \right]^2 = \frac{2\kappa^2}{M^4} \left[\left(D H^{\dagger} \right) t^a H + H^{\dagger} t^a (DH) \right]^2 = \frac{2\kappa^2}{M^4} \left[\frac{1}{4} \left(D_{\mu} |H|^2 \right)^2 - \left| H^{\dagger} D_{\mu} H \right|^2 + |H|^2 |D_{\mu} H|^2 \right], \quad (3.43)$$

from which we can identify

$$c_{H}^{(0)} = \frac{2\kappa^{2}}{M^{4}} \frac{1}{2} \quad , \quad c_{HD}^{(0)} = -\frac{2\kappa^{2}}{M^{4}} \quad , \quad c_{R}^{(0)} = \frac{2\kappa^{2}}{M^{4}}.$$
 (3.44)

To continue with computing the one-loop mixed pieces, the next step is to take the second variation of the action $S_{\rm UV} [\phi, \Phi_c^a [\phi]]$ with respect to all the light fields ϕ in SM, which includes the Higgs doublet, the gauge bosons, as well as the Fermions. This will give us a big functional matrix, and we need to evaluate its determinant. This evaluation is a big task to do. However, we know in the end, we will only extract the terms that contain \mathcal{O}_H , \mathcal{O}_{HD} , and \mathcal{O}_R with coefficient involving the UV couplings, i.e. κ or η . This will greatly simplify the task. Furthermore, if one ignores the pieces in $c_{H,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$, $c_{HD,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$, and $c_{R,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$ that involves the SM gauge couplings, then taking only the sub-matrix from the Higgs field variation is sufficient. For purpose of simplicity, we will only evaluate the functional determinant of this sub-matrix, and compute the terms in Wilson coefficients that do not involve the SM gauge couplings. From eq. (3.42), we get this sub-matrix as

$$\delta^{2} \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{UV}} \left[\phi, \Phi_{c}^{a}\left[\phi\right]\right] = \frac{1}{2} \left(\delta H^{\dagger} \ \delta H^{T}\right) \begin{bmatrix} -D^{2} - m^{2} - \frac{\lambda}{2} \begin{pmatrix} a_{1} \ b_{1} \\ b_{1}^{*} \ a_{1}^{T} \end{pmatrix} \\ -4\kappa^{2} \begin{pmatrix} a_{2} \ b_{2} \\ b_{2}^{*} \ a_{2}^{T} \end{pmatrix} - 8\kappa^{2} \eta \begin{pmatrix} a_{3} \ b_{3} \\ b_{3}^{*} \ a_{3}^{T} \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \delta H \\ \delta H^{*} \end{pmatrix},$$

$$-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi, \Phi^a_c\left[\phi\right]\right]}{\delta \phi^2} \supset D^2 + m^2 + \frac{\lambda}{2} \left(\begin{array}{cc} a_1 & b_1 \\ b_1^* & a_1^T \end{array} \right) + 4\kappa^2 \left(\begin{array}{cc} a_2 & b_2 \\ b_2^* & a_2^T \end{array} \right) + 8\kappa^2 \eta \left(\begin{array}{cc} a_3 & b_3 \\ b_3^* & a_3^T \end{array} \right).$$

where a_1, b_1, a_2, b_2, a_3 , and b_3 are all functionals as well as 2×2 matrices in the SU(2)_W space. Their detailed expressions are

$$\begin{split} &a_{1} = |H|^{2} + HH^{\dagger}, \\ &b_{1} = HH^{T}, \\ &a_{2} = t^{a} \left(\frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}}H^{\dagger}t^{a}H\right)_{x} + t^{a}H\frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}}H^{\dagger}t^{a}, \\ &b_{2} = t^{a}H\frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}}H^{T}t^{a*}, \\ &a_{3} = \begin{bmatrix} t^{a} \left(\frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}}H^{T}t^{a*}\right)_{x} + t^{a}H\frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}}|H|^{2}\frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}}H^{\dagger}t^{a}\\ &+ t^{a}H\frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}}H^{\dagger}\left(\frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}}H^{\dagger}t^{a}H\right)_{x} + \left(\frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}}H^{\dagger}t^{a}H\right)_{x}H\frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}}H^{\dagger}t^{a}\\ &+ \frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}}H^{\dagger}t^{a}H\right)_{x}\left(\frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}}H^{\dagger}t^{a}H\right)_{x} \\ &b_{3} = t^{a}H\frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}}|H|^{2}\frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}}H^{T}t^{a*} + 2t^{a}H\frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}}H^{T}\left(\frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}}H^{\dagger}t^{a}H\right)_{x}. \end{split}$$

Now using eq. (3.17), we get

$$S_{\text{EFT,mixed}}^{(1)}[\phi] = \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left[D^2 + m^2 + \frac{\lambda}{2} \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & b_1 \\ b_1^* & a_1^T \end{pmatrix} + 4\kappa^2 \begin{pmatrix} a_2 & b_2 \\ b_2^* & a_2^T \end{pmatrix} + 8\kappa^2 \eta \begin{pmatrix} a_3 & b_3 \\ b_3^* & a_3^T \end{pmatrix} \right]_{\text{d}}$$
$$\supset \frac{i}{2} \text{Tr} \log \left\{ 1 - \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} \left[\frac{\lambda}{2} \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & b_1 \\ b_1^* & a_1^T \end{pmatrix} + 4\kappa^2 \begin{pmatrix} a_2 & b_2 \\ b_2^* & a_2^T \end{pmatrix} + 8\kappa^2 \eta \begin{pmatrix} a_3 & b_3 \\ b_3^* & a_3^T \end{pmatrix} \right] \right\}_{\text{d}},$$
(3.45)

Next we would like to expand out and truncate the log. We notice that $a_1, b_1, a_2, b_2 \sim H^2$ and $a_3, b_3 \sim H^4$, and we want to keep terms with four powers in H, and also involve κ or η . This restricts us to three terms

$$S_{\text{EFT,mixed}}^{(1)} \left[\phi\right] \supset \frac{i}{2} \text{Tr} \begin{bmatrix} -2\lambda \kappa^2 \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & b_1 \\ b_1^* & a_1^T \end{pmatrix} \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} \begin{pmatrix} a_2 & b_2 \\ b_2^* & a_2^T \end{pmatrix} \\ -8\kappa^4 \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} \begin{pmatrix} a_2 & b_2 \\ b_2^* & a_2^T \end{pmatrix} \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} \begin{pmatrix} a_2 & b_2 \\ b_2^* & a_2^T \end{pmatrix} \\ -\frac{8\kappa^2 \eta}{-D^2 - m^2} \begin{pmatrix} a_3 & b_3 \\ b_3^* & a_3^T \end{pmatrix} \end{bmatrix}_{\text{d}} = S_1 + S_2 + S_3,$$

$$(3.46)$$

with S_1 , S_2 , and S_3 defined as

$$S_{1} \equiv \frac{i}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left[-2\lambda \kappa^{2} \frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} \begin{pmatrix} a_{1} & b_{1} \\ b_{1}^{*} & a_{1}^{T} \end{pmatrix} \frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} \begin{pmatrix} a_{2} & b_{2} \\ b_{2}^{*} & a_{2}^{T} \end{pmatrix} \right]_{d},$$
(3.47a)

$$S_2 \equiv \frac{i}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left[-8\kappa^4 \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} \begin{pmatrix} a_2 & b_2 \\ b_2^* & a_2^T \end{pmatrix} \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} \begin{pmatrix} a_2 & b_2 \\ b_2^* & a_2^T \end{pmatrix} \right]_{\mathrm{d}},$$
(3.47b)

$$S_3 \equiv \frac{i}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left[-\frac{8\kappa^2 \eta}{-D^2 - m^2} \begin{pmatrix} a_3 & b_3 \\ b_3^* & a_3^T \end{pmatrix} \right]_{\mathrm{d}}.$$
(3.47c)

Our next step is to identify and drop the "local counterparts", and then evaluate these functional traces using the CDE method described in appendix A. To identify the "local counterparts", we notice that computing $c_{HD}^{(0)}$ from eq. (3.42) amounts to taking

$$\left(\frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2}\right)_{\text{truncated}} = -\frac{1}{M^2} - \frac{-D^2}{M^4}.$$
(3.48)

So we should split the heavy propagator as

$$\frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} = \left(\frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2}\right)_{\text{truncated}} + \frac{1}{M^4} \frac{D^4}{-D^2 - M^2},\tag{3.49}$$

and all heavy propagators taking the first term in this splitting should be the "local counterpart" to drop. We leave the details of evaluating S_1 , S_2 , and S_3 to appendix D. The end results are (see eqs. (D.7)–(D.9))

$$S_1 \supset \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{\lambda \kappa^2}{M^4} \int d^4x \left[\frac{13}{8} \left(D_\mu |H|^2 \right)^2 - \frac{3}{2} \left| H^{\dagger} D_\mu H \right|^2 + \frac{25}{4} |H|^2 |D_\mu H|^2 \right], \tag{3.50}$$

$$S_2 \supset \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{\kappa^4}{M^6} \int d^4x \left[-2 \left(D_\mu |H|^2 \right)^2 - \left| H^{\dagger} D_\mu H \right|^2 - \frac{21}{2} |H|^2 |D_\mu H|^2 \right], \tag{3.51}$$

$$S_3 \supset \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{\kappa^2 \eta}{M^4} \int d^4x \left[-7 \left(D_\mu |H|^2 \right)^2 + 16 \left| H^{\dagger} D_\mu H \right|^2 - 21 |H|^2 |D_\mu H|^2 \right].$$
(3.52)

Combining the above, we get

$$c_{H,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}\left(\mu=M\right) = \frac{1}{\left(4\pi\right)^2} \frac{\kappa^2}{M^4} \left(\frac{13}{4}\lambda - 14\eta - 4\frac{\kappa^2}{M^2}\right),\tag{3.53}$$

$$c_{HD,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}\left(\mu=M\right) = \frac{1}{\left(4\pi\right)^2} \frac{\kappa^2}{M^4} \left(-\frac{3}{2}\lambda + 16\eta - \frac{\kappa^2}{M^2}\right),\tag{3.54}$$

$$c_{R,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}\left(\mu=M\right) = \frac{1}{\left(4\pi\right)^2} \frac{\kappa^2}{M^4} \left(\frac{25}{4}\lambda - 21\eta - \frac{21}{2}\frac{\kappa^2}{M^2}\right).$$
(3.55)

The result of $c_{HD,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(\mu = M)$ agrees with that in the literature, e.g. eq. (31) in [12].

In some literatures, the wavefunction correction effect is also included in the one-loop Wilson coefficients. This piece is also easily computed with our method. One just needs to compute the Wilson coefficient c_K of the kinetic operator $\mathcal{O}_K \equiv |DH|^2$. To one-loop order, the only contribution to c_K comes from $c_{K,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$. To compute this contribution, we just go back to eq. (3.45) and keep the terms with two powers in H while expanding and

truncating the log. This gives

$$S_{\text{EFT,mixed}}^{(1)}[\phi] \supset \frac{i}{2} \text{Tr} \log \left\{ 1 - \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} \left[\frac{\lambda}{2} \begin{pmatrix} a_1 & b_1 \\ b_1^* & a_1^T \end{pmatrix} + 4\kappa^2 \begin{pmatrix} a_2 & b_2 \\ b_2^* & a_2^T \end{pmatrix} + 8\kappa^2 \eta \begin{pmatrix} a_3 & b_3 \\ b_3^* & a_3^T \end{pmatrix} \right] \right\}_{d}$$
$$\supset -2i\kappa^2 \text{Tr} \left[\frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} \begin{pmatrix} a_2 & b_2 \\ b_2^* & a_2^T \end{pmatrix} \right]_{d} \equiv S_K.$$
(3.56)

As before, one proceeds with first dropping the "local counterparts" and then evaluating the functional trace using CDE. We give the details of evaluating S_K in appendix D. The end result is (see eq. (D.10))

$$S_K \supset \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{\kappa^2}{M^2} \int d^4x \left[\frac{3}{2}|DH|^2\right],$$
 (3.57)

which gives

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm EFT}(\phi) \supset \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{3}{2} \frac{\kappa^2}{M^2} |DH|^2.$$
 (3.58)

This result agrees with that in the literature, e.g. eq. (32) in [12]. As explained in [12], sometimes people rescale the field H to absorb this correction of the kinetic term, in order to make the kinetic term canonical:

$$H \to \left[1 - \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{3}{4} \frac{\kappa^2}{M^2}\right] H.$$
 (3.59)

Rescaling H will also rescale \mathcal{O}_H , \mathcal{O}_{HD} , and \mathcal{O}_R ; hence, the one-loop pieces of their Wilson coefficients are modified:

$$\{\mathcal{O}_{H}, \mathcal{O}_{HD}, \mathcal{O}_{R}\} \to \left[1 - \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{2}} 3\frac{\kappa^{2}}{M^{2}}\right] \{\mathcal{O}_{H}, \mathcal{O}_{HD}, \mathcal{O}_{R}\}, \\ \left\{c_{H,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}, c_{HD,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}, c_{R,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}\right\} \to \left\{c_{H,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}, c_{HD,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}, c_{R,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}\right\} - \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{2}} 3\frac{\kappa^{2}}{M^{2}} \left\{c_{H}^{(0)}, c_{HD}^{(0)}, c_{R}^{(0)}\right\}.$$

Using the tree-level matching results in eq. (3.44), we get

$$c_{H,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(\mu = M) \to \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{\kappa^2}{M^4} \left(\frac{13}{4}\lambda - 14\eta - 7\frac{\kappa^2}{M^2}\right),$$
 (3.60)

$$c_{HD,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(\mu = M) \to \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{\kappa^2}{M^4} \left(-\frac{3}{2}\lambda + 16\eta + 5\frac{\kappa^2}{M^2} \right),$$
 (3.61)

$$c_{R,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(\mu = M) \to \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{\kappa^2}{M^4} \left(\frac{25}{4}\lambda - 21\eta - \frac{33}{2}\frac{\kappa^2}{M^2}\right).$$
 (3.62)

Eq. (3.61) agrees with [40], upon neglecting the SM gauge coupling piece. We see that functional method has the strength to compute different Wilson coefficients at the same time.

4 Full example for matching: Yukawa theory with a heavy scalar

To highlight aspects of the general discussions on matching from the previous sections, here we consider a simple example of matching a Yukawa theory with a heavy scalar Φ onto a low energy EFT containing the four-fermion interaction $\mathcal{O}_S = (\bar{\psi}\psi)^2/2$. We will show how to do the matching in both the "traditional" procedure of section 2.3 as well as the "direct" approach of section 3.

The UV Lagrangian is given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm UV}(\Phi,\psi) = \frac{1}{2}\Phi(-\partial^2 - M^2)\Phi + \overline{\psi}(i\partial \!\!\!/ - m)\psi - \lambda\Phi\overline{\psi}\psi, \qquad (4.1)$$

with the hierarchy $M \gg m$. For simplicity, in this discussion we will ignore the Φ^4 selfinteraction of the heavy scalar. At the scale M, we match it onto the EFT given by

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm EFT}(\psi) = \overline{\psi} \left(i \partial \!\!\!/ - m \right) \psi + \frac{c_S}{2} \left(\overline{\psi} \psi \right)^2 + \dots, \qquad (4.2)$$

where the dots indicate other higher-dimensional operators.

We give some detail to the explicit computations to provide a full-picture of the procedure. So as not to lose the physics in the math, let us summarize the computations:

- In the "traditional" approach, we first compute the 1LPI effective actions of the UV theory and the EFT and then equate them to obtain the Wilson coefficients. Subsection 4.1 is devoted to the computation of the 1LPI effective actions.
- In subsection 4.2 we apply the matching condition, eq. (2.27), to determine the Wilson coefficients.
- In subsection 4.3 we show the direct computation of the Wilson coefficient $c_{S,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$ using the non-local action $S_{\text{UV}}(\psi, \Phi_c[\psi])$, following the general procedure described in section 3.

Finally, we mention that the lecture notes [41] analyze this Yukawa model in detail using diagrammatic methods, and serve as a complementary text to this section.

4.1 Computing the 1LPI effective actions

In this subsection we compute the 1LPI effective actions $\Gamma_{L,UV}$ and $\Gamma_{L,EFT}$ at tree and one-loop level. In obtaining the effective actions we will expand in powers of m^2/M^2 and keep only the leading order in this expansion. For loop calculations we work in the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ renormalization scheme.

4.1.1 Tree-level

As discussed around eq. (2.32a), the tree-level 1LPI effective action of the UV theory is simply obtained by solving $\delta S_{\rm UV}/\delta\Phi = 0$ to obtain

$$\Phi_c\left[\psi\right] = \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \lambda \bar{\psi} \psi, \qquad (4.3)$$



Figure 1. One-loop diagrams contributing to the 1LPI effective action in the UV theory. Solid lines represent fermions, dashed lines scalars.

and then plugging this back into the Lagrangian,

$$\Gamma_{\rm L,UV}^{(0)}\left[\psi\right] = S_{\rm UV}\left[\psi, \Phi_c\left[\psi\right]\right] = \int d^4x \left[\bar{\psi}\left(i\partial \!\!\!/ - m\right)\psi - \frac{1}{2}\lambda^2\bar{\psi}\psi\frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2}\bar{\psi}\psi\right]. \tag{4.4}$$

For the EFT, the 1LPI effective action is simply the tree-level piece of the EFT action (eq. (2.35a)):

$$\Gamma_{\rm L,EFT}^{(0)}\left[\psi\right] = S_{\rm EFT}^{(0)}\left[\psi\right] = \int d^4x \left[\bar{\psi}\left(i\partial\!\!\!/ - m\right)\psi + \frac{1}{2}c_S^{(0)}\left(\bar{\psi}\psi\right)^2\right].$$
(4.5)

4.1.2 One-loop in the UV theory

The one-loop 1LPI in the UV theory contains diagrams with both heavy and light fields, see figure 1. In the functional approach, following the discussion of section 2.3, to obtain $\Gamma_{L,UV}^{(1)}[\psi]$ we take the second variation of $\mathcal{L}_{UV}(\psi, \Phi)$

$$\delta^{2} \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{UV}}(\psi, \Phi) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\delta \Phi \ \delta \psi^{T} \ \delta \bar{\psi} \right) \begin{pmatrix} A & \bar{\Gamma} & -\Gamma^{T} \\ -\bar{\Gamma}^{T} & 0 & -B^{T} \\ \Gamma & B & 0 \end{pmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} \delta \Phi \\ \delta \psi \\ \delta \bar{\psi}^{T} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (4.6)$$

where

$$A = -\partial^2 - M^2, \quad B = i\partial \!\!\!/ - m - \lambda \Phi_c, \quad \Gamma = -\lambda \psi, \quad \overline{\Gamma} = -\lambda \overline{\psi}. \tag{4.7}$$

This is the first time in this paper that we take functional derivatives with respect to fields of mixed statistics. So let us proceed slowly for clarity. From eq. (2.32b), we know that the one-loop 1LPI effective action $\Gamma_{L,UV}^{(1)}$ should be proportional to the determinant of the above matrix. However, what should be the proper pre-factor? We know that the "i/2" in eq. (2.32b) needs to be appropriately tailored for each field. But in eq. (4.6) there are both the scalar field Φ and the fermionic fields $(\psi, \bar{\psi}^T)$.

If the functional derivative matrix were block diagonal, i.e. $\Gamma = \overline{\Gamma} = 0$, it would be straightforward to obtain the appropriate expression of eq. (2.32b). In this case, the scalar block and the fermionic block would decouple, and we would obtain

$$\Gamma_{\mathrm{L,UV}}^{(1)}\left[\psi\right] = \frac{i}{2}\log\det\left(-A\right) - \frac{i}{2}\log\det\left[-\begin{pmatrix}0 & -B^T\\B & 0\end{pmatrix}\right].$$
(4.8)

Note that we have -i/2 here for the second term, instead of the usual -i. This is because in the way of taking the functional derivative in eq. (4.6), we have paired the two degrees of freedom ψ and $\overline{\psi}$ into one, bigger vector:

$$\chi = \begin{pmatrix} \delta \psi \\ \delta \bar{\psi}^T \end{pmatrix}, \tag{4.9}$$

which means we are reinterpreting the path integral from two integrals into one integral:

$$\int D\bar{\psi}D\psi \exp\left[i\delta\bar{\psi}\left(\frac{\delta^2 S}{\delta\bar{\psi}\delta\psi}\right)\delta\psi\right] = \int D\chi \exp\left[i\frac{1}{2}\delta\chi^T\left(\frac{\delta^2 S}{\delta\chi^2}\right)\delta\chi\right],\tag{4.10}$$

and hence the factor 1/2.

Eq. (4.8) would have been nice, but the reality in eq. (4.6) is that $\Gamma \neq 0$. However, we can first make the functional matrix in eq. (4.6) block diagonal by changing basis, which amounts to a Gaussian elimination operation on the matrix:¹⁹

$$\begin{pmatrix} A & \bar{\Gamma} & -\Gamma^{T} \\ -\bar{\Gamma}^{T} & 0 & -B^{T} \\ \Gamma & B & 0 \end{pmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} A - \bar{\Gamma}B^{-1}\Gamma & 0 & -\Gamma^{T} \\ -\bar{\Gamma}^{T} & 0 & -B^{T} \\ \Gamma & B & 0 \end{pmatrix} \rightarrow \begin{pmatrix} A - \bar{\Gamma}B^{-1}\Gamma + \Gamma^{T}B^{T-1}\bar{\Gamma}^{T} & 0 & 0 \\ -\bar{\Gamma}^{T} & 0 & -B^{T} \\ \Gamma & B & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.11)

Now we can make use of eq. (4.8). This is the general way we proceed with for functional determinants of mixed statistics.²⁰

Using eq. (4.8) on the matrix in eq. (4.11), we get

$$\Gamma_{\rm L,UV}^{(1)}[\psi] = \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left(-A + \bar{\Gamma} B^{-1} \Gamma - \Gamma^T B^{T-1} \bar{\Gamma}^T \right) - \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left[- \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -B^T \\ B & 0 \end{pmatrix} \right]$$
(4.12)
$$= \frac{i}{2} \underbrace{\log \det[-A]}_{(i)} - i \underbrace{\log \det[-B]}_{(ii)} + \frac{i}{2} \underbrace{\log \det[1 - A^{-1} \bar{\Gamma} B^{-1} \Gamma + A^{-1} \Gamma^T B^{-1T} \bar{\Gamma}^T]}_{(iii)}.$$

Let us briefly examine these three terms. The first term, $\log \det[-A] = \operatorname{Tr} \log[\partial^2 + M^2]$, is trivial and only affects the normalization of the path integral. The last two terms contain non-trivial contributions to the effective action. Figure 2 shows how the Feynman diagrams in the full theory are reinterpreted in the functional calculation. The first diagram of figure 2 lies within term (ii), while the diagrams involving both heavy and light propagators lie in term (iii).

$$\Gamma_{\mathrm{L},\mathrm{UV}}^{(1)}\left[\psi\right] \propto \log \operatorname{Sdet} \left(\begin{array}{cc} A & \bar{\Gamma} & -\Gamma^{T} \\ -\bar{\Gamma}^{T} & 0 & -B^{T} \\ \Gamma & B & 0 \end{array} \right) = \operatorname{STr} \log \left(\begin{array}{cc} A & \bar{\Gamma} & -\Gamma^{T} \\ -\bar{\Gamma}^{T} & 0 & -B^{T} \\ \Gamma & B & 0 \end{array} \right),$$

where "Sdet" is the superdeterminant, "STr" is the supertrace. The functional trace can be written in a form $\operatorname{STr}\log(\tilde{D}^2 + Y)$ where $\tilde{D}_{\mu} = D_{\mu} - iX_{\mu}$ with X_{μ} and Y supermatrices. It would be interesting (and likely straightforward) to generalize the CDE procedure for evaluating the determinant of elliptic operators to evaluating superdeterminants of "super elliptic operators".

¹⁹This is equivalent to completing the square on the fermionic fields then performing a linear shift. This shift matrix diagnolizes (4.6).

²⁰This prescription can be more elegantly summarized into a definition of a new determinant, called "superdeterminant" (e.g. [42]), where one stipulates different statistics for different blocks of the "supermatrix". With this new definition, our 1LPI effective action can be written as [42]:



Figure 2. How the diagrams of figure 1 appear in the functional evaluation of $\Gamma_{L,UV}^{(1)}[\psi]$. Here, external fermion lines correspond to $\psi, \bar{\psi}$, internal fermions to $\delta\psi, \delta\bar{\psi}$, dashed lines to $\delta\Phi$, while the cross denotes an insertion of Φ_c .

Evaluating term (ii)

$$(ii): -i\log\det[-B] = -i\operatorname{Tr}\log[-i\partial + m + \lambda\Phi_c(x)]$$
(4.13)

The evaluation of this determinant is fairly simple because it can be converted into the functional determinant of an elliptic operator of the sort in subsection 2.2.1. This allows us to apply the universal results in eq. (2.20).

From eq. (2.24), we have $U_{\text{ferm}} = -i\partial F + 2mF + F^2$ with $F = \lambda \Phi_c \approx -\lambda^2 \overline{\psi} \psi/M^2$, which we then plug into the universal formula. $(\overline{\psi}\psi)^2$ is clearly only contained in the tr U_{ferm} and tr U_{ferm}^2 terms of eq. (2.20). It is apparent that to leading order in m^2/M^2 , these terms vanish. Hence,

$$\Gamma_{\rm L,UV,(ii)}^{(1)} = 0. \tag{4.14}$$

Evaluating term (iii). To compute term (iii) we expand the logarithm and then evaluate the functional traces:

$$\frac{i}{2}\log\det[1 - A^{-1}\overline{\Gamma}B^{-1}\Gamma + A^{-1}\Gamma^{T}B^{-1T}\overline{\Gamma}^{T}] = -\frac{i}{2}\sum_{n=1}^{\infty}\frac{1}{n}\mathrm{Tr}\big[(A^{-1}\overline{\Gamma}B^{-1}\Gamma - A^{-1}\Gamma^{T}B^{-1T}\overline{\Gamma}^{T})^{n}\big].$$
(4.15)

As $\Gamma \propto \psi$, keeping the first two terms is sufficient for our purposes:

(iiia):
$$-i\operatorname{Tr}\left[A^{-1}\overline{\Gamma}B^{-1}\Gamma\right],$$
 (4.16)

(iiib):
$$-\frac{i}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left[(A^{-1} \overline{\Gamma} B^{-1} \Gamma)^2 - A^{-1} \overline{\Gamma} B^{-1} \Gamma A^{-1} \Gamma^T B^{-1T} \overline{\Gamma}^T \right],$$
 (4.17)

where we have used transposition and cyclic properties of the trace (keeping appropriate track of signs when exchanging fermions) and $A^{-1T} = A^{-1}$.

Term (iiia). We can evaluate the trace in term (iiia) by using the techniques of appendix A. To bring it to traces of the sort in eq. (A.7), we expand the fermion propagator,

$$\frac{1}{i\partial - m - \lambda \Phi_c} = \frac{1}{i\partial - m} + \frac{1}{i\partial - m} \lambda \Phi_c \frac{1}{i\partial - m} + \dots,$$

so that the trace contains

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\frac{1}{-\partial^{2}-M^{2}}\overline{\Gamma}\frac{i\partial\!\!\!/+m}{-\partial^{2}-m^{2}}\Gamma + \frac{1}{-\partial^{2}-M^{2}}\overline{\Gamma}\frac{i\partial\!\!\!/+m}{-\partial^{2}-m^{2}}\lambda\Phi_{c}\frac{i\partial\!\!\!/+m}{-\partial^{2}-m^{2}}\right].$$
(4.18)

We evaluate these traces following the general prescription of eq. (A.1), doing the derivative expansion, and then evaluating the momentum integrals. For the first trace in the above equation, this procedure gives:

$$\begin{split} \int d^4x \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{(i\partial - p)^2 - M^2} \bar{\Gamma} \frac{(i\partial - p) + m}{(i\partial - p)^2 - m^2} \Gamma \\ & \supset \int d^4x \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{p^2 - M^2} \bar{\Gamma} \frac{1}{p^2 - m^2} \left(1 + \frac{2ip \cdot \partial}{p^2 - m^2} \right) (i\partial - p + m) \Gamma \\ & = \int d^4x \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \left(\frac{m\bar{\Gamma}\Gamma + \bar{\Gamma}i\partial\Gamma}{(p^2 - M^2)(p^2 - m^2)} - \frac{2p_{\mu}p_{\nu}(\bar{\Gamma}i\gamma^{\mu}\partial^{\nu}\Gamma)}{(p^2 - M^2)(p^2 - m^2)^2} \right) \\ & = \frac{i}{(4\pi)^2} \int d^4x \left(-\log \frac{M^2}{\mu^2} + 1 \right) m\bar{\Gamma}\Gamma + \frac{1}{2} \left(-\log \frac{M^2}{\mu^2} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \cdot \bar{\Gamma}i\partial\!\!\!/\Gamma. \end{split}$$

In the derivative expansion of the second line, we kept only linear order in derivatives and dropped total derivatives. In evaluating the momentum integrals in the last line we kept only the leading order terms in m^2/M^2 .

The evaluation of the second trace in eq. (4.18) proceeds similarly:

$$\int d^4x \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{(i\partial - p)^2 - M^2} \overline{\Gamma} \frac{(i\partial - p) + m}{(i\partial - p)^2 - m^2} \lambda \Phi_c \Gamma \frac{(i\partial - p) + m}{(i\partial - p)^2 - m^2}$$
$$\supset \int d^4x \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{(p^2 + m^2)\lambda \Phi_c \overline{\Gamma} \Gamma}{(p^2 - M^2)(p^2 - m^2)^2}$$
$$= \frac{i}{(4\pi)^2} \int d^4x \left(-\log \frac{M^2}{\mu^2} + 1 \right) \lambda \Phi_c \overline{\Gamma} \Gamma.$$

Again, we have kept only the leading term in m^2/M^2 expansion (note that this allows us in the second line to drop the term proportional to m^2 , which saves some work).

Plugging in $\Phi_c \approx -\lambda \overline{\psi} \psi/M^2$, $\Gamma = -\lambda \psi$, $\overline{\Gamma} = -\lambda \overline{\psi}$, we find in the end

$$\Gamma_{\mathrm{L,UV},(iiia)}^{(1)} \supset \int d^4x \Biggl\{ \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{\lambda^2}{2} \left(-\log \frac{M^2}{\mu^2} + \frac{1}{2} \right) \left(\bar{\psi} i \partial \!\!\!/ \psi \right) + \frac{\lambda^2}{(4\pi)^2} \left(-\log \frac{M^2}{\mu^2} + 1 \right) \left(m \bar{\psi} \psi \right) + \frac{2}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{\lambda^4}{M^2} \left(\log \frac{M^2}{\mu^2} - 1 \right) \frac{1}{2} \left(\bar{\psi} \psi \right)^2 \Biggr\}.$$
(4.19)

Term (iiib). Evaluating (iiib) proceeds very similarly to the previous evaluation of $\operatorname{Tr}(A^{-1}\overline{\Gamma}B^{-1}\Gamma)$. However, since the present term is already order $(\overline{\Gamma}\Gamma)^2 \propto (\overline{\psi}\psi)^2$, we can take $1/(i\partial - m - \lambda\Phi_c) \approx 1/(i\partial - m)$ for the calculation. For the first term of eq. (4.17),

$$-\frac{i}{2} \operatorname{Tr}\left[(A^{-1}\overline{\Gamma}B^{-1}\Gamma)^2 \right] \approx -\frac{i}{2} \int d^4x \, \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \, \frac{1}{p^2 - M^2} \frac{\overline{\Gamma}(-\not\!\!p+m)\Gamma}{p^2 - m^2} \frac{1}{p^2 - M^2} \frac{\overline{\Gamma}(-\not\!\!p+m)\Gamma}{p^2 - m^2} \\ = -\frac{i}{2} \int d^4x \, \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \, \frac{m^2(\overline{\Gamma}\Gamma)^2 + p_\mu p_\nu(\overline{\Gamma}\gamma^\mu\Gamma)(\overline{\Gamma}\gamma^\nu\Gamma)}{(p^2 - M^2)^2(p^2 - m^2)^2}.$$
(4.20)

In the first line, we followed the prescription of eq. (A.1) and then took the zeroth order in the derivative expansion since the above is already proportional to $(\bar{\Gamma}\Gamma)^2 \propto (\bar{\psi}\psi)^2$.



Figure 3. How the diagrams of figure 1 appear in the functional evaluation of $\Gamma_{L,EFT}^{(1)}[\psi]$. In order to follow the flow of fermion number, the four-fermion vertices intentionally do not touch.

Similarly for the second term of eq. (4.17)

$$\begin{split} &\frac{i}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \Big[A^{-1} \overline{\Gamma} B^{-1} \Gamma A^{-1} \Gamma^{T} B^{-1T} \overline{\Gamma}^{T} \Big] \\ &\approx \frac{i}{2} \int d^{4} x \, \frac{d^{4} p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \, \frac{1}{p^{2} - M^{2}} \frac{\overline{\Gamma}(-\not \!\!\!\!/ + m) \Gamma}{p^{2} - m^{2}} \frac{1}{p^{2} - M^{2}} \frac{\Gamma^{T}(\not \!\!\!\!/ p^{T} + m) \overline{\Gamma}^{T}}{p^{2} - m^{2}} \\ &= -\frac{i}{2} \int d^{4} x \, \frac{d^{4} p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \, \frac{m^{2} (\overline{\Gamma} \Gamma)^{2} - p_{\mu} p_{\nu} (\overline{\Gamma} \gamma^{\mu} \Gamma) (\overline{\Gamma} \gamma^{\nu} \Gamma)}{(p^{2} - M^{2})^{2} (p^{2} - m^{2})^{2}}, \end{split}$$
(4.21)

where we have used $(i\partial_{\mu})^{T} = -i\partial_{\mu}$ in the first line and $\Gamma^{T}\overline{\Gamma}^{T} = -\overline{\Gamma}\Gamma$, $\Gamma^{T}\gamma^{\mu}T\overline{\Gamma}^{T} = -\overline{\Gamma}\gamma^{\mu}\Gamma$ in the second line. Adding eqs. (4.20) and (4.21) we see the operator $(\overline{\psi}\gamma^{\mu}\psi)^{2}$ cancels as expected, since the heavy field Φ is a scalar — and we have

(iiib) =
$$-i \int d^4x \, \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \, \frac{m^2 (\bar{\Gamma}\Gamma)^2}{(p^2 - M^2)^2 (p^2 - m^2)^2}.$$

This term vanishes at leading order of m^2/M^2 , hence

$$\Gamma_{\rm L,UV,(iiib)}^{(1)} = 0. \tag{4.22}$$

Combining terms (i)–(iii). Gathering the results from eqs. (4.14), (4.19), and (4.22) we have

$$\Gamma_{\rm L,UV}^{(1)}[\psi] = \int d^4x \left\{ \bar{\psi} i \partial \!\!\!/ \psi \cdot \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{\lambda^2}{2} \left[-\log \frac{M^2}{\mu^2} + \frac{1}{2} \right] + m \bar{\psi} \psi \cdot \frac{\lambda^2}{(4\pi)^2} \left[-\log \frac{M^2}{\mu^2} + 1 \right] \right. \\ \left. + \frac{1}{2} (\bar{\psi} \psi)^2 \cdot \frac{2}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{\lambda^4}{M^2} \left[\log \frac{M^2}{\mu^2} - 1 \right] \right\}.$$
(4.23)

4.1.3 One-loop in the EFT

We now turn to computing $\Gamma_{L,EFT}^{(1)}[\psi]$. The diagrams relevant to determining $(\bar{\psi}\psi)^2$ are shown in figure 3—they are simply the shrinking of the scalar propagators in figure 1. Following the functional approach in section 2.3, specifically eq. (2.35b), we see that there are two pieces in $\Gamma_{L,EFT}^{(1)}[\psi]$. The first piece is simply

$$\Gamma_{\rm L,EFT}^{(1)}[\psi] \supset S_{\rm EFT}^{(1)}[\psi] = \int d^4x \left[\frac{1}{2}c_S^{(1)}(\bar{\psi}\psi)^2\right].$$
(4.24)

To compute the second piece, we take the second variation of $\mathcal{L}_{EFT}^{(0)}(\psi)$

$$\delta^{2} \mathcal{L}_{\rm EFT}^{(0)}(\psi) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\delta \bar{\psi} \ \delta \psi^{T} \right) \left[\begin{pmatrix} i \partial \!\!\!/ - m & 0 \\ 0 & - \left(i \partial \!\!\!/ - m \right)^{T} \end{pmatrix} - F \right] \begin{pmatrix} \delta \psi \\ \delta \bar{\psi}^{T} \end{pmatrix}, \tag{4.25}$$

where

$$F \equiv c_S^{(0)} \begin{pmatrix} -(\bar{\psi}\psi) - \psi\bar{\psi} & \psi\psi^T \\ \bar{\psi}^T\bar{\psi} & (\bar{\psi}\psi) - \bar{\psi}^T\psi^T \end{pmatrix}.$$
(4.26)

Then following eq. (2.32b), we obtain

$$\Gamma_{\mathrm{L,EFT}}^{(1)}\left[\psi\right] \supset -\frac{i}{2}\log\det\left[\left(\begin{array}{cc}i\partial & 0\\ 0 & -(i\partial)^{T}\end{array}\right) - m\sigma_{3} - F\right],$$

where σ_3 is the Pauli matrix. As before (see the discussion around eq. (4.8)), the proper prefactor is -i/2 instead of -i. This determinant can again be converted into the functional determinant of an elliptic operator, which allows us to immediately apply the universal results in eq. (2.20). Although it is straightforward, let us show how to do this conversion for purpose of pedagogy.

The trace is invariant under flipping the sign of γ^{μ} matrices, so we may write

$$\Gamma_{\mathrm{L,EFT}}^{(1)} \left[\psi\right] = -\frac{i}{4} \left\{ \log \det \left[\begin{pmatrix} -i\partial & 0\\ 0 & (i\partial)^T \end{pmatrix} - m\sigma_3 - F \right] + \log \det \left[\begin{pmatrix} i\partial & 0\\ 0 & -(i\partial)^T \end{pmatrix} - m\sigma_3 - F \right] \right\}$$
$$= -\frac{i}{4} \log \det \left[\begin{pmatrix} \partial^2 & 0\\ 0 & \partial^{T2} \end{pmatrix} + \begin{pmatrix} m^2 & 0\\ 0 & m^2 \end{pmatrix} + U \right],$$

with

$$U \equiv m\{\sigma_3, F\} + F^2 + \left[\begin{pmatrix} i \partial & 0\\ 0 & -(i \partial)^T \end{pmatrix}, F \right].$$
(4.27)

Here, $\partial^2 = \partial^{T^2} = \partial^2$.²¹

Now we are in a position to immediately apply the universal formula eq. (2.20). Up to dimension-six, we have

$$\Gamma_{\rm L,EFT}^{(1)}\left[\psi\right] \supset -\frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{1}{4} \left[-\left(\log\frac{m^2}{\mu^2} - 1\right) m^2 {\rm tr} \, U - \left(\log\frac{m^2}{\mu^2}\right) \frac{1}{2} {\rm tr} \, U^2 \right].$$
(4.28)

Up to dimension-six operators we can ignore the $[\partial, F]$ and take $U = m\{\sigma_3, F\} + F^2$. The traces are easy to evaluate,²²

$$m^{2} \operatorname{tr} U = 8m^{2}c_{S}^{2} \cdot \frac{1}{2}(\bar{\psi}\psi)^{2},$$

$$\frac{1}{2} \operatorname{tr} U^{2} \supset \frac{m^{2}}{2} \operatorname{tr} \{\sigma_{3}, F\}^{2} = 8m^{2}c_{S}^{2} \cdot \frac{1}{2}(\bar{\psi}\psi)^{2},$$

²¹More generally, for a covariant derivative $D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - igA_{\mu}$, the \not{D}^2 would contain a piece proportional to $[D_{\mu}, D_{\nu}]$, which would be added to the definition of U as in eq. (2.24).

²²For example, $\{\sigma_3, F\} = 2c_S \begin{pmatrix} -(\overline{\psi}\psi) - \psi\overline{\psi} & 0\\ 0 & (\overline{\psi}\psi) - \overline{\psi}^T \psi^T \end{pmatrix}$ so that

$$\operatorname{tr}\{\sigma_{3},F\}^{2} = 4c_{S}^{2}\operatorname{tr}\left(\begin{array}{c} (\bar{\psi}\psi)^{2} + 3(\bar{\psi}\psi)\psi\bar{\psi} & 0\\ 0 & (\bar{\psi}\psi)^{2} - 3(\bar{\psi}\psi)\bar{\psi}^{T}\psi^{T} \end{array}\right)$$
$$= 4c_{S}^{2}\left[(\bar{\psi}\psi)^{2}(4-3) + (\bar{\psi}\psi)^{2}(4-3)\right] = 8c_{S}^{2}(\bar{\psi}\psi)^{2},$$

where we used identities such as tr $\psi \overline{\psi} = -(\overline{\psi} \psi)$ and $(\psi^T \overline{\psi}^T) = -(\overline{\psi} \psi)$.

and we obtain

$$\Gamma_{\rm L,EFT}^{(1)}[\psi] \supset \frac{1}{2} (\bar{\psi}\psi)^2 \cdot \frac{2}{(4\pi)^2} m^2 c_S^2 \left(2\log\frac{m^2}{\mu^2} - 1 \right) \,. \tag{4.29}$$

We see that this term vanishes at leading order of m^2/M^2 . So the one-loop 1LPI is purely given by eq. (4.24):

$$\Gamma_{\rm L,EFT}^{(1)}[\psi] = \int d^4x \left[\frac{1}{2} c_S^{(1)} \left(\bar{\psi} \psi \right)^2 \right].$$
(4.30)

4.2 Matching

To match the UV theory onto the EFT we use the matching condition (i.e. eq. (2.27)),

$$\Gamma_{\rm L,EFT}[\psi](c,\mu=M) = \Gamma_{\rm L,UV}[\psi](\lambda,\mu=M),$$

to determine the Wilson coefficients. At tree-level this is very easy and the result is:

$$c_S^{(0)} = \frac{\lambda^2}{M^2},$$
(4.31)

At one-loop we equalize $\Gamma_{L,UV}^{(1)}$ and $\Gamma_{L,EFT}^{(1)}$ given in eqs. (4.23) and (4.30). Let us focus on the dimension-six operator $\mathcal{O}_S = (\bar{\psi}\psi)^2/2$. Using $c_S^{(0)} = \lambda^2/M^2$, $\Gamma_{L,EFT}^{(1)} = \Gamma_{L,UV}^{(1)}$ gives

$$c_S^{(1)} = -\frac{2}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{\lambda^4}{M^2}.$$
(4.32)

In summary, we find that the Wilson coefficient up to one-loop order is

$$c_S = \frac{\lambda^2}{M^2} \left(1 - \frac{\lambda^2}{8\pi^2} \right). \tag{4.33}$$

This result is in agreement with the calculation in [41]. As is seen from figure 1, there is no one-loop contribution to c_S with only heavy fields as the propagators. So the components of our c_S should be $c_S^{(0)} = \frac{\lambda^2}{M^2}$, $c_{S,\text{heavy}}^{(1)} = 0$, and $c_{S,\text{mixed}}^{(1)} = -\frac{2}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{\lambda^4}{M^2}$.

4.3 Directly computing $c_{S,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$

In this subsection, we make use of the technique described in section 3.1 to directly compute $c_{S,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$. This is the same routine we did in sections 3.2 and 3.3. We first compute the non-local Lagrangian $\mathcal{L}_{\text{UV}}(\psi, \Phi_c[\psi])$:

$$\Phi_{c}\left[\psi\right] = \frac{1}{-\partial^{2} - M^{2}}\lambda\bar{\psi}\psi,$$
$$\mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{UV}}\left(\psi, \Phi_{c}\left[\psi\right]\right) = \bar{\psi}\left(i\partial \!\!\!/ - m\right)\psi - \frac{1}{2}\lambda^{2}\bar{\psi}\psi\frac{1}{-\partial^{2} - M^{2}}\bar{\psi}\psi,$$

and then take its second functional variation:

$$\delta^{2} \mathcal{L}_{\mathrm{UV}}\left(\psi, \Phi_{c}\left[\psi\right]\right) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\delta\psi^{T} \ \delta\bar{\psi}\right) \left(\begin{array}{c}\lambda^{2}a & -\left(i\partial - m + \lambda^{2}b\right)^{T}\\ i\partial - m + \lambda^{2}b & \lambda^{2}c\end{array}\right) \left(\begin{array}{c}\delta\psi\\\delta\bar{\psi}^{T}\end{array}\right), \quad (4.34)$$

where

$$\begin{split} a &\equiv \bar{\psi}^T \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \bar{\psi}, \\ b &\equiv -\left(\frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \bar{\psi} \psi\right)_x - \psi \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \psi^T, \\ c &\equiv \psi \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \psi^T. \end{split}$$

We remind the reader that the notation $(...)_x$ means the quantity is an eigenstate of $|x\rangle$, which means in practice that the derivatives only act within the parentheses — see the discussion around eq. (3.26). According to our master result eq. (3.17), we have

$$S_{\text{EFT,mixed}}^{(1)} [\psi] = -\frac{i}{2} \log \det \begin{pmatrix} \lambda^2 a & -(i\partial - m + \lambda^2 b)^T \\ i\partial - m + \lambda^2 b & \lambda^2 c \end{pmatrix}_{d} \\ \supset \frac{i}{2} \lambda^4 \text{Tr} \begin{cases} \frac{1}{M^4} \frac{1}{i\partial - m} \bar{\psi} \psi \frac{1}{i\partial - m} \bar{\psi} \psi + \frac{2}{M^2} \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \bar{\psi} \frac{1}{i\partial - m} \bar{\psi} \psi \frac{1}{i\partial - m} \psi \\ -\frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \bar{\psi} \frac{1}{i\partial - m} \psi \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \bar{\psi} \frac{1}{i\partial - m} \psi \\ +\frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \bar{\psi} \frac{1}{i\partial - m} \psi \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \psi^T \left(\frac{1}{i\partial - m}\right)^T \bar{\psi}^T \end{cases} \right\}_{d} \\ = \frac{i}{2} \frac{\lambda^4}{M^4} \text{Tr} \begin{cases} 2 \frac{-\partial^2}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \bar{\psi} \frac{1}{i\partial - m} \bar{\psi} \psi \frac{1}{i\partial - m} \psi \\ +2 \frac{-\partial^2}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \bar{\psi} \frac{1}{i\partial - m} \psi \psi^T \left(\frac{1}{i\partial - m}\right)^T \bar{\psi}^T \\ -2 \frac{-\partial^2}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \bar{\psi} \frac{1}{i\partial - m} \psi \psi^T \left(\frac{1}{i\partial - m}\right)^T \bar{\psi}^T \\ -\frac{-\partial^2}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \bar{\psi} \frac{1}{i\partial - m} \psi \frac{-\partial^2}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \bar{\psi} \frac{1}{i\partial - m} \psi \\ +\frac{-\partial^2}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \bar{\psi} \frac{1}{i\partial - m} \psi \frac{-\partial^2}{-\partial^2 - M^2} \bar{\psi} \frac{1}{i\partial - m} \psi \end{cases} \right\}.$$
(4.35)

After evaluating all of these functional traces using the CDE techniques of appendix A, we get

$$S_{\text{EFT,mixed}}^{(1)}\left[\psi\right] = \int d^4x \left[\frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{-\lambda^4}{M^2} (\bar{\psi}\psi)^2\right],\tag{4.36}$$

which gives

$$c_{S,\text{mixed}}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{-2\lambda^4}{M^2}.$$
 (4.37)

This agrees with our result in section 4.2.

5 RG running by functional methods

While all of the previous sections have focused on how to use functional methods to match a UV theory onto an EFT, in this section we will discuss a slightly different — but closely related — topic: how to do running analysis for an EFT with functional methods. RG evolution is very important for an EFT since, by definition, an EFT is intended for studying low-energy physics. After obtaining the EFT at the matching scale M, one uses it to study physics processes at a much lower scale $v \ll M$. To do so, the Wilson coefficients $c_i(\mu = M)$ need to be evolved down to the scale $\mu = v$ using the renormalization group equation (RGE). Suppose we have an EFT

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{EFT}}(\phi) = \mathcal{L}_{\phi}(\phi) + \sum_{i} c_{i}(\mu) \mathcal{O}_{i}(\phi), \qquad (5.1)$$

where \mathcal{L}_{ϕ} denotes the renormalizable part, while \mathcal{O}_i are higher dimensional operators. In this case, the Wilson coefficients c_i have negative mass dimension, meaning they are suppressed by certain powers of M viewed from low energy scale v. Then to the leading order of v/M, the one-loop RGE has the generic linear form

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} c_i(\mu) = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \sum_j \gamma_{ij} c_j.$$
 (5.2)

This equation is governed by the anomalous dimension matrix γ_{ij} which, by simple dimensional analysis, is only a function of the marginal couplings of \mathcal{L}_{ϕ} . Solving this RGE, the relation between $c_i(\mu = v)$ and $c_i(\mu = M)$ is

$$c_i(v) = c_i(M) + \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \sum_j \gamma_{ij} c_j(M) \log \frac{v}{M}.$$

In this section, we will show how to obtain the RGE by functional methods, as well as how to use it to obtain $c_i(\mu = v)$. We first describe in subsection 5.1 how to obtain one-loop RGE by functional methods for general theories. This applies broadly to QFT, and is not limited to EFT. We then give two explicit examples in subsections 5.2 and 5.3 of computing the RGE in the scalar EFT and the four-fermion EFT considered earlier in this work. Finally, in subsection 5.4, we show how to obtain the low-energy Wilson coefficients of the electroweak triplet scalar model by using the (known) anomalous dimension matrix of the SM EFT.

5.1 One-loop running with functional methods

Suppose we are interested in the coefficient (coupling) λ of an operator \mathcal{O}_{λ} in the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}(\phi) \supset \mathcal{O}_{K}(\phi) + \lambda \mathcal{O}_{\lambda}(\phi), \qquad (5.3)$$

where ϕ collectively denotes all the fields as before and \mathcal{O}_K collectively denotes all the kinetic terms, canonically normalized. The procedure of deriving the one-loop RGE of λ with functional methods is very simple. One first computes the 1PI effective action $\Gamma[\phi]$ to one-loop order, from the result of which one can identify the coefficients of the kinetic terms a_K and that of the operator of interest a_{λ} :

$$\Gamma[\phi] \supset \int d^4x \left[a_k(\mu) \mathcal{O}_K(\phi) + a_\lambda(\mu) \mathcal{O}_\lambda(\phi) \right].$$
(5.4)

Next, one canonically normalizes all kinetic terms by appropriate rescalings of the fields,

$$\Gamma[\phi] \to \left[\mathcal{O}_K(\phi) + a'_\lambda(\mu) \mathcal{O}_\lambda(\phi)\right].$$
(5.5)

Then, the one-loop RGE of λ is simply given by

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} a'_{\lambda} \left(\mu\right) = 0. \tag{5.6}$$

The above procedure is rather general, and can be used to compute the RGE for any perturbative QFT. When specifically applied to a linearly realized EFT, such as the SM EFT, we pick $\lambda(\mu) = c_i(\mu)$ and the typical form of a'_{λ} in eq. (5.5) is

$$a'_{\lambda}(\mu) = c_i(\mu) - \frac{1}{2} \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \sum_j \gamma_{ij} c_j^{(0)} \log \frac{\mu^2}{m^2}.$$
(5.7)

Here the first term comes from the action piece $S_{\rm EFT}[\phi]$, and the second term comes from the functional determinant $\frac{i}{2} \log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm EFT}^{(0)}[\phi]}{\delta \phi^2}\right)$,²³ with m^2 collectively denoting the IR scales in the EFT. Note that the contributions to a'_{λ} due to the rescaling from eq. (5.4) to eq. (5.5) are also absorbed into the second term above. One can do this because $a_k(\mu)$ in eq. (5.4) differs from 1 only by a one-loop sized quantity. Now applying eq. (5.6) on eq. (5.7), we obtain the generic linear mixing form of the RGE in an EFT:

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} c_i(\mu) = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \sum_j \gamma_{ij} c_j^{(0)}.$$
(5.8)

5.2 Toy scalar model

Let us take the toy scalar model of section 3.2 as our first example. In this model, the EFT that we match onto is of the form

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm EFT}(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}\phi \left(-\partial^2 - m^2\right)\phi - \frac{\kappa}{4!}\phi^4 + c_6\phi^6.$$
 (5.9)

We want the RGE for the Wilson coefficient c_6 . Following the prescription outlined above, we need to compute the one-loop 1PI effective action,

$$\Gamma_{\rm EFT}\left[\phi\right] = S_{\rm EFT}\left[\phi\right] + \frac{i}{2}\log\det\left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm EFT}\left[\phi\right]}{\delta\phi^2}\right).$$

The first term is trivial. For the second term, we take the functional derivative and get

$$\frac{i}{2}\log\det\left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm EFT}\left[\phi\right]}{\delta\phi^2}\right) = \frac{i}{2}\log\det\left(\partial^2 + m^2 + \frac{\kappa}{2}\phi^2 - 30c_6\phi^4\right) \tag{5.10a}$$

$$\supset \frac{i}{2} \operatorname{Tr} \log \left(1 - \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2} \frac{\kappa}{2} \phi^2 + \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2} 30 c_6 \phi^4 \right). \quad (5.10b)$$

As the functional determinant is over an elliptic operator of the form $\partial^2 + m^2 + U(x)$, we can use the universal results in eq. (2.20) with $U = \kappa \phi^2/2 - 30c_6\phi^4$. For this specific example, this is the fastest route to obtaining the RGE.²⁴ To showcase methods that apply

²³See eq. (2.5) for the general structure of the effective action $\Gamma[\phi]$, and eq. (2.35) for a more concrete expression of $\Gamma_{\text{EFT}}[\phi] = \Gamma_{\text{L,EFT}}[\phi]$ in the case of an EFT.

²⁴The relevant piece for the RGE in this case is the ϕ^6 piece contained in the tr U^2 term of eq. (2.20).

more generally, however, we factor the logarithm as in the second line above and evaluate the trace using the CDE techniques described in appendix A.

Expanding the logarithm in eq. (5.10b) will generate a lot of terms. However, according to section 5.1, we only need two operators: the kinetic term $\mathcal{O}_K = \frac{1}{2}\phi \left(-\partial^2\right)\phi$ and $\mathcal{O}_6 = \phi^6$. These correspond to keeping terms with two powers and six powers of ϕ , respectively. For the terms with two powers of ϕ , there is only one candidate:

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(-\frac{1}{-\partial^2-m^2}\frac{\kappa}{2}\phi^2\right).$$

We have actually evaluated this functional trace in section 2.1.2, specifically in eqs. (2.8) and (2.9). We see that the result does not contain the kinetic operator $\mathcal{O}_K = \frac{1}{2}\phi \left(-\partial^2\right)\phi$. Therefore, we can drop this piece of functional trace.

Moving on to the terms with six powers of ϕ , we find two candidates

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(-\frac{1}{3}\frac{1}{-\partial^{2}-m^{2}}\frac{\kappa}{2}\phi^{2}\frac{1}{-\partial^{2}-m^{2}}\frac{\kappa}{2}\phi^{2}\frac{1}{-\partial^{2}-m^{2}}\frac{\kappa}{2}\phi^{2}\right),$$
$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\frac{1}{-\partial^{2}-m^{2}}\frac{\kappa}{2}\phi^{2}\frac{1}{-\partial^{2}-m^{2}}30c_{6}\phi^{4}\right).$$

The first term in the above is finite; namely, it does not depend on the RG scale μ explicitly and therefore does not contribute to the RGE. So we can drop this piece. Then the only piece left is the second line above. This functional trace is easily evaluated to find

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2}\frac{\kappa}{2}\phi^2 \frac{1}{-\partial^2 - m^2} 30c_6\phi^4\right) \supset \int d^4x \left\{ \left[\frac{i}{(4\pi)^2} 15\kappa c_6 \log \frac{\mu^2}{m^2}\right] \phi^6 \right\}.$$

Gathering the pieces, the 1PI effective action up to one-loop order is

$$\Gamma_{\rm EFT}[\phi] \supset \int d^4x \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \phi \left(-\partial^2 - m^2 \right) \phi - \frac{\kappa}{4!} \phi^4 + \left[c_6 + \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{-15\kappa c_6}{2} \log \frac{\mu^2}{m^2} \right] \phi^6 \right\}.$$
(5.11)

We derive the RGE of c_6 by requiring

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} \left[c_6 + \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{-15\kappa c_6}{2} \log \frac{\mu^2}{m^2} \right] = 0,$$

which gives

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} c_6 = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} 15\kappa c_6.$$
(5.12)

We identity the anomalous dimension matrix element $\gamma_{66} = 15\kappa$.

5.3 Yukawa model

As a second example, we study the running of the Wilson coefficient c_S in the EFT for the Yukawa model discussed in section 4. To make the running more interesting, we supplement it by a light scalar ϕ , which we assume to be degenerate with ψ for simplicity. The EFT Lagrangian is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{EFT}}(\psi,\phi) = \bar{\psi}\left(i\partial\!\!\!/ - m\right)\psi + \frac{1}{2}c_S\left(\bar{\psi}\psi\right)^2 + \frac{1}{2}\phi\left(-\partial^2 - m^2\right)\phi - y\phi\bar{\psi}\psi.$$
(5.13)

As before, we ignore other interactions for purpose of pedagogy.

To one-loop, the 1PI effective action is $\Gamma_{\rm EFT} = S_{\rm EFT} + \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left(-\delta^2 S_{\rm EFT} / \delta(\psi, \phi)^2 \right)$. To compute the loop contribution, we take the functional variation of the Lagrangian,

$$\delta^{2} \mathcal{L}_{\text{EFT}}(\psi,\phi) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\delta \phi \ \delta \psi^{T} \ \delta \bar{\psi} \right) \left[\begin{pmatrix} -\partial^{2} - m^{2} - y \bar{\psi} \ y \psi^{T} \\ y \bar{\psi}^{T} & 0 \ -B^{T} \\ -y \psi & B \ 0 \end{pmatrix} - F \right] \begin{pmatrix} \delta \phi \\ \delta \psi \\ \delta \bar{\psi}^{T} \end{pmatrix}, \quad (5.14)$$

where,

$$B \equiv i\partial \!\!\!/ - m - y\phi, \tag{5.15}$$

$$F \equiv c_S \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 0 & 0\\ 0 & \bar{\psi}^T \bar{\psi} & \bar{\psi} \psi - \bar{\psi}^T \psi^T\\ 0 & -\bar{\psi} \psi - \psi \bar{\psi} & \psi \psi^T \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.16)

We see that this functional derivative matrix is very similar to the one in eq. (4.6). We follow the same procedure described around eq. (4.6) to evaluate its functional determinant, and keep only the fermion kinetic operator $\bar{\psi}i\partial\!\!/\psi$ and the operator $\mathcal{O}_S \equiv \frac{1}{2} (\bar{\psi}\psi)^2$. These calculations are very similar to others contained in this work, so we omit the detailed steps. The end result for the 1PI effective action is

$$\Gamma_{\rm EFT} \left[\psi, \phi \right] \supset \int d^4x \Biggl\{ \overline{\psi} i \partial \!\!\!/ \psi \left(1 - \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{y^2}{2} \log \frac{m^2}{\mu^2} \right) + \frac{1}{2} (\overline{\psi} \psi)^2 \left[c_S + \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \left(2y^2 c_S \log \frac{m^2}{\mu^2} + 4m^2 c_S^2 \log \frac{m^2}{\mu^2} + \dots \right) \right] \Biggr\},$$
(5.17)

where the dots indicate one-loop finite terms, which cannot contribute to the RGE.

To get the RGE, we need to canonically normalize the kinetic term by rescaling ψ ,

$$\psi \to \frac{1}{\sqrt{1 - \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{y^2}{2} \log \frac{m^2}{\mu^2}}} \psi \approx \left[1 + \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{y^2}{4} \log \frac{m^2}{\mu^2} \right] \psi,$$
(5.18)

which rescales \mathcal{O}_S as

$$\frac{1}{2} \left(\bar{\psi} \psi \right)^2 \to \left[1 + \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} y^2 \log \frac{m^2}{\mu^2} \right] \frac{1}{2} \left(\bar{\psi} \psi \right)^2, \tag{5.19}$$

and shifts the second line of eq. (5.17) into

$$\frac{1}{2}(\bar{\psi}\psi)^2 \left[c_S + \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \left(3y^2 c_S \log \frac{m^2}{\mu^2} + 4m^2 c_S^2 \log \frac{m^2}{\mu^2} \right) \right].$$
(5.20)

The one-loop RGE of c_S is found by requiring that the term in brackets vanish upon taking the derivative $\frac{d}{d \log \mu}$. This gives

$$\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} c_S = \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \left(6y^2 c_S + 8m^2 c_S^2 \right).$$
(5.21)

Let us make a few brief physics comments. The second term is suppressed relative to the first by a factor $m^2 c_S \sim m^2/M^2 \ll 1$, and therefore is higher-order from the EFT point of view. From the leading order, i.e. the first term, we get the anomalous dimension matrix element

$$\gamma_{SS} = 6y^2, \tag{5.22}$$

in agreement with the calculation of [41].

5.4 Electroweak triplet scalar model

The anomalous dimension matrix for dimension-six operators in the SM EFT has been intensively studied [29–35]. In this section, we take the triplet scalar model discussed in section 3.3 and compute the Wilson coefficient $c_{HD}(\mu = v)$ at a scale v < M using the known γ_{ij} .

As we have computed in section 3.3, c_{HD} at the matching scale M is²⁵ (see eqs. (3.44) and (3.61))

$$c_{HD}(M) = -\frac{2\kappa^2}{M^4} + \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{\kappa^2}{M^4} \left(-\frac{3}{2}\lambda + 16\eta + 5\frac{\kappa^4}{M^2} \right).$$
(5.23)

Upon integrating the RGE, the Wilson coefficient at $\mu = v$ at leading order is given by

$$c_{HD}(v) = c_{HD}(M) + \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \sum_{j} \gamma_{ij} c_j^{(0)}(M) \log \frac{v}{M}.$$
 (5.24)

In the triplet scalar model, the relevant nonzero $c_j^{(0)}$ are given in eq. (3.44), which we reproduce here

$$c_{H}^{(0)} = \frac{2\kappa^{2}}{M^{4}} \frac{1}{2} \quad , \quad c_{HD}^{(0)} = -\frac{2\kappa^{2}}{M^{4}} \quad , \quad c_{R}^{(0)} = \frac{2\kappa^{2}}{M^{4}}.$$
 (5.25)

Therefore, to compute $c_{HD}(v)$ using eq. (5.24), we only need to know three elements of the anomalous dimension matrix: $\gamma_{H\to HD}$, $\gamma_{HD\to HD}$, and $\gamma_{R\to HD}$. These can be extracted from [35] (table 7) upon doing an operator basis transformation from $(\mathcal{O}_H, \mathcal{O}_T, \mathcal{O}_R)$ to $(\mathcal{O}_H, \mathcal{O}_{HD}, \mathcal{O}_R)$, with \mathcal{O}_T defined as

$$\mathcal{O}_T \equiv \frac{1}{2} \Big[H^{\dagger} \left(D_{\mu} H \right) - \left(D_{\mu} H^{\dagger} \right) H \Big]^2 = \mathcal{O}_H - 2\mathcal{O}_{HD}.$$
(5.26)

Performing this basis transformation, we obtain

$$\gamma_{H \to HD} = -3g_1^2, \tag{5.27}$$

$$\gamma_{HD \to HD} = 3\lambda - \frac{3}{2}g_1^2 + \frac{9}{2}g_2^2 + 12y_t^2, \qquad (5.28)$$

$$\gamma_{R \to HD} = 3g_1^2. \tag{5.29}$$

²⁵Here we take the kinetic term rescaled version of $c_{HD,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$.

In the above, SM Yukawa couplings other than top Yukawa y_t are neglected. Using these in eq. (5.24), we obtain

$$c_{HD}(v) = -\frac{2\kappa^2}{M^4} + \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{\kappa^2}{M^4} \left(-\frac{3}{2}\lambda + 16\eta + 5\frac{\kappa^2}{M^2} \right) - \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{2\kappa^2}{M^4} \left(3\lambda - 3g_1^2 + \frac{9}{2}g_2^2 + 12y_t^2 \right) \log \frac{v}{M}.$$
 (5.30)

This result is in agreement with [40] upon neglecting the gauge coupling term in the one-loop finite piece, and any Yukawa couplings other than y_t .²⁶

6 Summary of results

One-loop matching and running analyses are crucial steps in an EFT approach of studying low energy physics. In this paper, we discussed how to perform these analyses more efficiently using functional methods in a manifestly gauge-covariant fashion. We clarified a few basic concepts, developed some new computational techniques, and showed a number of explicit examples for demonstration. In this section, we provide a summary of the central results in this paper.

In the introduction section, we reviewed the standard matching condition between the UV theory and the EFT — 1LPI diagrams to agree at the matching scale. Up to one-loop order, the Wilson coefficients at the matching scale can be decomposed into three pieces:

$$c_i(M) = c_i^{(0)}(M) + c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M) + c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M).$$
(6.1)

The tree-level piece $c_i^{(0)}(M)$ and the one-loop heavy piece $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M)$ have been discussed intensively elsewhere [3]. Our focus in this paper is hence on the one-loop mixed piece $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$, resulting from the exchange of both heavy and light fields.

Our main purpose in section 2 was to explain how to do a "traditional" matching analysis with functional methods. We derived in subsection 2.3 the matching results

$$\sum_{i} c_{i}^{(0)}(M) \mathcal{O}_{i}(\phi) = \mathcal{L}_{\Phi}(\phi, \Phi_{c}[\phi]), \qquad (6.2)$$

$$\int d^{4}x \left\{ \sum_{i} \left[c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M) + c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M) \right] \mathcal{O}_{i}(\phi) \right\}$$

$$= \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^{2} S_{\text{UV}}[\phi, \Phi]}{\delta(\phi, \Phi)^{2}} \Big|_{\Phi = \Phi_{c}[\phi]} \right) - \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^{2} S_{\text{EFT}}^{(0)}[\phi]}{\delta\phi^{2}} \right), \qquad (6.3)$$

where the tree-level piece is isolated, but the two one-loop level pieces, $c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M)$ and $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M)$ are entangled.

²⁶The disagreement on the y_t^2 term is due to a typo in [40].

In section 3, we resolved these two pieces by using a non-local Lagrangian, and arrived at the isolated matching results

$$\int d^4x \sum_i c_{i,\text{heavy}}^{(1)}(M) \mathcal{O}_i(\phi) = \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\text{UV}}[\phi, \Phi]}{\delta \Phi^2} \Big|_{\Phi_c} \right), \tag{6.4}$$

$$\int d^4x \sum_i c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}(M) \mathcal{O}_i(\phi) = \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\text{UV}}[\phi, \Phi_c[\phi]]}{\delta \phi^2} \right) - \frac{i}{2} \log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\text{EFT}}^{(0)}[\phi]}{\delta \phi^2} \right).$$
(6.5)

We also showed how to systematically evaluate the functional determinants involved by a new CDE technique, which is capable of evaluating a much wider class of traces than previous methods. This new CDE technique is detailed in appendix A. Our resolved matching formula using non-local Lagrangian, as well as our new CDE technique of evaluating functional traces are demonstrated by two examples — a toy scalar model in subsection 3.2, and the heavy triplet scalar extension of the SM in subsection 3.3. In the triplet scalar example, we computated three different Wilson coefficients at the same time, demonstrating one advantage of using functional methods; namely, the ability of functional methods to easily handle and organize information that is encoded in many different correlation functions.

To give a full picture of all aspects of matching, we focused on a toy Yukawa model in section 4, showing how to obtain the Wilson coefficients using both the "traditional" procedure of section 2 as well as the "direct" procedure of section 3.

In section 5 we discussed the process of renormalization group running in EFTs. We showed how functional methods easily allow us to derive the RG equation for the Wilson coefficients. Since the relevant functional can be evaluated with a CDE, this provides an improved computational technique for obtaining the anomalous dimension matrix of an EFT.

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to Daliang Li, Markus Luty, and Witold Skiba for conversations. We also thank Francesco del Aguila, Zoltan Kunszt, and Jose Santiago for correspondence. BH is supported in part by the U.S. DOE under the contract DE-FG02-92ER-40704. XL is supported by DOE grant DE-SC-000999. HM is supported in part by the U.S. DOE under Contract DE-AC03-76SF00098, in part by the NSF under grant PHY-1316783, in part by the JSPS Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (C) (No. 26400241), Scientific Research on Innovative Areas (No. 15H05887), and by WPI, MEXT, Japan.

A Functional trace evaluation with a CDE

Evaluating functional traces is the major task in using functional methods at one-loop order. In this appendix, we explain how to perform this task efficiently with a covariant derivative expansion. Before getting started, however, we emphasize that a CDE is not the only way of evaluating functional traces. The task can be done by other methods, such as a partial derivative expansion (PDE).²⁷ But, for obvious reasons, a CDE greatly simplifies the calculation compared with a PDE.

Let us consider a generic functional that depends on the position and momentum operators, $f(\hat{x}, \hat{p})$.²⁸ To evaluate its trace over the functional space by using a derivative expansion procedure (either a CDE or PDE), the general initial steps are as follows:

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[f\left(\widehat{x},\widehat{p}\right)\right] = \int dp \,\left\langle p\right| f(\widehat{x},\widehat{p}) \left|p\right\rangle \tag{A.1a}$$

$$= \int dx \, dp \, \langle p | x \rangle \, \langle x | f(\hat{x}, \hat{p}) | p \rangle \tag{A.1b}$$

$$= \int dx \, dp \, e^{ipx} f(x, i\partial_x) \, e^{-ipx} \tag{A.1c}$$

$$= \int dx \, dp \, f \, (x, i\partial_x - p). \tag{A.1d}$$

Let us explain these steps one by one. Eq. (A.1a) is just the definition of the trace over the functional space. In eq. (A.1b), we inserted unity: $1 = \int dx |x\rangle \langle x|$. To obtain eq. (A.1c), we have used the identity

$$\langle x | f(\widehat{x}, \widehat{p}) | p \rangle = f(x, i\partial_x) \langle x | p \rangle = f(x, i\partial_x) e^{-ipx}, \tag{A.2}$$

where the $i\partial_x$ inside f is understood to act on the rest that follows, i.e. e^{-ipx} in this case. To get eq. (A.1d), we have used the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula

$$e^{ipx}i\partial_x e^{-ipx} = i\partial_x + p, \tag{A.3}$$

and made a sign flip for later convenience: $p \to -p$. Note that this Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff shift of $i\partial_x$ holds for the case of a covariant derivative $D_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu} - igA_{\mu}(x)$ as well, i.e. $e^{ipx}iDe^{-ipx} = iD + p$. Upon arriving at eq. (A.1d), one can expand out the derivative $i\partial_x$ (or iD in the covariant derivative case), and evaluate the integral over p.

To see this more concretely, consider the frequently encountered functional²⁹

$$f(\hat{x}, \hat{p}) = \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} B(\hat{x}).$$
 (A.4)

Making use of the general prescription from eq. (A.1a) to eq. (A.1d), we get

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\frac{1}{-D^{2}-M^{2}}B(x)\right] = \int d^{4}x \int \frac{d^{4}p}{\left(2\pi\right)^{4}} \operatorname{tr}\left[\frac{1}{\left(iD-p\right)^{2}-M^{2}}B(x)\right], \quad (A.5)$$

where we have followed the notation in [3] of using "Tr" to denote a trace over both the functional space and any internal indices (gauge, spin, flavor, etc), and "tr" to denote

 $^{^{27}\}mathrm{The}$ essence to the methods of CDE and PDE are described in section 2.2.

 $^{^{28}}$ The hats remind us that the arguments are operators whose representation depends on what representation we pick to trace over the functional. See [3], section 2.2.

²⁹In this and similar expressions iD technically should be understood symbolically as $iD = \hat{p} + gA(\hat{x})$, whose position representation is $\langle x | (\hat{p} + gA(\hat{x})) = (i\partial_x + gA(x)) \langle x |$. A perhaps better notation would use $i\hat{D}$. As we will always pick a position representation in this work, there is no possibility of confusion and so we drop the hats for the rest of this appendix and in the main text.

a trace over the internal indices only. We can now expand out the covariant derivatives relative to the leading term $p^2 - M^2$ to obtain an expansion in powers of D and the "free propagator" $(p^2 - M^2)^{-1}$:

$$\frac{1}{\left(iD-p\right)^{2}-M^{2}}B\left(x\right) = \frac{1}{p^{2}-M^{2}-2ip^{\mu}D_{\mu}-D^{2}}B\left(x\right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{\left(p^{2}-M^{2}\right)\left[1-\frac{1}{p^{2}-M^{2}}\left(2ip^{\mu}D_{\mu}+D^{2}\right)\right]}B\left(x\right)$$
$$= \sum_{n=0}^{\infty}\left[\frac{1}{p^{2}-M^{2}}\left(2ip^{\mu}D_{\mu}+D^{2}\right)\right]^{n}\frac{1}{p^{2}-M^{2}}B\left(x\right).$$
(A.6)

Here the covariant derivatives act on the operator B(x) to form local operators. Plugging this expression back into eq. (A.5) and performing the integral over p, one will arrive at a result with a spacetime integral over a local operator, which is clearly in the form of an effective action. We see that throughout this procedure, D_{μ} is kept intact. Therefore, by definition, this is a CDE procedure.

The prescription described above works well for evaluating any functional trace in the form of eq. (3.21), which we reproduce here:

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left[\frac{\left(-D^{2}\right)^{k_{1}}}{-D^{2}-m_{1}^{2}}A_{1}\left(x\right)\frac{\left(-D^{2}\right)^{k_{2}}}{-D^{2}-m_{2}^{2}}A_{2}\left(x\right)\cdots\frac{\left(-D^{2}\right)^{k_{3}}}{-D^{2}-m_{n}^{2}}A_{n}\left(x\right)\right],$$
(A.7)

Later in this appendix, we show a few explicit examples.

An important note to make here is that although the prescription we just described works on a wide class of functionals, it actually fails to be a CDE in the special case that B(x) is a constant, i.e. for evaluating the trace

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2}\right).\tag{A.8}$$

When B(x) is a constant, $\partial_{\mu}B(x) = 0$, we have

$$(2ip^{\mu}D_{\mu} + D^{2}) B(x) = 2gp^{\mu}A_{\mu}(x) - igD^{\mu}A_{\mu}(x).$$
(A.9)

We see that D_{μ} is broken into components with the gauge field A_{μ} showing up explicitly. There is no problem with plugging eq. (A.9) back into eq. (A.5) and evaluating the trace. It works, but it is a PDE instead of a CDE — after evaluating the *p* integrals, one would need to recombine the D_{μ} and A_{μ} into field strengths to form a gauge invariant expression.

There is a very nice trick, introduced in [4], to keep D_{μ} intact while evaluating this trace. This is to make a further insertion of $e^{iD\frac{\partial}{\partial p}}$ and $e^{-iD\frac{\partial}{\partial p}}$:

$$\operatorname{Tr}\left(\frac{1}{-D^{2}-M^{2}}\right) = \int d^{4}x \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \operatorname{tr}\left[\frac{1}{(iD-p)^{2}-M^{2}}\right]$$
$$= \int d^{4}x \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \left\{ e^{iD\frac{\partial}{\partial p}} \operatorname{tr}\left[\frac{1}{(iD-p)^{2}-M^{2}}\right] e^{-iD\frac{\partial}{\partial p}} \right\}.$$
(A.10)

Using the Baker-Campbell-Hausdorff formula will then convert every D_{μ} into commutators with itself (for details, see [3–6]). The problem shown in eq. (A.9) is gone after this conversion, because for constant B(x)

$$[D_{\mu}, D_{\nu}] B(x) = [D_{\mu}, D_{\nu}].$$
(A.11)

We see that the D_{μ} 's do not get broken down. This is "the CDE" method of [3–5].

A.1 Variations on a theme

A natural generalization of the term in eq. (A.5) that is frequently encountered is

$$\frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2 - \mathrm{U}(x)}B(x). \tag{A.12}$$

Such pieces arise when the propagators are functions of background fields, i.e. $\mathcal{L} \supset \Phi(-D^2 - M^2 - U(x))\Phi$.

To handle terms like eq. (A.12) there are basically two options. One option is to first expand $(-D^2 - M^2 - U)^{-1}$ is a power series of U,

$$\frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2 - U}B = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left[\frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2}U\right]^n \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2}B,$$
 (A.13)

which just produces a specific case of eq. (A.7). From here, a covariant derivative expansion along the lines of eq. (A.6) and the examples of the next subsection can be done. This is the approach taken for the triplet scalar and Yukawa models of sections 3.3 and 4, respectively. The other option is to do the expansion of U together with the covariant derivative expansion. Analogous to eq. (A.6), we have

$$\frac{1}{(iD-p)^2 - M^2 - U}B = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left[\frac{1}{p^2 - M^2} \left(2ip^{\mu}D_{\mu} + D^2 + U\right)\right]^n \frac{1}{p^2 - M^2}B.$$
 (A.14)

Which option to take is just a matter of preference.

Let us make a, perhaps obvious, comment that applies to the expansions in eqs. (A.6) and (A.14). In general D_{μ} , M, and U(x) are matrix valued. Therefore, if $[M, U] \neq 0$, then the ordering in these expansions is important as $(p^2 - M^2)^{-1}$ will not commute through $(2ip \cdot D + D^2 + U)$. If all the matrices commute, then eq. (A.6) can more compactly be expressed by $\sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{(p^2 - M^2)^{n+1}} (2ip \cdot D + D^2)^n B$ and similarly for eq. (A.14).

For completeness, let us briefly address the case of fermion propagators, $[i\not\!D - M - F(x)]^{-1}$. We can either first expand in a power series of F,

$$\frac{1}{i\not\!\!D - M - F(x)} = \frac{i\not\!\!D + M}{-D^2 - M^2} + \frac{i\not\!\!D + M}{-D^2 - M^2}F(x)\frac{i\not\!\!D + M}{-D^2 - M^2} + \dots,$$
(A.15)

and then develop a CDE following the prescription of eq. (A.1) and the steps done for the bosonic propagator. Alternatively, we may first write

$$\frac{1}{i\not{D} - M - F(x)} = \frac{i\not{D} + M + F(x)}{-D^2 - M^2 - U_{\text{ferm}}(x)},$$
(A.16)

with $U_{\text{ferm}}(x)$ given in eq. (2.24), and then develop a CDE.

A.2 Example trace evaluations

To show how to use the CDE technique explained above, we now consider three example traces of the form in eq. (A.7). Each of these traces are encountered in the main text.

A.2.1 Trace evaluation example 1: T

Let us first consider an example case of eq. (A.7) of the form

$$T(A_1, A_2) \equiv \operatorname{Tr}\left[\frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} A_1(x) \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} A_2(x)\right].$$
 (A.17)

Following the prescription of eq. (A.1) we get

$$T = \int d^4x \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \operatorname{tr}\left[\frac{1}{(iD-p)^2 - m^2} A_1 \frac{1}{(iD-p)^2 - M^2} A_2\right].$$
 (A.18)

Now we do the "CDE step", i.e. expand out the covariant derivatives as in eq. (A.6). For demonstration purposes, we only keep up to two powers of D_{μ} , in which case we have

$$\frac{1}{(iD-p)^2 - m^2} = \frac{1}{p^2 - m^2} + \frac{1}{(p^2 - m^2)^2} 2ip^{\mu}D_{\mu} + \frac{(1 - 4/d)p^2 - m^2}{(p^2 - m^2)^3}D^2,$$
(A.19)

$$\frac{1}{\left(iD-p\right)^2 - M^2} = \frac{1}{p^2 - M^2} + \frac{1}{\left(p^2 - M^2\right)^2} 2ip^{\mu}D_{\mu} + \frac{\left(1 - 4/d\right)p^2 - M^2}{\left(p^2 - M^2\right)^3}D^2, \quad (A.20)$$

As this is the key step in our method, we would like to make a few comments on it.

- To determine up to which power of D to truncate this CDE step, one simply sums over the mass dimensions of A_1 , A_2 , and compares it with the mass dimension of the effective operators under consideration. For example, suppose $A_1 = A_2 = \phi^2$, which sums up to ϕ^4 , and we want effective operators up to dimension-six. Then we should keep up to two powers of D. For all the examples discussed in this paper, we never need to do this CDE step beyond the second power of D.
- Because all calculations in this paper require at most two powers of D, we have made the symmetrization $p^{\mu}p^{\nu} \rightarrow \frac{1}{d}g^{\mu\nu}p^2$ in eqs. (A.19) and (A.20). Here $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$, as usual in dimensional regularization. Terms proportional to 1 - 4/d can give a nonzero contribution if the momentum integral has a divergence.

Now using eqs. (A.19) and (A.20) in eq. (A.18) and keeping only up to two powers of D, we get

$$T \supset \int d^4x \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \operatorname{tr} \left\{ \begin{cases} \left[\frac{1}{p^2 - m^2} + \frac{1}{(p^2 - m^2)^2} 2ipD + \frac{(1 - 4/d)p^2 - m^2}{(p^2 - m^2)^3} D^2 \right] A_1 \\ \times \left[\frac{1}{p^2 - M^2} + \frac{1}{(p^2 - M^2)^2} 2ipD + \frac{(1 - 4/d)p^2 - M^2}{(p^2 - M^2)^3} D^2 \right] A_2 \end{cases} \right\}$$
$$= \int d^4x \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \operatorname{tr} \left\{ \frac{1}{p^2 - m^2} A_1 \left[\frac{1}{p^2 - M^2} + \frac{(1 - 4/d)p^2 - M^2}{(p^2 - M^2)^3} D^2 \right] A_2 \right\}$$
$$= \int d^4x \left\{ \left[\int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{(p^2 - M^2)(p^2 - m^2)} \right] \operatorname{tr} (A_1 A_2) \right. \\ \left. + \left[\int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{(1 - 4/d)p^2 - M^2}{(p^2 - M^2)^3(p^2 - m^2)} \right] \operatorname{tr} (A_1 D^2 A_2) \right\}.$$
(A.21)

In going from the first to the second line we have used the fact that total derivatives vanish under the position integral, so that we can replace the entry from eq. (A.19) by $1/(p^2 - m^2)$. The momentum integrals above can be worked out easily

$$I_{1} \equiv \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{1}{(p^{2} - M^{2})(p^{2} - m^{2})} = \frac{i}{(4\pi)^{2}} \left(\ln \frac{\mu^{2}}{M^{2}} + \frac{m^{2}}{M^{2} - m^{2}} \ln \frac{m^{2}}{M^{2}} + 1 \right), \quad (A.22)$$

$$I_{2} \equiv \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \frac{(1 - 4/d)p^{2} - M^{2}}{(p^{2} - M^{2})^{3}(p^{2} - m^{2})} = \frac{i}{(4\pi)^{2}} \frac{-M^{2}}{(M^{2} - m^{2})^{2}} \left(\frac{m^{2}}{M^{2} - m^{2}} \ln \frac{m^{2}}{M^{2}} + \frac{M^{2} + m^{2}}{2M^{2}} \right), \quad (A.23)$$

where we have used dimensional regularization in the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ renormalization scheme. In practical calculations, we only keep operators in the EFT up to some give mass dimension. This requires us to expand $I_{1,2}$ in m^2/M^2 and truncate at some order consistent with the operator dimensions kept in the EFT. If we take zeroth order in m^2/M^2 , we get

$$I_1 = \frac{i}{(4\pi)^2} \left(\ln \frac{\mu^2}{M^2} + 1 \right),$$
 (A.24)

$$I_2 = \frac{i}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{1}{M^2} \frac{-1}{2}.$$
 (A.25)

Plugging these back into eq. (A.21), the functional trace T evaluated at the matching scale $\mu = M$ is given by

$$T(A_1, A_2, \mu = M) \supset \frac{i}{(4\pi)^2} \int d^4 x \operatorname{tr} \left[(A_1 A_2) + \frac{1}{M^2} \frac{1}{2} (DA_1) (DA_2) \right].$$
(A.26)

A.2.2 Trace evaluation example 2: T_0

As a second example, consider the functional trace T_0 defined as

$$T_0(A_1, A_2, A_3) \equiv \operatorname{Tr}\left(\frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2}A_1 \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2}A_2 \frac{-D^2}{-D^2 - M^2}A_3\right).$$
 (A.27)

Again, we first follow the prescription of eq. (A.1) to get

$$T_0 = \int d^4x \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \operatorname{tr}\left[\frac{1}{(iD-p)^2 - m^2} A_1 \frac{1}{(iD-p)^2 - m^2} A_2 \frac{(iD-p)^2}{(iD-p)^2 - M^2} A_3\right].$$
(A.28)

Next is the "CDE step":

$$\frac{(iD-p)^2}{(iD-p)^2 - M^2} = \frac{p^2}{p^2 - M^2} + \frac{M^2}{(p^2 - M^2)^2} 2ip^{\mu}D_{\mu} + \frac{(1 - 4/d)M^2p^2 - M^4}{(p^2 - M^2)^3}D^2.$$
 (A.29)

Now using eqs. (A.19) and (A.29) in eq. (A.28) and keeping only zeroth power in D, we get

$$T_0(A_1, A_2, A_3) \supset \int d^4x \cdot \operatorname{tr} (A_1 A_2 A_3) \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{p^2}{(p^2 - M^2)(p^2 - m^2)^2}.$$
 (A.30)

The momentum integral is

$$I \equiv \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{p^2}{\left(p^2 - M^2\right) \left(p^2 - m^2\right)^2} = \frac{i}{(4\pi)^2} \left[\ln \frac{\mu^2}{m^2} + \frac{M^2}{M^2 - m^2} \left(\frac{M^2}{M^2 - m^2} \ln \frac{m^2}{M^2} + 1 \right) \right],$$
(A.31)

Taking the limit $m^2/M^2 \to 0$

$$I = \frac{i}{(4\pi)^2} \left(\ln \frac{\mu^2}{m^2} + \ln \frac{m^2}{M^2} + 1 \right) = \frac{i}{(4\pi)^2} \left(\ln \frac{\mu^2}{M^2} + 1 \right).$$
(A.32)

Plugging this into eq. (A.30), the functional trace T_0 evaluated at $\mu = M$ is given by

$$T_0(A_1, A_2, A_3, \mu = M) \supset \frac{i}{(4\pi)^2} \int d^4x \cdot \operatorname{tr}(A_1 A_2 A_3).$$
 (A.33)

A.2.3 Trace evaluation example 3: T_1

As a final example, we evaluate the functional trace T_1 defined as

$$T_1(A_1, A_2) \equiv \frac{1}{M^2} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} A_1 \frac{D^4}{-D^2 - M^2} A_2 \right).$$
(A.34)

This time let us put all the steps together and move more smoothly. The entire evaluation is:

$$T_{1} = \frac{1}{M^{2}} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} A_{1} \frac{D^{4}}{-D^{2} - M^{2}} A_{2} \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{M^{2}} \int d^{4}x \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \operatorname{tr} \left[\frac{1}{(iD - p)^{2} - m^{2}} A_{1} \frac{(iD - p)^{4}}{(iD - p)^{2} - M^{2}} A_{2} \right]$$

$$\supset \frac{1}{M^{2}} \int d^{4}x \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \operatorname{tr} \left\{ \begin{bmatrix} \frac{1}{p^{2} - m^{2}} + \frac{1}{(p^{2} - m^{2})^{2}} 2ipD + \frac{(1 - 4/d)p^{2} - m^{2}}{(p^{2} - m^{2})^{3}} D^{2} \end{bmatrix} A_{1} \\
\times \left[\frac{p^{4}}{p^{2} - M^{2}} + \frac{-p^{4} + 2M^{2}p^{2}}{(p^{2} - M^{2})^{2}} 2ipD + \frac{-p^{6} + 3M^{2}p^{4} - (2 + 4/d)M^{4}p^{2}}{(p^{2} - M^{2})^{3}} D^{2} \end{bmatrix} A_{2} \right\}$$

$$\supset \frac{1}{M^{2}} \int d^{4}x \int \frac{d^{4}p}{(2\pi)^{4}} \operatorname{tr} \left[\frac{p^{4}}{(p^{2} - M^{2})(p^{2} - m^{2})} A_{1}A_{2} \\
+ \frac{p^{6} - 3M^{2}p^{4} + 3M^{4}p^{2}}{(p^{2} - M^{2})^{3}(p^{2} - m^{2})} (DA_{1}) (DA_{2}) \right]$$

$$= \int d^{4}x \cdot \operatorname{tr} \left[I_{3}M^{2} (A_{1}A_{2}) + I_{4} (DA_{1}) (DA_{2}) \right]$$

$$= \frac{i}{(4\pi)^{2}} \int d^{4}x \cdot \operatorname{tr} \left[M^{2} (A_{1}A_{2}) + \frac{1}{2} (DA_{1}) (DA_{2}) \right]. \quad (A.35)$$

In the above, we have kept terms up to D^2 in the "CDE step". We have also used the fact that under the limit $m^2/M^2 \to 0$, the momentum integrals I_3 and I_4 are

$$I_3 \equiv \frac{1}{M^4} \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{p^4}{(p^2 - M^2)(p^2 - m^2)} = \frac{i}{(4\pi)^2},$$
(A.36)

$$I_4 \equiv \frac{1}{M^2} \int \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{p^6 - 3M^2p^4 + 3M^4p^2}{(p^2 - M^2)^3(p^2 - m^2)} = \frac{i}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{1}{2}.$$
 (A.37)

We hope that the general evaluation technique is clear from the three examples above. This is a systematic prescription that one can use to work out any functional trace in the form of eq. (A.7).

B Derivation of the resolved functional determinant, eq. (3.2)

In this appendix, we give the derivation of taking the functional determinant

$$\log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV} \left[\phi, \Phi\right]}{\delta(\phi, \Phi)^2} \Big|_{\Phi = \Phi_c[\phi]} \right), \tag{B.1}$$

and bringing it to the form of eq. (3.2). The basic idea is to break down this big functional determinant into smaller ones and then apply some straightforward manipulations of the functional derivative.

The functional derivative matrix in eq. (3.1) has the following 2×2 form

$$- \left. \frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi, \Phi\right]}{\delta(\phi, \Phi)^2} \right|_{\Phi = \Phi_c[\phi]} = \left(\begin{array}{c} -\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi, \Phi\right]}{\delta\phi^2} \Big|_{\Phi_c} & -\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi, \Phi\right]}{\delta\phi\delta\Phi} \Big|_{\Phi_c} \\ -\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi, \Phi\right]}{\delta\phi\delta\Phi} \Big|_{\Phi_c} & -\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi, \Phi\right]}{\delta\Phi^2} \Big|_{\Phi_c} \end{array} \right) \equiv \left(\begin{array}{c} a & b \\ c & d \end{array} \right), \tag{B.2}$$

whose determinant should then follow as

$$\det \begin{pmatrix} a & b \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = \det \begin{pmatrix} a - bd^{-1}c & 0 \\ c & d \end{pmatrix} = \det (d) \det (a - bd^{-1}c).$$
(B.3)

We make the identifications that

$$d = -\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi, \Phi\right]}{\delta \Phi^2} \Big|_{\Phi_c},\tag{B.4}$$

$$a - bd^{-1}c = -\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi,\Phi\right]}{\delta\phi^2}\Big|_{\Phi_c} + \frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi,\Phi\right]}{\delta\phi\delta\Phi}\Big|_{\Phi_c} \left(\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi,\Phi\right]}{\delta\Phi^2}\Big|_{\Phi_c}\right)^{-1} \frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi,\Phi\right]}{\delta\phi\delta\Phi}\Big|_{\Phi_c}.$$
(B.5)

Our task is to simplify eq. (B.5). Making use of the definition of $\Phi_c[\phi]$,

$$0 = \left. \frac{\delta S_{\rm UV} \left[\phi, \Phi \right]}{\delta \Phi} \right|_{\Phi_c},\tag{B.6}$$

and the chain rule,

$$\frac{\delta}{\delta\phi} = \left. \frac{\delta}{\delta\phi} \right|_{\Phi_c} + \frac{\delta\Phi_c\left[\phi\right]}{\delta\phi} \frac{\delta}{\delta\Phi_c\left[\phi\right]},\tag{B.7}$$

we get

$$0 = \frac{\delta}{\delta\phi} \left(\left. \frac{\delta S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi, \Phi\right]}{\delta\Phi} \right|_{\Phi_c} \right) = \left. \frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi, \Phi\right]}{\delta\phi\delta\Phi} \right|_{\Phi_c} + \left. \frac{\delta\Phi_c\left[\phi\right]}{\delta\phi} \frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi, \Phi\right]}{\delta\Phi^2} \right|_{\Phi_c}, \tag{B.8}$$

which gives

$$\frac{\delta\Phi_c\left[\phi\right]}{\delta\phi} = -\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi,\Phi\right]}{\delta\phi\delta\Phi} \bigg|_{\Phi_c} \left(\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi,\Phi\right]}{\delta\Phi^2}\bigg|_{\Phi_c}\right)^{-1}.\tag{B.9}$$

This expression is nothing but the usual formula for "the derivative of an implicit function". However, it helps us a lot because using it in eq. (B.5) we get

$$a - bd^{-1}c = -\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi,\Phi\right]}{\delta\phi^2}\Big|_{\Phi_c} - \frac{\delta\Phi_c\left[\phi\right]}{\delta\phi}\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi,\Phi\right]}{\delta\phi\delta\Phi}\Big|_{\Phi_c} = -\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}\left[\phi,\Phi_c\left[\phi\right]\right]}{\delta\phi^2}.$$
 (B.10)

Now using eq. (B.3), we obtain a resolved form of eq. (B.1):

$$\log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}[\phi, \Phi]}{\delta(\phi, \Phi)^2} \Big|_{\Phi_c} \right) = \log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}[\phi, \Phi]}{\delta \Phi^2} \Big|_{\Phi_c} \right) + \log \det \left(-\frac{\delta^2 S_{\rm UV}[\phi, \Phi_c[\phi]]}{\delta \phi^2} \right). \tag{B.11}$$

which is nothing but eq. (3.2).

C Local vs. non-local difference and the Wilsonian effective action

In this appendix, we elaborate more on the local vs. non-local mismatch discussed in section 3.1. We learned in section 3.1 that the non-local action $S_{\text{eff}}[\phi]$ obtained by integrating out the heavy field Φ in the path integral

$$e^{iS_{\rm eff}[\phi]} = \int D\Phi e^{iS_{\rm UV}[\phi,\Phi]},\tag{C.1}$$

is completely equivalent to the UV theory in regarding to the low energy physics of ϕ , namely that

$$\Gamma_{\rm eff}\left[\phi\right] = \Gamma_{\rm L,UV}\left[\phi\right].\tag{C.2}$$

On the other hand, the "local counterpart" to $S_{\text{eff}}[\phi]$, which is simply an expansion of it into a sum of local operators, would not give the same 1PI effective action. To better distinguish the non-local $S_{\text{eff}}[\phi]$ and its local counterpart, if we use the notation $S_{\text{eff, non-local}}[\phi] \equiv S_{\text{eff}}[\phi]$, and $S_{\text{eff, local}}[\phi]$ for the local counterpart of $S_{\text{eff, non-local}}[\phi]$, then this local vs. non-local difference can be expressed as

$$\Gamma_{\text{eff, local}} \left[\phi\right] \neq \Gamma_{\text{eff, non-local}} \left[\phi\right] = \Gamma_{\text{L,UV}} \left[\phi\right]. \tag{C.3}$$

It is exactly due to this mismatch that the mixed one-loop piece of matching, i.e. $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$, is nonzero.

On the other hand, we also learned that this mismatch $\Gamma_{\text{eff, local}}[\phi] \neq \Gamma_{\text{eff, non-local}}[\phi]$ is a result of using dimensional regularization. Specifically, using $\Gamma_{\text{eff, local}}[\phi]$ amounts to expanding the propagator $\frac{1}{p^2 - M^2}$ inside the momentum integral (see the discussion around eq. (3.11)), which is illegitimate under dimensional regularization. However, this mismatch can be avoided by using other regularization scheme, such as a hard cutoff $p^2 < \Lambda_0^2$ in the Euclidean space:

$$\int_{0}^{\Lambda_{0}} \mathcal{D}\phi \mathcal{D}\Phi e^{-S_{\mathrm{UV}}(\phi,\Phi;\Lambda_{0})} = \int_{0}^{\Lambda_{1}} \int_{\Lambda_{1}}^{\Lambda_{0}} \mathcal{D}\phi \mathcal{D}\Phi e^{-S_{\mathrm{UV}}(\phi,\Phi;\Lambda_{0})}$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\Lambda_{1}} \mathcal{D}\phi \mathcal{D}\Phi e^{-S_{\mathrm{UV}}(\phi,\Phi;\Lambda_{1})}$$
$$= \int_{0}^{\Lambda_{1}} \mathcal{D}\phi e^{-S_{\mathrm{eff}}(\phi;\Lambda_{1})} .$$
(C.4)

In the very last step, we merely integrate out the heavy field Φ of mass M, given that the cutoff $\Lambda_1 < M$ at this stage. Then $S_{\text{eff}}(\phi; \Lambda_1)$ should make the same physical predictions

as the UV theory, even after it is expanded into a sum of local operators. This $S_{\text{eff}}(\phi; \Lambda_1)$ defined with a hard cutoff regularization scheme is the Wilsonian effective action. We demonstrate this point in this appendix.

Let us come back to the example model considered in section 3.2,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm UV}(\phi,\Phi) = \frac{1}{2}\Phi\left(-\partial^2 - M^2\right)\Phi - \frac{\lambda}{3!}\Phi\phi^3 + \frac{1}{2}\phi\left(-\partial^2 - m^2\right)\phi - \frac{\kappa}{4!}\phi^4.$$
 (C.5)

Here, ϕ is the light field of mass m, while Φ is the heavy field of mass $M \gg m$. We assume $\kappa \approx \frac{\lambda^2}{(4\pi)^2}$ (similar to the assumption $\kappa \approx \frac{e^2}{(4\pi)^2}$ in the Coleman-Weiberg theory). This assumption is not necessary, but is there only for the purpose of ignoring κ^2 correction to κ . Our main consideration is the interplay between the heavy-light loop at $O(\lambda^2)$ that renormalizes κ after Φ is integrated out.

Let us first look at the computation in the UV theory. When the momentum slices $\Lambda_1 are integrated out, the coupling <math>\kappa$ needs to be changed as

$$\kappa(\Lambda_1) = \kappa(\Lambda_0) - 3\lambda^2 \int_{\Lambda_1}^{\Lambda_0} \frac{d^4p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{p^2 + M^2} \frac{1}{p^2 + m^2}$$

= $\kappa(\Lambda_0) - \frac{3\lambda^2}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{1}{M^2 - m^2} \left(M^2 \log \frac{\Lambda_0^2 + M^2}{\Lambda_1^2 + M^2} - m^2 \log \frac{\Lambda_0^2 + m^2}{\Lambda_1^2 + m^2} \right).$ (C.6)

In particular when $M, m \ll \Lambda_1, \Lambda_0$, it reduces to the usual logarithmic running

$$\kappa(\Lambda_1) = \kappa(\Lambda_0) - \frac{3\lambda^2}{(4\pi)^2} \log \frac{\Lambda_0^2}{\Lambda_1^2} .$$
 (C.7)

Yet our main interest is when the all the momenta above M are integrated out so that $\Lambda_1 < M$.

We can further integrate out momentum slices to go to even lower $\Lambda_2 < \Lambda_1 < M$. The change in the coupling is obviously

$$\kappa(\Lambda_2) = \kappa(\Lambda_1) - \frac{3\lambda^2}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{1}{M^2 - m^2} \left(M^2 \log \frac{\Lambda_1^2 + M^2}{\Lambda_2^2 + M^2} - m^2 \log \frac{\Lambda_1^2 + m^2}{\Lambda_2^2 + m^2} \right).$$
(C.8)

Note that this expression allows for a Taylor expansion in $\frac{\Lambda_{1,2}^2}{M^2}$ within the radius of convergence $\Lambda_{1,2}^2 < M^2$.

The question is whether this result can be reproduced by the IR theory with the local Lagrangian $\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff, local}}(\phi)$ after Φ is integrated out. The answer is yes as long as $\Lambda_1 < M$. Integrating out Φ results in the $\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff, local}}(\phi)$ with the effective local operators

$$\mathcal{L}_{\text{eff, local}}(\phi) = \frac{1}{2}\phi(-\partial^2 - m^2)\phi - \frac{\kappa}{4!}\phi^4 + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{\lambda^2}{72M^2}\phi^3 \left(\frac{-\partial^2}{M^2}\right)^n \phi^3.$$
(C.9)

Contracting a ϕ before the derivative and another ϕ after the derivative in the effective operators results in the renormalization of κ in the IR theory,³⁰

$$\kappa(\Lambda_2) = \kappa(\Lambda_1) - 3\lambda^2 \int_{\Lambda_2}^{\Lambda_1} \frac{d^4 p}{(2\pi)^4} \frac{1}{M^2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{-p^2}{M^2}\right)^n \frac{1}{p^2 + m^2}$$

$$= \kappa(\Lambda_1) - 3\lambda^2 \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \int_{\Lambda_2}^{\Lambda_1} \frac{dp^2}{(2\pi)^4} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{M^{2n+2}} \frac{(-1)^n (p^2)^{n+1}}{p^2 + m^2}$$

$$= \kappa(\Lambda_1) - \frac{3\lambda^2}{(4\pi)^2} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{m^{2n+2}}{M^{2n+2}} (B_{-\Lambda_1^2/m^2}(n+2,0) - B_{-\Lambda_2^2/m^2}(n+2,0)). \quad (C.10)$$

Here $B_z(p,q)$ is the incomplete Beta function $B_z(p,q) = \int_0^z t^{p-1}(1-t)^{q-1}dt$ (not to be confused with the beta function of the running coupling constant). For large n,

$$B_{-\Lambda^2/m^2}(n+2,0) \approx \frac{-1}{n+1} \left(\frac{-\Lambda^2}{m^2}\right)^{n+1},$$
 (C.11)

and hence the sum over n converges for $\Lambda_{1,2} < M$. Therefore, one can interchange the order of the sum over n and the integration over p^2 . We see that the IR theory with Φ integrated out reproduces the correct result in the cutoff-dependence of the coupling κ .

However, this is not the case in the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ scheme. As a function of the renormalization scale μ in $d = 4 - 2\epsilon$ dimensions, the UV theory gives

$$\kappa(\mu_1) = \kappa(\mu_0) - \frac{3\lambda^2(\mu_0^{2\epsilon} - \mu_1^{2\epsilon})}{(4\pi)^2} \frac{\Gamma(\epsilon)}{1 - \epsilon} \frac{1}{M^2 - m^2} ((M^2)^{1-\epsilon} - (m^2)^{1-\epsilon}),$$
(C.12)

which obviously describes the same running as in eq. (C.8). But the IR theory does not reproduce this result,

$$\begin{split} \kappa(\mu_{1}) - \kappa(\mu_{0}) &= -3\lambda^{2}(\mu_{0}^{2\epsilon} - \mu_{1}^{2\epsilon}) \int \frac{d^{d}p}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{1}{M^{2}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{-p^{2}}{M^{2}}\right)^{n} \frac{1}{p^{2} + m^{2}} \\ &= -3\lambda^{2}(\mu_{0}^{2\epsilon} - \mu_{1}^{2\epsilon}) \int \frac{\pi^{d/2}}{\Gamma(d/2)} \frac{(p^{2})^{1-\epsilon}dp^{2}}{(2\pi)^{d}} \frac{1}{M^{2}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{-p^{2}}{M^{2}}\right)^{n} \frac{1}{p^{2} + m^{2}} \\ &= -\frac{3\lambda^{2}(\mu_{0}^{2\epsilon} - \mu_{1}^{2\epsilon})}{(4\pi)^{2-\epsilon}\Gamma(2-\epsilon)} \frac{1}{M^{2}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{M^{2n}} \int dp^{2} \frac{(-1)^{n}(p^{2})^{n+1-\epsilon}}{p^{2} + m^{2}} \\ &= -\frac{3\lambda^{2}(\mu_{0}^{2\epsilon} - \mu_{1}^{2\epsilon})}{(4\pi)^{2-\epsilon}\Gamma(2-\epsilon)} \frac{1}{M^{2}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} (-1)^{n} \frac{(m^{2})^{n+1-\epsilon}}{M^{2n}} \frac{\Gamma(n+2-\epsilon)\Gamma(-n-1+\epsilon)}{\Gamma(1)} \\ &= -\frac{3\lambda^{2}(\mu_{0}^{2\epsilon} - \mu_{1}^{2\epsilon})}{(4\pi)^{2-\epsilon}\Gamma(2-\epsilon)} \frac{(m^{2})^{1-\epsilon}}{M^{2}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{m^{2}}{M^{2}}\right)^{n} \frac{(-1)^{n}\pi}{\sin(2-\epsilon+n)\pi} \\ &= -\frac{3\lambda^{2}(\mu_{0}^{2\epsilon} - \mu_{1}^{2\epsilon})}{(4\pi)^{2-\epsilon}\Gamma(2-\epsilon)} \frac{(m^{2})^{1-\epsilon}}{M^{2}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \left(\frac{m^{2}}{M^{2}}\right)^{n} \frac{-\pi}{\sin\epsilon\pi} \\ &= -\frac{3\lambda^{2}(\mu_{0}^{2\epsilon} - \mu_{1}^{2\epsilon})}{(4\pi)^{2-\epsilon}\Gamma(2-\epsilon)} \frac{(m^{2})^{1-\epsilon}}{M^{2}} \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \Gamma(-1+\epsilon)\Gamma(2-\epsilon) \\ &= \frac{3\lambda^{2}(\mu_{0}^{2\epsilon} - \mu_{1}^{2\epsilon})}{(4\pi)^{2-\epsilon}} \frac{(m^{2})^{1-\epsilon}}{M^{2} - m^{2}} \frac{\Gamma(\epsilon)}{1-\epsilon}. \end{split}$$
(C.13)

³⁰Other contractions result in different operators such as $\phi \partial^2 \phi^3$, not of our interest here.

Compared with eq. (C.12), we see that the piece proportional to $(M^2)^{1-\epsilon}$ is not reproduced. The reason is very simple. In the IR theory, the dependence on M^2 is always in integer powers because it comes from the local operators after the expansion in the inverse power of M^2 . The momentum integral no longer knows anything about M^2 . Therefore, it can never reproduce a fractional power $(M^2)^{1-\epsilon}$ in the $\overline{\text{MS}}$ scheme. This missing piece is the $c_{i,\text{mixed}}^{(1)}$.

Note that we defined the Wilsonian effective action using a hard cutoff regularization scheme, but one can also define it using the Gaussian cutoff. In this case, however, the loop integral involves momenta above the cutoff even though its contribution is supposed to be Gaussian-suppressed. This causes the IR theory to be an asymptotic expansion in 1/M, which does not converge, but provides a good approximation for $\Lambda_1 \ll M$. Again one can confirm that the IR theory reproduces the result in the UV theory, not as a Taylor expansion but rather as an asymptotic expansion.

D Details about the triplet scalar model

This appendix contains some supplementary calculation details for our Triplet Scalar Model example discussed in section 3.3. Specifically, we encounter four functional traces S_1 , S_2 , S_3 , and S_K in eqs. (3.47) and (3.56), but did not show the details of evaluating them. Let us list out some of the steps here. Before the actual evaluating steps, it is useful to prepare a list of functional traces that are involved. These functional traces were evaluated using the CDE technique described in appendix A.

$$T_{1}(A_{1}, A_{2}) \equiv \frac{1}{M^{2}} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} A_{1} \frac{D^{4}}{-D^{2} - M^{2}} A_{2} \right)$$

$$\supset \frac{i}{(4\pi)^{2}} \int d^{4}x \cdot \operatorname{tr} \left[M^{2}(A_{1}A_{2}) + \frac{1}{2}(DA_{1})(DA_{2}) \right]$$
(D.1)

$$T_{2}(A_{1}, A_{2}, A_{3}) \equiv \operatorname{Tr}\left(\frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}}A_{1}\frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}}A_{2}\frac{D^{4}}{-D^{2} - M^{2}}A_{3}\right)$$
$$\supset \frac{i}{(4\pi)^{2}}\int d^{4}x \cdot \operatorname{tr}\left[\frac{M^{2}(A_{1}A_{2}A_{3}) + \frac{1}{2}(DA_{1})(DA_{2})A_{3}}{+\frac{1}{2}(DA_{1})A_{2}(DA_{3}) + \frac{5}{2}A_{1}(DA_{2})(DA_{3})}\right] \quad (D.2)$$

$$T_{3}(A_{1}, A_{2}, A_{3}) \equiv \operatorname{Tr}\left(\frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}}A_{1}\frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}}A_{2}\frac{D^{4}}{-D^{2} - M^{2}}A_{3}\right)$$
$$\supset \frac{i}{(4\pi)^{2}}\int d^{4}x \cdot \operatorname{tr}\left[\frac{\frac{1}{6}(DA_{1})(DA_{2})A_{3} + \frac{1}{2}(DA_{1})A_{2}(DA_{3})}{+\frac{2}{3}A_{1}(DA_{2})(DA_{3})}\right]$$
(D.3)

$$T_{4}(A_{1}, A_{2}, A_{3}) \equiv \frac{1}{M^{4}} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} A_{1} \frac{D^{4}}{-D^{2} - M^{2}} A_{2} \frac{D^{4}}{-D^{2} - M^{2}} A_{3} \right)$$

$$\supset \frac{i}{(4\pi)^{2}} \int d^{4}x \cdot \operatorname{tr} \left[\frac{\frac{7}{6}(DA_{1})(DA_{2})A_{3} + \frac{3}{2}(DA_{1})A_{2}(DA_{3})}{+\frac{7}{6}A_{1}(DA_{2})(DA_{3})} \right]$$
(D.4)

$$T_{5}(A_{1}, A_{2}, A_{3}, A_{4}) \equiv \operatorname{Tr}\left(\frac{1}{-D^{2}-m^{2}}A_{1}\frac{-D^{2}}{-D^{2}-M^{2}}A_{2}\frac{1}{-D^{2}-m^{2}}A_{3}\frac{D^{4}}{-D^{2}-M^{2}}A_{4}\right)$$
$$\supset \frac{i}{(4\pi)^{2}}\int d^{4}x \cdot \operatorname{tr}\left[\frac{\frac{1}{6}(DA_{1})(DA_{2})A_{3}A_{4}+\frac{1}{6}(DA_{1})A_{2}(DA_{3})A_{4}}{+\frac{1}{2}(DA_{1})A_{2}A_{3}(DA_{4})+\frac{1}{2}A_{1}(DA_{2})(DA_{3})A_{4}}\right]$$
$$+\frac{1}{6}A_{1}(DA_{2})A_{3}(DA_{4})+\frac{2}{3}A_{1}A_{2}(DA_{3})(DA_{4})\right]$$
(D.5)

$$T_{6}(A_{1}, A_{2}, A_{3}, A_{4}) \equiv \frac{1}{M^{2}} \operatorname{Tr} \left(\frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} A_{1} \frac{D^{4}}{-D^{2} - M^{2}} A_{2} \frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} A_{3} \frac{D^{4}}{-D^{2} - M^{2}} A_{4} \right)$$
$$\supset \frac{i}{(4\pi)^{2}} \int d^{4}x \cdot \operatorname{tr} \left[\frac{\frac{7}{6}(DA_{1})(DA_{2})A_{3}A_{4} + \frac{1}{6}(DA_{1})A_{2}(DA_{3})A_{4}}{+(DA_{1})A_{2}A_{3}(DA_{4}) + A_{1}(DA_{2})(DA_{3})A_{4}} \right]$$
$$\left. + \frac{1}{6}A_{1}(DA_{2})A_{3}(DA_{4}) + \frac{7}{6}A_{1}A_{2}(DA_{3})(DA_{4}) \right]$$
(D.6)

Now let us start with S_1 . The procedure goes as follows:

$$\begin{split} S_{1} &\equiv \frac{i}{2} \mathrm{Tr} \left[-2\lambda\kappa^{2} \frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} \begin{pmatrix} a_{1} \ b_{1} \\ b_{1}^{*} \ a_{1}^{T} \end{pmatrix} \frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} \begin{pmatrix} a_{2} \ b_{2} \\ b_{2}^{*} \ a_{2}^{T} \end{pmatrix} \right]_{\mathrm{d}} \\ &= -i\lambda\kappa^{2} \mathrm{Tr} \left[\frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} a_{1} \frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} a_{2} + \frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} b_{1} \frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} b_{2}^{*} + c.c. \right]_{\mathrm{d}} \\ &= -i\lambda\kappa^{2} \mathrm{Tr} \left\{ \frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} \left(|H|^{2} + HH^{\dagger} \right) \frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} \left[\frac{t^{a} \left(\frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}} H^{\dagger} t^{a} H \right)_{x}}{+t^{a} H \frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}} H^{\dagger} t^{a}} \right] + c.c. \right\}_{\mathrm{d}} \\ &= -i\lambda\kappa^{2} \mathrm{Tr} \left\{ \frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} \left(|H|^{2} + HH^{\dagger} \right) \frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} t^{a*} H^{*} \frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}} H^{\dagger} t^{a} + c.c. \right\}_{\mathrm{d}} \\ &= \frac{-i\lambda\kappa^{2}}{M^{4}} \mathrm{Tr} \left[\frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} \left(|H|^{2} + HH^{\dagger} \right) \frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} \left(t^{a} H \right) \frac{D^{4}}{-D^{2} - M^{2}} \left(H^{\dagger} t^{a} \right) + c.c. \right] \\ &= \frac{-i\lambda\kappa^{2}}{M^{4}} \left[T_{2} \left(|H|^{2} + HH^{\dagger} , t^{a} H, H^{\dagger} t^{a} \right) + T_{2} \left(HH^{T} , t^{a*} H^{*} , H^{\dagger} t^{a} \right) + c.c. \right] \\ &= \frac{\lambda\kappa^{2}}{M^{4}} \frac{1}{(4\pi)^{2}} \int d^{4}x \left[\frac{13}{8} \left(D_{\mu} |H|^{2} \right)^{2} - \frac{3}{2} \left| H^{\dagger} D_{\mu} H \right|^{2} + \frac{25}{4} |H|^{2} |D_{\mu} H|^{2} \right]. \end{split}$$

Let us describe what we have done in the above six lines. We started with the definition of S_1 (i.e. eq. (3.47a)) in the first line, and multiplied the matrices out to obtain the second line. In the third line, we plugged in the expression of a_1 , b_1 , a_2 , and b_2 . Then we identified and dropped the "local counterparts" in the fourth line, according to the splitting in eqs. (3.49). In the fifth line, the result is written in terms of the functional traces defined in eqs. (D.1)–(D.6). In the last line, we used the prepared list of evaluated functional traces to write the result in terms of effective operators. Clearly, S_2 , S_3 , and S_K can be evaluated with the same procedure. The detailed steps are given below.

$$\begin{split} S_2 &\equiv \frac{i}{2} \mathrm{Tr} \left[-8\kappa^4 \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} \begin{pmatrix} a_2 & b_2 \\ b_2^* & a_2^T \end{pmatrix} \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} \begin{pmatrix} a_2 & b_2 \\ b_2^* & a_2^T \end{pmatrix} \right]_{\mathrm{d}} \\ &= -4i\kappa^4 \mathrm{Tr} \left[\frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} a_2 \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} a_2 + \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} b_2 \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} b_2^* + c.c. \right]_{\mathrm{d}} \\ &= -4i\kappa^4 \mathrm{Tr} \left[\frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^a \left(\frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} H^{\dagger} t^a H \right)_x \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^b \left(\frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} H^{\dagger} t^b H \right)_x + c.c. \\ &+ 2\frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^a \left(\frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} H^{\dagger} t^a H \right)_x \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^b H \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} H^{\dagger} t^b + c.c. \\ &+ \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^a H \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} H^{\dagger} t^a \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^b H \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} H^{\dagger} t^b + c.c. \\ &+ \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^a H \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} H^T t^{a*} \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^{b*} H^* \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} H^{\dagger} t^b + c.c. \\ & \end{bmatrix}_{\mathrm{d}} \end{split}$$

$$= \frac{-4i\kappa^4}{M^6} \operatorname{Tr} \begin{cases} -2\frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} \left[\frac{t^a H^{\dagger} t^a H + t^a H H^{\dagger} t^a}{-\frac{1}{D^2 - m^2} t^b H \frac{D^4}{-D^2 - m^2} H^{\dagger} t^b + c.c. \\ -\frac{1}{42} \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^a H \frac{D^2}{-D^2 - m^2} t^b H \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^b H \frac{D^4}{-D^2 - m^2} H^{\dagger} t^b + c.c. \\ -2 \left[\frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^a H H^T t^a + \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^b H^a - \frac{D^4}{-D^2 - m^2} H^{\dagger} t^b + c.c. \right] \\ +2 \left[\frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^a H - \frac{D^2}{-D^2 - m^2} H^{\dagger} t^a + \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^b H^a + \frac{D^4}{-D^2 - M^2} H^{\dagger} t^b + c.c. \right] \\ +2 \left[\frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^a H - \frac{D^2}{-D^2 - m^2} H^{\dagger} t^a + \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^b H^a + \frac{D^4}{-D^2 - M^2} H^{\dagger} t^b + c.c. \right] \\ -\frac{1}{4i^2} \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^a H - \frac{D^2}{-D^2 - M^2} H^{\dagger} t^{a^2} + \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^{b^2} H^a \frac{D^4}{-D^2 - M^2} H^{\dagger} t^b + c.c. \right] \\ -\frac{1}{4i^2} \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^a H - \frac{D^4}{-D^2 - M^2} H^{\dagger} t^{a^2} + \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^{b^2} H^a \frac{D^4}{-D^2 - M^2} H^{\dagger} t^b + c.c. \right] \\ -\frac{1}{4i^4} \left\{ -\frac{2}{2} (t^a H H^\dagger t^a H + t^a H H^\dagger t^a) - \frac{1}{M^2} t^a D^2 (H^\dagger t^a H) , t^b H, H^\dagger t^b) + c.c. \right\} \\ +2 \left[T_5 (t^a H, H^\dagger t^a, t^b H^a, H^\dagger t^b) + c.c. \right] \\ -2 \left[T_5 (t^a H, H^\dagger T t^{a^a}, t^{b^a} H^a, H^\dagger t^b) + c.c. \right] \\ -2 \left[T_6 (t^a H, H^T t^{a^a}, t^{b^a} H^a, H^\dagger t^b) + c.c. \right] \\ -\frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} \left\{ \frac{a_3}{b_3^a} \frac{a_3^a}{3} \right\} \right]_d \\ = -8i\kappa^2 \eta \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ -\frac{8\kappa^2 \eta}{-D^2 - m^2} \left(\frac{a_3}{b_3^a} \frac{a_3^a}{a_3^a} \right) \right]_d \\ = -8i\kappa^2 \eta \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ -\frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^a \left(\frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} H^\dagger t^a H \right)_x \left(\frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} H^\dagger t^a H \right)_x + \frac{1}{(-D^2 - M^2} H^\dagger H^{-1} \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} H^\dagger H^{-1} \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} H^\dagger t^a H \right]_d \\ + \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^a H - \frac{D^2}{-D^2 - M^2} H^\dagger \left[-\frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} H^\dagger t^a H \right]_x + c.c. \right] \\ + \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^a H - \frac{D^2}{-2M^2} H^\dagger H^\dagger H^{-1} \frac{1}{-D^2 - M^2} H^\dagger t^a H \right]_d \\ = \frac{-8i\kappa^2 \eta}{M^4} \operatorname{Tr} \left\{ \frac{1}{-D^2 - m^2} t^a H - \frac{D^2}{-2M^2} H^\dagger H^\dagger H^{-1} H^\dagger H^a H + \frac{1}{M^4} (D^2 H^\dagger t^a H)_x \right\} \\ = \frac{-8i\kappa^2 \eta}{M^4} \left\{ \left\{ T_1 \left(t^a H, H^\dagger + \left[-H^\dagger t^2$$

$$=\frac{\kappa^2 \eta}{M^4} \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \int d^4x \left[-7 \left(D_{\mu} |H|^2 \right)^2 + 16 \left| H^{\dagger} D_{\mu} H \right|^2 - 21 |H|^2 |D_{\mu} H|^2 \right].$$
(D.9)

$$S_{K} \equiv -2i\kappa^{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left[\frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} \begin{pmatrix} a_{2} & b_{2} \\ b_{2}^{*} & a_{2}^{T} \end{pmatrix} \right]_{d}$$

$$= -4i\kappa^{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left[\frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} a_{2} \right]_{d}$$

$$= -4i\kappa^{2} \operatorname{Tr} \left[\frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} t^{a} \left(\frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}} H^{\dagger} t^{a} H \right)_{x} + \frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} t^{a} H \frac{1}{-D^{2} - M^{2}} H^{\dagger} t^{a} \right]_{d}$$

$$= -\frac{4i\kappa^{2}}{M^{4}} \operatorname{Tr} \left[\frac{1}{-D^{2} - m^{2}} t^{a} H \frac{D^{4}}{-D^{2} - M^{2}} H^{\dagger} t^{a} \right]$$

$$= -\frac{4i\kappa^2}{M^2} T_1\left(t^a H, H^{\dagger} t^a\right) = \frac{\kappa^2}{M^2} \frac{1}{(4\pi)^2} \int d^4 x \left[\frac{3}{2}|DH|^2\right].$$
(D.10)

Open Access. This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY 4.0), which permits any use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and source are credited.

References

- [1] H. Georgi, On-shell effective field theory, Nucl. Phys. B 361 (1991) 339 [INSPIRE].
- [2] H. Georgi, Thoughts on effective field theory, Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 29BC (1992) 1 [INSPIRE].
- [3] B. Henning, X. Lu and H. Murayama, How to use the Standard Model effective field theory, JHEP 01 (2016) 023 [arXiv:1412.1837] [INSPIRE].
- [4] M.K. Gaillard, The Effective One Loop Lagrangian With Derivative Couplings, Nucl. Phys. B 268 (1986) 669 [INSPIRE].
- [5] O. Cheyette, Effective Action for the Standard Model With Large Higgs Mass, Nucl. Phys. B 297 (1988) 183 [INSPIRE].
- [6] A. Drozd, J. Ellis, J. Quevillon and T. You, The Universal One-Loop Effective Action, JHEP 03 (2016) 180 [arXiv:1512.03003] [INSPIRE].
- [7] B. Henning, X. Lu and H. Murayama, What do precision Higgs measurements buy us?, arXiv:1404.1058 [INSPIRE].
- [8] A. Drozd, J. Ellis, J. Quevillon and T. You, Comparing EFT and Exact One-Loop Analyses of Non-Degenerate Stops, JHEP 06 (2015) 028 [arXiv:1504.02409] [INSPIRE].
- C.-W. Chiang and R. Huo, Standard Model Effective Field Theory: Integrating out a Generic Scalar, JHEP 09 (2015) 152 [arXiv:1505.06334] [INSPIRE].
- [10] R. Huo, Standard Model Effective Field Theory: Integrating out Vector-Like Fermions, JHEP 09 (2015) 037 [arXiv:1506.00840] [INSPIRE].
- [11] R. Huo, Effective Field Theory of Integrating out Sfermions in the MSSM: Complete One-Loop Analysis, arXiv:1509.05942 [INSPIRE].
- [12] F. del Aguila, Z. Kunszt and J. Santiago, One-loop effective lagrangians after matching, Eur. Phys. J. C 76 (2016) 244 [arXiv:1602.00126] [INSPIRE].
- [13] M. Boggia, R. Gomez-Ambrosio and G. Passarino, Low energy behaviour of standard model extensions, JHEP 05 (2016) 162 [arXiv:1603.03660] [INSPIRE].
- [14] S.A.R. Ellis, J. Quevillon, T. You and Z. Zhang, Mixed heavy-light matching in the Universal One-Loop Effective Action, Phys. Lett. B 762 (2016) 166 [arXiv:1604.02445] [INSPIRE].
- [15] J. Fuentes-Martin, J. Portoles and P. Ruiz-Femenia, Integrating out heavy particles with functional methods: a simplified framework, JHEP 09 (2016) 156 [arXiv:1607.02142]
 [INSPIRE].
- [16] Z. Zhang, Covariant diagrams for one-loop matching, JHEP 05 (2017) 152
 [arXiv:1610.00710] [INSPIRE].

- [17] S.A.R. Ellis, J. Quevillon, T. You and Z. Zhang, *Extending the Universal One-Loop Effective* Action: Heavy-Light Coefficients, JHEP 08 (2017) 054 [arXiv:1706.07765] [INSPIRE].
- [18] I. Brivio and M. Trott, The Standard Model as an Effective Field Theory, arXiv:1706.08945 [INSPIRE].
- [19] C. Hartmann and M. Trott, On one-loop corrections in the standard model effective field theory; the $\Gamma(h \to \gamma \gamma)$ case, JHEP **07** (2015) 151 [arXiv:1505.02646] [INSPIRE].
- [20] R. Grober, M. Muhlleitner, M. Spira and J. Streicher, NLO QCD Corrections to Higgs Pair Production including Dimension-6 Operators, JHEP 09 (2015) 092 [arXiv:1504.06577]
 [INSPIRE].
- [21] M. Ghezzi, R. Gomez-Ambrosio, G. Passarino and S. Uccirati, NLO Higgs effective field theory and κ-framework, JHEP 07 (2015) 175 [arXiv:1505.03706] [INSPIRE].
- [22] C.-Y. Chen, S. Dawson and C. Zhang, Electroweak Effective Operators and Higgs Physics, Phys. Rev. D 89 (2014) 015016 [arXiv:1311.3107] [INSPIRE].
- [23] B. Dumont, S. Fichet and G. von Gersdorff, A Bayesian view of the Higgs sector with higher dimensional operators, JHEP 07 (2013) 065 [arXiv:1304.3369] [INSPIRE].
- [24] C. Zhang, Effective field theory approach to top-quark decay at next-to-leading order in QCD, Phys. Rev. D 90 (2014) 014008 [arXiv:1404.1264] [INSPIRE].
- [25] C. Zhang, Single Top Production at Next-to-Leading Order in the Standard Model Effective Field Theory, Phys. Rev. Lett. 116 (2016) 162002 [arXiv:1601.06163] [INSPIRE].
- [26] O. Bessidskaia Bylund, F. Maltoni, I. Tsinikos, E. Vryonidou and C. Zhang, Probing top quark neutral couplings in the Standard Model Effective Field Theory at NLO in QCD, JHEP 05 (2016) 052 [arXiv:1601.08193] [INSPIRE].
- [27] K. Mimasu, V. Sanz and C. Williams, Higher Order QCD predictions for Associated Higgs production with anomalous couplings to gauge bosons, JHEP 08 (2016) 039 [arXiv:1512.02572] [INSPIRE].
- [28] R. Gauld, B.D. Pecjak and D.J. Scott, One-loop corrections to $h \to b\bar{b}$ and $h \to \tau\bar{\tau}$ decays in the Standard Model Dimension-6 EFT: four-fermion operators and the large- m_t limit, JHEP 05 (2016) 080 [arXiv:1512.02508] [INSPIRE].
- [29] E.E. Jenkins, A.V. Manohar and M. Trott, Renormalization Group Evolution of the Standard Model Dimension Six Operators I: Formalism and lambda Dependence, JHEP 10 (2013) 087 [arXiv:1308.2627] [INSPIRE].
- [30] E.E. Jenkins, A.V. Manohar and M. Trott, Renormalization Group Evolution of the Standard Model Dimension Six Operators II: Yukawa Dependence, JHEP 01 (2014) 035
 [arXiv:1310.4838] [INSPIRE].
- [31] R. Alonso, E.E. Jenkins, A.V. Manohar and M. Trott, Renormalization Group Evolution of the Standard Model Dimension Six Operators III: Gauge Coupling Dependence and Phenomenology, JHEP 04 (2014) 159 [arXiv:1312.2014] [INSPIRE].
- [32] C. Grojean, E.E. Jenkins, A.V. Manohar and M. Trott, Renormalization Group Scaling of Higgs Operators and $\Gamma(h \to \gamma\gamma)$, JHEP **04** (2013) 016 [arXiv:1301.2588] [INSPIRE].
- [33] J. Elias-Miró, J.R. Espinosa, E. Masso and A. Pomarol, Renormalization of dimension-six operators relevant for the Higgs decays $h \to \gamma\gamma, \gamma Z$, JHEP **08** (2013) 033 [arXiv:1302.5661] [INSPIRE].

- [34] J. Elias-Miró, J.R. Espinosa, E. Masso and A. Pomarol, Higgs windows to new physics through D = 6 operators: constraints and one-loop anomalous dimensions, JHEP 11 (2013) 066 [arXiv:1308.1879] [INSPIRE].
- [35] J. Elias-Miró, C. Grojean, R.S. Gupta and D. Marzocca, *Scaling and tuning of EW and Higgs observables*, *JHEP* **05** (2014) 019 [arXiv:1312.2928] [INSPIRE].
- [36] M.E. Peskin and D.V. Schroeder, An Introduction to quantum field theory, Addison-Wesley (1995), [INSPIRE].
- [37] M.S. Bilenky and A. Santamaria, One loop effective Lagrangian for a standard model with a heavy charged scalar singlet, Nucl. Phys. B 420 (1994) 47 [hep-ph/9310302] [INSPIRE].
- [38] E. Witten, Heavy Quark Contributions to Deep Inelastic Scattering, Nucl. Phys. B 104 (1976) 445 [INSPIRE].
- [39] E. Witten, Short Distance Analysis of Weak Interactions, Nucl. Phys. B 122 (1977) 109 [INSPIRE].
- [40] Z.U. Khandker, D. Li and W. Skiba, Electroweak Corrections from Triplet Scalars, Phys. Rev. D 86 (2012) 015006 [arXiv:1201.4383] [INSPIRE].
- [41] W. Skiba, Effective Field Theory and Precision Electroweak Measurements, in Physics of the large and the small, TASI 09, proceedings of the Theoretical Advanced Study Institute in Elementary Particle Physics, Boulder, Colorado, U.S.A., 1-26 June 2009, (2011), pp. 5–70, [arXiv:1006.2142] [INSPIRE].
- [42] H. Neufeld, J. Gasser and G. Ecker, The one loop functional as a Berezinian, Phys. Lett. B 438 (1998) 106 [hep-ph/9806436] [INSPIRE].